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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

Executive Committee 
Jenalee Dawson, 
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Catherine Moy, 
Vice President 
Alma Hernandez 
Doriss Panduro 

Executive Committee Meeting Agenda 
Monday, January 12, 2026 
4:00PM  

Location: FSSD Board Room, 1010 Chadbourne Road, Fairfield, CA 

1. CALL TO ORDER
2. ROLL CALL
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Members of the public wishing to comment on any item not on the agenda, but
within the Board’s jurisdiction, should notify the Board at this time. Those
wishing to comment on any item on the agenda should do so at the time the item
is considered. Comments may be limited to three (3) minutes, or at the
discretion of the President.

4. GENERAL MANAGER REPORT

5. PRESENTATIONS AND AWARDS – None

6. DISCUSSION ITEMS Page 
6.1 Receive the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and Popular Annual

Financial Report for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025  ................................ 3 
6.2 Adopt Resolution No. 2026-XX, Re-Adopting Policy 2150, Financial 

Reserves ................................................................................................... 120 
6.3 Receive Annual Report in Accordance with Policy 1055, Legislative and 

Regulatory Advocacy Policy ...................................................................... 125 
6.4 Designate “Responsible Person” for Form 1095-C Filings ........................ 128 
6.5 Authorize General Manager/District Engineer to Execute an Improvement 

Agreement for the Solano County Downtown Fairfield Justice Campus Asset 
Protection Project – Offsite Sanitary Sewer Improvements ....................... 130 

6.6 Authorize General Manager/District Engineer to Execute a Right of Entry 
Agreement with City of Fairfield for the Lopes Road Lift Station 
Improvements Project ............................................................................... 135 

6.7 Authorize Execution of a Cost-Sharing Agreement with the City of Fairfield 
and the City of Suisun City for the Collection System Master Plan ........... 138 

6.8 Authorize General Manager to Execute Reimbursement Agreement with 
California Forever LLC to Review the Suisun Expansion Project .............. 169 

6.9  Presentation on FSSD Internship Program ............................................... 172 

http://www.fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov/


Executive Committee Meeting Agenda 
January 12, 2026 
Page 2 of 2 

The Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District will provide reasonable disability-related modification or accommodation to a 
person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order to participate in the meeting of 
the Board of Directors. Please contact the District at (707) 429-8930 at least 48 hours before the meeting if you 
require such modification or accommodation. 

Documents that are disclosable public records required to be made available under California Government Code 
Section 54957.5 (b)(1) and (2) are available to the public for inspection at no charge during business hours at 
our administrative offices located at the above address.  

7. NEW BUSINESS
7.1  Approve January 26, 2026 Board of Directors Meeting Agenda ................ 173 

8. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS
8.1 Monthly Operating Data Summary ............................................................ 175 
8.2 Connection Fee Chart ............................................................................... 176 
8.3 Draft Board Meeting Minutes of November 24, 2025 ................................ 177 
8.4 Board Calendar ......................................................................................... 180 

9. CLOSED SESSION
9.1 Gov. Code Section 54957: Public Employee Performance Evaluation;

Title: General Manager 

—End of Agenda— 
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

January 12, 2026 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO:   Executive Committee 

FROM: James Russell-Field, Director of Administrative Services 

SUBJECT:  Receive the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and Popular Annual 
Financial Report for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Recommendation: Receive the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and Popular 
Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025. 

Background: The District engaged the services of Davis Farr, LLP (Davis Farr) to 
perform an independent audit of the District’s basic financial statements for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2025. The publication of the Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report (ACFR) includes the results of the independent audit as well as the basic 
financial statements and supporting information. 

Discussion: On November 25, 2025, Davis Farr completed the independent audit of 
the District’s basic financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 and 
issued an “unmodified opinion.” An “unmodified opinion” is the most favorable type of 
opinion available and means that the District’s financial statements were fairly 
presented in all material respect in accordance with the generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP), as established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB). 

Pages 1-3 of the ACFR contain Davis Farr’s report on the basic financial statements. 
Pages 76-77 contain Davis Farr’s report on the District’s internal controls over financial 
reporting, compliance, and other matters based on the audit of the financial statements. 

The District’s financial statements are presented on pages 14-17 of the ACFR. Financial 
statement users frequently refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 4-
12, and the Statistical Section on pages 56-74, to enhance their understanding and 
interpretation of the financial statements. 

This is also the first year the District has prepared a Popular Annual Financial Report 
(PAFR), which is included as the second attachment. The information from the PAFR is 
derived from the ACFR. The PAFR is promoted by the Government Finance Officer  

Item No. 6.1 
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Association to encourage agencies to extract information from their ACFRs and produce  
a user-friendly version specifically designed to be readily accessible and easily 
understandable to the general public and other interested parties without a background 
in public finance. 
 
Fiscal Impact: None. 
 
 
Attachments: 1 – Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 

30, 2025 
2 – Popular Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
2025 
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Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District protects public health and the environment for the 
communities we serve in an efficient, responsible and sustainable manner. 
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The Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
owns and operates a system of 
sanitary sewers and pumping 
stations, used to oversee wastewater 
collection and treatment. The photo 
on the right shows two Intermediate 
Clarifiers, which slows down the flow 
to settle out any dead or sloughed off 
zoogleal mass from the Oxidation 
Towers. After the solids are gathered 
and removed, they are pumped into 
the Gravity Belt Thickener.   
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Introductory SecƟon 
Letter of Transmittal 

November 25, 2025 

Board of Directors and Residents 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
Fairfield, California 

Subject: Letter of Transmittal 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

It is a pleasure to submit the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District’s (District) Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2025. 
Responsibility for the accuracy, completeness and fairness of the data presented, 
including all disclosures, rests with the District.  To the best of our knowledge and belief, 
the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner 
designed to fairly present the financial position and results of the District. Included are all 
disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain a full understanding of the District’s 
financial activities. 

The ACFR is presented in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP) established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). GAAP 
requires management to provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis, in the 
form of a Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MDA), to accompany the basic 
financial statements.  This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MDA and 
should be read in conjunction with it. The District’s MDA can be found immediately 
following the independent auditor’s report in the financial section. 

The Reporting Entity 

The Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (District) is a special district which serves all territory 
within the cities of Fairfield and Suisun City and portions of unincorporated Solano County. 
It was formed by an act of the California State Legislature on May 5, 1951 (the “enabling 
act”). The enabling act defined the District’s boundaries as the boundaries of the cities.  
Any territory annexed to either city is also annexed to the District, and in general, no 
property can be served by the District if it is not in either city. 

In September of 2002, the District’s enabling act language was amended, under AB776, 
to authorize the acceptance of sewage emanating from buildings that lie outside the 
District’s boundaries for developed parcels that were connected to the District’s sewage 
treatment system before March 1, 2002.  The District’s change in enabling act language 
also allows for a contract with Solano County, or other public entities, for the disposal of 
sewage emanating from buildings outside the District’s service area, if the District 
determines that the contract furthers the protection of public health and safety and is in 
the best interest of the District. 
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In April 2019, the District’s enabling act language was amended, under AB530, to 
authorize the acceptance and disposal of sewage emanating from any building within the 
Middle Green Valley Specific Plan area, upon request of the landowner. Middle Green 
Valley is an unincorporated area in Solano County north of the City of Fairfield and outside 
the city’s sphere of influence. Solano County has adopted a Specific Plan for Middle 
Green Valley, which calls for development of about 400 homes and associated 
commercial and public facilities. 

The District has broad powers to finance, construct, and operate systems for the 
treatment, collection and disposal of sewage, stormwater, and recycled water systems 
within the District’s jurisdiction. Its ten-member Board of Directors consists of members 
of the two cities’ city councils. The Board president is elected by the Board from among 
its members. The District’s day-to-day operations are managed by the General Manager, 
who reports directly to the Board of Directors. 

Factors Affecting Financial Condition 

Local Economic Condition and Outlook 

The District is headquartered in Fairfield, a city in Solano County, California. Fairfield and 
Suisun City are located along Interstate 80, midway between San Francisco and 
Sacramento, the state capital. The cities lie in a large valley surrounded by rolling hills 
and adjacent to the Suisun Marsh, the largest contiguous brackish water wetland in 
California. Fairfield is the Solano County seat and houses most county government 
activities while Suisun City is one of California’s oldest cities.  Suisun City sits 
approximately 15 feet above sea level, and a network of sloughs, navigable by small 
boats, extends from the city to San Francisco Bay.   

The area is noted for its moderate climate.  It is protected from ocean fog by a low range 
of hills and is cooled by prevailing sea breezes during the summer.  Good visibility and a 
climate free from extremes were among the factors that influenced the location of Travis 
Air Force Base in Fairfield. Favorable climate, short drive to major cities, ocean, 
mountains, and affordable housing have been some of the factors in the area’s past 
residential growth. 

Major employers located within the District’s boundaries include Travis Air Force Base, 
County of Solano, Anheuser-Busch Brewery, Jelly Belly, Producers Dairy Foods, North 
Bay Medical Center, Kaiser Permanente, other large manufacturers and industries, and 
shopping districts. The District’s Sewer Service Charges are stable with approximately 80 
percent coming from residential customers who are billed a flat fee on a monthly or bi-
monthly basis. Revenues received from commercial and industrial customers comprise 
the remaining 20 percent of the total Sewer Service Charges. 

The combined population served in the City of Fairfield and City of Suisun City is 149,756 
as of January 1, 2025. The unemployment rate for Fairfield and Suisun City is 5.7 percent 
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as of June 2025. The cities of Fairfield and Suisun City remain an attractive option for 
housing, as prices tend to be lower than other San Francisco Bay Area locations. 

Sewer Service Charges for residential, commercial and industrial customers increased 
by 4.0 percent in Fiscal Year (FY) 2024-25 under the five-year schedule adopted by the 
Board in March 2022 following a Cost of Service and Rate Study. Fairfield and Suisun 
City project continued residential growth over the next several years, estimating the 
addition of 1,811 single and multi-family homes through FY 2028-29. 

Through disciplined long-term financial planning and reserve policies, the District remains 
fiscally stable and continues to invest proactively in maintaining and upgrading its 
treatment and collection systems to continue to provide essential services to the Fairfield 
and Suisun City communities. 

Budget and Long-Term Financial Planning  

The District is not legally required to adopt a budget or to present budgetary comparison 
information. In its commitment to fiscal responsibility, the District prepares a budget, along 
with a ten-year financial plan, which is approved and adopted by the Board of Directors. 
On May 14, 2025 the Board of Directors adopted the FY 2025-26 Budget and Long-Term 
Financial Plan.  

Major Initiatives 

The District is proactive in planning for major maintenance, replacements, and upgrades, 
as well as researching innovative infrastructure solutions. During FY 2024-25, the District 
progressed work on several significant projects and planning activities, detailed below: 

Suisun Force Main Reliability Project 

The Suisun Force Main Reliability Project is the largest project in the District’s Long-Term 
Financial Plan adopted in May 2025, totaling $53.5 million between FY 2025-26 and FY 
2027-28. The Board of Directors awarded the design contract for the Suisun Force Main 
Reliability Project in September 2023.  

This project involves the design, construction, and inter-agency and community 
coordination of a new major pressurized wastewater pipeline between the Suisun Pump 
Station, in Central Suisun City, and Central Pump Station, in southern Fairfield. This 
critical pipeline will convey raw wastewater away from Suisun City, Travis Air Force Base, 
and parts of the City of Fairfield towards the District’s Treatment Plant. Currently, there is 
a single pipeline that conveys wastewater flows to the Treatment Plant from Suisun Pump 
Station. This pipeline is nearing its expected useful life, and the Suisun Pump Station is 
nearing its hydraulic capacity.  

The project reached 60% design in May 2025. Design of the project is expected to be 
completed in the winter of 2025-2026, with the construction contract expected to be let 
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for bids in the spring of 2026.  Construction will likely take two summer seasons to 
complete. 

Aeration Basin Improvements Project (Phase 1) 

In 2023, the District hired a consultant to help plan wastewater treatment plant upgrades 
to allow the District to comply with a new Nutrient Watershed Permit from the San 
Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board, which requires a 40 percent 
reduction in nitrogen discharged in the District’s effluent by 2035.  That planning work 
resulted in the Aeration Basin Improvement Project, a multi-phase project which will 
modify the District’s secondary treatment process to optimize for nitrogen removal.  The 
District issued a design contract for Phase 1 in May 2024, which was completed in April 
2025. 

The Board of Directors awarded the construction contract in June 2025. Construction is 
anticipated to begin in fall 2025 and be complete in winter 2027-2028. 

Kellogg Resiliency Project 

In 2022 and 2023, the District and Suisun City jointly conducted a community co-design 
process for improvements at the Kellogg Stormwater Pump Station site. The goals of the 
project included improving firefighting access at the City/Marsh interface, reducing flood 
risk to property within Suisun City, and creating stormwater treatment facilities to comply 
with a municipal regional stormwater permit. 

In March 2023, the Board of Directors authorized the General Manager to apply to the 
State Water Resources Control Board to receive a Directed Assistance Grant for the 
Kellogg Resiliency Project. Funds were appropriated in the State of California’s Budget 
Act of 2022. In October 2023, the agreement was issued and executed (Agreement 
#D2201012) in the amount of $8.6 million. The grant is to fund the planning, design, and 
construction of the Kellogg Resiliency Project. 

In January 2025, the Board of Directors concurred with the recommended mitigations and 
the California Environmental Quality Act determination and authorized the General 
Manager to award a construction contract for completion of the project, which was 
awarded in April 2025.  

Due to the State requirements to complete the project by March 2026 and ongoing delays 
due to environmental permitting restrictions and mitigations, the District is working with 
the State on a time extension for the project.  All work to be conducted in the stormwater 
channel will be constructed during a regulated window in fall 2025, with remaining work 
outside of the channel to be completed in winter 2025-2026. 
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Beneficial Baylands 

The District received a $4.1 million grant directly from Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) Water Quality Improvement Funds (WQIF) for the Beneficial Baylands project, 
which will be used to further improve nitrogen treatment at the District’s wastewater 
treatment plant for regulatory compliance, and a portion will be subawarded to the San 
Francisco Estuary Institute (SFEI) to further support the development of nature-based 
resilience and treatment solutions across the Bay Area. The District anticipates that 
approximately $1.7 million of the funding will be used to offset costs of the Aeration Basin 
Improvements Project. 

Biogas Utilization Master Plan and Bioenergy Generation Project 

In March 2021, District staff presented the results of a Biogas Utilization Master Plan to 
the Board of Directors. The Master Plan resulted from a study investigating the potential 
production and uses of biogas that could be built into the District's future capital 
investments. The Master Plan concluded that the most economically beneficial path 
forward for the District was to produce electricity using a new cogeneration engine and 
establish an interconnection with PG&E that allows the District to export excess power to 
the grid of offset electricity purchases at other times. 

The Board of Directors awarded the Bioenergy Generation Project in May 2022. The 
recommended project includes installing a 1,100 kilowatt cogeneration engine and 
associated systems, auxiliary heat recovery and wasting equipment, biogas conditioning 
systems to protect the engine and meet air quality requirements, and related work, 
including demolishing existing equipment. The new cogeneration engine will be capable 
of producing up to 65 percent of the wastewater treatment plant's electrical power, 
offsetting electrical power otherwise purchased from PG&E.  

The Bioenergy Generation Project is one of the District’s largest Capital Improvement 
Program projects. The District anticipates completion in spring 2026, with some 
uncertainty relating to the timing of final inspection and approval by PG&E. 

Electrical Replacement Project Phase 2 

The District’s collection system and treatment plant rely on a complex network of electrical 
power distribution gear to provide utility and standby electrical power to essential 
conveyance and treatment equipment.  Much of this electrical gear is original, installed 
during the 1970s and 1980s.  Through routine inspection and maintenance activities, 
District staff identified several Motor Control Centers (MCCs) and associated electrical 
components at District facilities that showed signs of physical damage (corrosion, heat 
damage, spliced cables, etc.) or for which spare parts are no longer commercially 
available.  

District staff are currently working on Phase 2 of the Electrical Replacement project, which 
includes the replacement of a critical electrical substation at the treatment plant and 
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adding a standby electrical generator at the District’s largest wastewater pump station. In 
October 2022, the Board authorized District staff to proceed with the pre-purchase of a 
prefabricated electrical equipment building and related electrical equipment for the 
wastewater treatment plant and the pre-purchase of a new standby power system and 
related electrical equipment for the Suisun Pump Station to proactively address long 
equipment lead times and prevent supply chain delays. The pre-purchased equipment 
was manufactured and delivered to the District in March and April 2025.  Meanwhile, the 
District continues to develop a design to install, connect, and commission all of the new 
electrical gear.  The construction contract for the Electrical Replacement Project Phase 2 
is anticipated to be let for bids in the spring of 2026. 

Collection System Master Plan and Collection System Asset Management Plan 

The District last updated its Collection System Master Plan (CSMP) in 2020. The City of 
Fairfield adopted its “Fairfield Forward 2050” General Plan in late 2024 and the City of 
Suisun City adopted updates to its General Plan Housing Element in 2023. These 
updated planning documents indicate increased growth projections compared to the 
assumptions used in the 2020 CSMP, and additional collection system capacity upgrades 
may be required to support the increased growth. 

In 2022, the District, in partnership with the Cities of Fairfield and Suisun City, completed 
a Collection System Asset Management Plan (CSAMP). This plan utilized condition 
assessment data to evaluate long-term rehabilitation and replacement (R&R) needs for 
collection system assets owned by all three agencies, and resulted in updates to the 1965 
Agreement between the District and Cities to fund recommended R&R. The District is 
responsible for updating the CSAMP to recalculate collection system R&R funding needs 
based on updated collection system inspection data and to adjust Sewer Service Charges 
as needed to support proper maintenance, rehabilitation, replacement and reserve fund 
balance by September 30, 2026. 

As a result of the timing for updating the CSAMP, and changes in growth projections that 
would affect the original CSMP from 2020, the District issued a Request for Proposals for 
a combined CSMP/CSAMP study in May 2025. The combined study will merge elements 
of both studies into a single planning effort for the District and Cities to develop a 
coordinated collection system Capital Improvement Plan. 

The Board of Directors awarded the contract for the CSMP/CSAMP study in July 2025. 

 

Internal Control Structure 

The District’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls. The objectives of internal controls are to provide 
management with reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding 1) the safeguarding 
of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and 2) the reliability of 
financial records for preparing financial statements and maintaining accountability for 
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assets. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: 1) the cost of a control 
should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived, and 2) the evaluation of costs and 
benefits requires estimates and judgments by management. 

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. Management believes 
that the District’s internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide 
reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions. 

 

Independent Audit 

California state statutes and bond covenants require an annual independent audit of the 
books of accounts and financial records of the District. Davis Farr LLP was contracted to 
conduct this year’s audit. Their unmodified opinion is included in the Financial Section of 
this report. 

Awards and Recognition 

The District is the recipient of numerous awards of excellence at the local, state, and 
national level for maintaining an efficient, well-run treatment plant. These awards are 
received from the California Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA), the California 
Water Environment Association (CWEA) and its local chapter, the national Water 
Environment Federation, and the National Association of Clean Water Agencies 
(NACWA). Awards regularly received are Plant of the Year, Collection System of the Year, 
awards for safety, Excellence in Management Recognition, and awards for individual 
project and personnel achievements. The District recently received the NACWA Platinum 
Award for eleven continuous years of zero discharge permit violations, the Distinguished 
Budget Presentation Award from the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) 
for the FY 2025-26 Budget and Long-Term Financial Plan, and the CASA Excellence in 
Public Outreach/Education award which highlighted the Fairfield-Suisun Water Resilience 
Program which impacted five local schools and over 300 students. 

GFOA awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the 
District its ACFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. This was the District’s 27th 
consecutive year receiving the prestigious national award, receiving the first award for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 1998. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a 
government unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized ACFR. This 
report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal 
requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. Staff 
believes the current ACFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s 
requirements and will submit the current year report to GFOA.  
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Receiving Waters 
Suisun Marsh and Duck Clubs 

As part of the District’s mission to 
safeguard public health, we take action 
to protect the environmentally sensitive 
Suisun Marsh. The Marsh is the nation’s 
largest brackish water marsh and the 
largest wetland on the Pacific Coast. 
The District’s advanced treatment 
technology ensures our final effluent 
water, which is discharged into the 
marsh, meets stringent water quality 
standards set by Federal, State, and 
Regional agencies.
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 Independent Auditor’s Report 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the Board of Directors 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
Fairfield, California 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial statements of Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (District), as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the District basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents.  

 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the District, as of June 30, 2025, and the changes in financial position 
and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained 
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As described further in Note 8 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 
2025, the District implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
Statement No. 101. As a result, the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2025 
reflect a prior period restatement as described further in Note 15 to the financial statements. 
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about District’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements 
are issued. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 

audit.
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, 
no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain 
internal control–related matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis, pension and other post-employment benefit schedules 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to 
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about 
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
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management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do 
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report. The other information comprises the introductory section and statistical 
section but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our 
opinions on the financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not 
express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether 
a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial statements, 
or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information 
exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
November 25, 2025 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
 
Irvine, California 
November 25, 2025 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

This section of the District’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents 
management’s discussion and analysis (MDA) of the District’s financial performance 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. Please read it in conjunction with the 
transmittal letter at the front of this report and the District’s financial statements and 
accompanying notes, which follow this section. 

The information in this MDA is presented under the following headings: 

• Overview of the Basic Financial Statements 

• Financial Highlights and Analysis 

• Capital Assets 

• Debt Administration 

• General Enterprise Function 

• Using This Annual Report 

• Request for Information 

Overview of the Basic Financial Statements 

The District’s basic financial statements are comprised of two components: 1) Basic 
financial statements, 2) Notes to basic financial statements. In addition to the basic 
financial statements, the report also contains supplementary required information.  

The financial statements consist of the following: Statement of Net Position, Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, Statement of Cash Flows, and Notes 
to Financial Statements. 

The Statement of Net Position includes all the District’s assets, deferred outflows, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows and provides information about the nature and amount of 
investment in resources (assets) and obligations (liabilities). Over time, increases or 
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position 
of the District is improving or deteriorating. 

All the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. This statement measures the 
success of the District’s operations over the past year and can be used to determine its 
profitability, creditworthiness, and whether the District has successfully recovered all its 
costs through its sewer fees and other charges. 

The final required financial statement is the Statement of Cash Flows. The primary 
purpose of this statement is to provide information about the District’s cash receipts and 
cash payments made during the reporting period.  The statement reports cash receipts, 
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cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations, investing, and capital 
and non-capital investing activities. 

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information that is 
essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the basic financial statements. 

Financial Highlights and Analysis 

Financial Highlights 

This discussion is intended to serve as an introduction to the District’s basic financial 
statements.  As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of 
the District’s financial position. 

• Total assets increased by 2.0% 

• Deferred outflows of resources decreased by 14.1% 

• Total liabilities decreased by 2.8% 

• Deferred inflows of resources decreased by 6.0% 

• Total net position increased by 2.1% 

• Total revenues increased by 9.5%, Sewer Capacity Charges decreased by 
49.3%, and Capital-related grants increased by 71.3%. 

• Total expenses increased by 12.9%. 
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Financial Analysis 

The following is the District’s Condensed Statement of Net Position for fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2025 as compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024:  

 

 Current and other assets increased by $1.6 million, or 2.2 percent. This increase 
was primarily due to a $1.7 million increase in accrued receivables as the result of 
the City of Fairfield’s utility billing schedule, which included a billing as of June 30, 
2025, offset by a decrease in Cash and Investments, primarily related to the City 
of Fairfield’s drawdown of their Collection System Repair and Rehabilitation 
Reserve held by the District. 

 Capital assets increased by $1.7 million, or 1.9 percent, primarily due to a $5.7 
million increase in Construction in Progress from the Electrical Replacement 
Phase II, Suisun Force Main Reliability, and Kellogg Resiliency projects, offset by 
a $4.3 million increase in accumulated depreciation and amortization.  

 Deferred outflows of resources represent transactions related to GASB No. 68 
(pension) and No. 75 (OPEB) and are adjusted each year based on actuarial 
assumptions. The decrease in deferred outflows of resources of 14.1 percent 
consisted of an increase of $1.1 million related to the OPEB plan and a decrease 
of $2.3 million related to the pension plan. 
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 Current and other liabilities decreased by $0.7 million, or 7.5 percent, primarily due 
to a $0.5 million decrease in accrued expenses related to year-end accounts 
payable. 

 Deferred inflows of resources represent transactions related to GASB No. 68 
(pension), GASB No. 75 (OPEB) and GASB No. 87 (leases). The 6.0 percent 
decrease in deferred inflows of resources consisted of decreases of $0.1 million 
related to pension and a combined $0.1 million related to OPEB and leases. 

 Restricted net position represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used.   

o Restricted for capital projects, which represent a cumulative unspent portion 
of Sewer Capacity Charges, increased by $1.7 million, or 9.6 percent, due 
to continued one-time connections to the sewer resulting from growth in 
each City. The District’s Long-Term Financial Plan has identified several 
projects that will utilize these funds. 

o Restricted for debt service represents SRF debt covenant requirements, 
which the District is required to maintain through the life of the debt.  

o Restricted for major maintenance is reserved for future plant upgrades and 
replacement as a condition of the original grant received from the 
Environmental Protection Agency. The amount set aside as Major 
Maintenance and Capital Improvement Project Reserve each year is based 
on the total major maintenance and Capital Improvement Program projects 
identified in the District’s asset management program, updated annually as 
part of its budget and long-range planning process.  

o Restricted for City collection system reserves are funds reserved in 
accordance with the Seventh Amendment to the 1965 Agreement with the 
Cities of Fairfield and Suisun City and represent funds available to the cities 
for collection system repair and rehabilitation. 

 Unrestricted net position may be used to meet the District’s ongoing obligations to 
ratepayers and creditors. The unrestricted net position includes an amount 
designated as an operating reserve equivalent to three months of operating 
expenses as identified in the District’s Budget and Long-Term Financial Plan. 
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The following is the District’s Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 as compared to the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2024: 

 

Analysis of the Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
position for fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2024 is shown on the following page: 

Dollar Percent

Increase Increase

($000) 2025 2024 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Revenues:

Sewer service charges 37,170$     33,873$      3,297$    9.7%
Drainage fees 1,640          1,631           9              0.6%
Interest income 2,647          1,914           733          38.3%
Other 2,486          2,699           (213)        -7.9%

Total revenues 43,943        40,117        3,826      9.5%
Expenses: 

Personnel ¹ 16,888        17,269        (381)        -2.2%
Utilities and chemicals 3,940          4,382           (442)        -10.1%
Services, operations and maintenance 8,473          6,711           1,762      26.3%
Sewer line maintenance 8,892          4,625           4,267      92.3%
Billing and collection 801             775              26            3.4%
Interest expense 208             230              (22)           -9.6%
Depreciation and amortization 4,370          4,611           (241)        -5.2%

Total expenses 43,572        38,603        4,969      12.9%
Income (loss) before capital contributions 371             1,514           (1,143)     -75.5%
Add: Sewer capacity charges 2,442          4,818           (2,376)     -49.3%
Add: Capital related grants 1,281          748              533          71.3%

Change in net position 4,094          7,080           (2,986)     -42.2%
Net position - beginning of period (as restated) 140,283     134,327      5,956      4.4%

Net position - end of period 144,377$   141,407$    2,970$    2.1%

(1) Personnel expenses include actuarially determined pension and other post employment benefit expenses in accordance
with GASB No. 68 and No. 75.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
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 Total revenues for fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 increased by $3.8 million, or 
9.5 percent primarily due to higher Sewer Service Charges. Of the $3.3 million 
increase in Sewer Service Charges, approximately $1.7 million resulted from the 
City of Fairfield’s billing cycle. The last billing cycle in June 2025 ended on a 
Monday, while the prior year’s billing cycle ended on a Sunday, resulting in a timing 
difference in Sewer Service Charge revenue. The remaining increase is primarily 
due a 5.0 percent rate increase to Sewer Service Charges for all customer classes 
effective July 1, 2024 in accordance with the District’s Proposition 218 Notice.  

 Capital related grants increased by $0.5 million due an increase in reimbursement 
activity from the State Water Resources Control Board Grant for the Kellogg 
Resiliency Project. 

 Sewer Capacity Charges decreased by $2.4 million, or 49.3 percent, primarily due 
to non-recurring Sewer Capacity Charge receipts received from the City of Fairfield 
for the One Lake neighborhood and the Parkside Flats and Fair Haven Common 
Apartment projects, and from the City of Suisun City for the Blossoms Apartment 
project.  

 Total expenses increased by $5.0 million, or 12.9 percent, due to changes in the 
following expense categories: 

o Personnel expenses decreased $0.4 million, or 2.2 percent. Increases to 
personnel expenses included $0.4 million from a cost of living adjustment 
and the addition of two employees hired during FY 2024-25, an increase in 
$0.3 million in accrued benefits due to the implementation of GASB No. 101, 
Compensated Absences, a $0.3 million increase in GASB No. 68 (pension) 
and GASB No. 75 (OPEB) adjustments, offset by a net decrease of $1.5 
million due to non-recurring discretionary payments to reduce pension and 
OPEB liabilities in the prior fiscal year. 

o Services, operations, and maintenance increased by $1.8 million, or 26.3 
percent, primarily due to increases of $0.7 million in non-capitalized Capital 
Improvement Program projects for the Pavement Rehabilitation, 
Cordelia/Lopes Capacity Expansion Feasibility, Solano Bayshore 
Resiliency, and Beneficial Baylands Projects, $0.6 million in Major 
Maintenance work for pump replacements, rebuilds, and overhauls, $0.1 
million in insurance premiums, and $0.1 million in Other Contract Services 
for Low Impact Development Monitoring for the Solano Stormwater 
Alliance.  
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o Sewer line maintenance includes funds passed through the District to the 
Cities of Fairfield and Suisun City for operation and maintenance of sewer 
lines smaller than 12” in diameter (local sewer) as well as collection system 
repair and rehabilitation. The funding mechanisms and responsibilities of 
each City and the District are specified by an agreement. The increase of 
$4.3 million, or 92.3 percent, is due to a $4.2 million increase in the City of 
Fairfield’s appropriation from their District-held Collection System Repair 
and Rehabilitation Reserves, which was requested during the FY 2024-25 
budget process. 

o Utilities and chemicals expenses decreased $0.4 million, or 10.1 percent, 
due to higher FY 2023-24 year-end accruals related to electricity compared 
to FY 2024-25. 

o Billing and collection expenses increased $26,000, or 3.4 percent, which is 
consistent with an annual Consumer Price Index increase as required by 
agreement, and customer growth in the cities of Fairfield and Suisun City.  

o Interest expense decreased $22,000 or 9.6 percent, due to continued debt 
service payments for SRF loans related to the Ultraviolet and Blower 
projects. 

o Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $0.2 million, or 5.2 
percent, primarily due several significant plant assets from the early to mid-
2000s becoming fully depreciated.  
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SOURCES OF ALL REVENUES FOR FISCAL YEARS 2024-25 AND 2023-24  

 ($ million)  

 

 
CLASSIFICATION OF ALL EXPENSES FOR FISCAL YEARS 2024-25 AND 2023-24  

($ million)  
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Capital Assets 

The District’s investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and 
amortization, was $82.1 million as of June 30, 2025.  This investment in capital assets 
includes land and improvements, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, 
vehicles and equipment, trunk lines, pump stations, and treatment plant facilities, and 
intangible right-to-use assets. Additional information on the District’s capital assets can 
be found in Note 7, page 34. 
 
Debt Administration 

The District continues to upgrade and improve the quality of its sewage collection and 
treatment systems to keep current with environmental regulations and the needs of its 
service area.  To the extent possible, the District attempts to fund capital projects through 
“pay-as-you-go” financing but pursues low-interest loans or bonds as needed for 
significant projects.  Community growth pays for itself so that, upon built out, major debt 
service burdens will not be shifted to ratepayers.  Reserves are earmarked for future 
major maintenance and capital projects. 

Additional information on the District’s long-term debt can be found in Note 8, pages 35-
36. 
 
General Enterprise Functions 

The District maintains a proactive, entrepreneurial style of organization that encourages 
efficiencies. District ratepayers have for many years enjoyed the lowest Sewer Service 
Charges among surrounding communities, even though the District receives no property 
tax revenues. 

Using This Annual Report 

This section of the annual report consists of two parts: Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis, and Basic Financial Statements.  The Basic Financial Statements also include 
notes that explain in more detail some of the information in the financial statements. 

Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the District’s finances.  
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for 
additional financial information should be addressed to James Russell-Field, Director of 
Administrative Services, at 1010 Chadbourne Road, Fairfield, CA 94534-9700 or visit the 
District’s website at https://www.fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov/contact/ 
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Statement of Net Position 

 
 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. (Continued) 

Assets:
Current assets:
   Unrestricted assets:
      Cash and investments (Note 3) 61,769,042$   
      Accounts receivable, net 8,157,244
      Interest receivable 264,988
      Prepaid items 91,496
      Lease receivable (Note 5) 12,972

         Total Unrestricted assets 70,295,742
   Restricted assets:
      State Revolving Fund reserves (Note 3) 1,070,057

         Total Restricted assets 1,070,057
      Total Current assets 71,365,799

Noncurrent assets:
   Lease receivable (Note 5) 1,436,399
   Capital assets: (Note 7)
      Non-depreciable assets 20,793,904
      Depreciable assets, net of depreciation 70,284,373
      Right of use assets, net of amortization 24,449

         Total Capital assets 91,102,726

      Total Noncurrent assets 92,539,125

Total Assets 163,904,924

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
      Deferred outflows of resources related to Pension Plan (Note 12) 3,237,128
      Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB (Note 13) 4,255,160

      Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 7,492,288
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Liabilities:

   Current liabilities:
      Accounts payable and accrued expenses 5,986,396$      
      Current portion of SRF loan (Note 8) 879,432
      Current portion of compensated absences payable (Note 8) 1,250,924
      Accrued interest payable 71,614
      Current portion of lease liabilities (Note 5) 8,089
      Deposits 59,762

         Total Current liabilities 8,256,217
   Long-term liabilities:
      State Revolving Fund loan (Note 8) 7,496,508
      Compensated absences payable (Note 8) 1,876,388
      Lease liabilities (Note 5) -                        
      Net pension liability (Note 12) 3,178,399
      Net OPEB liability (Note 13) 2,945,127

         Total Long-term liabilities 15,496,422

      Total Liabilities 23,752,639

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
      Deferred inflow related to Pension Plan (Note 12) 600,168
      Deferred inflow related to OPEB (Note 13) 1,438,627
      Deferred inflow related to leases 1,228,931

      Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,267,726

Net Position:
      Net investment in capital assets 82,084,830
   Restricted:(Note 4)
      Restricted for capital projects 19,882,203
      Restricted for debt service 1,070,057
      Restricted for major maintenance 22,849,764
      Restricted for City collection system reserves 2,591,346

         Total Restricted 46,393,370
      Unrestricted: 15,898,647

      Total Net Position 144,376,847$ 
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Statement of Revenues, Exp

 and 
Changes in Net Position 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Operating revenues:
   Sewer service charges  $   37,169,808 
   Drainage maintenance 1,639,636 
   Other sewer service charges 869,694 

      Total Operating revenues: 39,679,138 

Operating expenses:
   Personnel 16,888,271 
   Utilities and chemicals 3,939,923 
   Services, operations, and maintenance 8,472,599 
   City sewer line maintenance 8,892,386 
   Billing and collection 801,342 
   Depreciation and amortization 4,370,208 

      Total Operating expenses: 43,364,729 

Operating income (3,685,591)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
   Interest income 2,600,097 
   Interest income - leases 47,294 
   Net increase in fair value of investments 719,948 
   Interest expense (207,690)
   Interest expense - leases/SBITA (448)
   Grants 442,561 
   Other 453,771 

      Total Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 4,055,533 

Net income before capital contributions 369,942 

Capital contributions:
   Sewer capacity charges 2,442,283 
   Capital related grants 1,281,303 

      Total Capital contributions 3,723,586 

Change in Net Position 4,093,529 

Net position, beginning of year (as previously reported) 141,407,296
Restatement - See Note 15 (1,123,978)
Restated net position beginning of year 140,283,318 
Net position, end of period  $ 144,376,847 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. (Continued) 

Cash flows from operating activities
   Receipts from customers 36,951,350$ 
   Payments to suppliers & vendors (22,672,329)
   Payments for employees salaries & benefits (16,182,172)
   Other receipts 1,767,882
Net cash used by operating activities (135,269)

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
   Acquisition and construction of capital assets (6,078,222)
   Sewer capacity charges 2,442,283
   Interest paid (213,627)
   Principal payment on the SRF loan (857,199)
   Lease and SBITA payments (15,274)
  Capital grant proceeds 1,203,843
Net cash used for capital and related financing activities (3,518,196)

Cash flows from investing activities:
   Interest received on cash and cash equivalents 989,491
Net cash provided by investing activities 989,491

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,663,974)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 24,773,919

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 22,109,945$ 

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents:
   Cash and investments 61,769,042$ 
   Less: investments (39,659,097)
Total cash and cash equivalents 22,109,945$ 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by 
operating activities:
     Operating income (3,685,591)$ 
     Adjustments to reconcile operating income to cash flows 
     from operating activities:
          Depreciation and amortization 4,370,208
          Miscellaneous non operating income 853,209
      Changes in deferred outflows / deferred inflows:
          (Increase) Decrease in deferred outflows - pension 2,310,301
          (Increase) Decrease in deferred outflows - OPEB (1,085,376)
          Increase (Decrease) in deferred inflows - pension (119,382)
          Increase (Decrease) in deferred inflows - OPEB (39,943)
          Increase (Decrease) in deferred inflows - leases (51,206)
      Changes in assets and liabilities:
          (Increase) Decrease in receivables, net (1,727,652)
          (Increase) Decrease in prepaid expense (15,639)
          Increase (Decrease) in payables (680,214)
          Increase (Decrease) in deposits 8,504
          Increase (Decrease) in compensated absences 428,604
          Increase (Decrease) in net pension liability (1,868,202)
          Increase (Decrease) in net OPEB liability 1,167,110
Net cash provided by operating activities (135,269)$    

Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:
     Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments 719,948
     Interest expense net accruals 206,921
     Retainage payable 633,867
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Notes to Financial Statements 

1. Organization 

The Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (District) is a special district consisting of all 
territory within the cities of Fairfield and Suisun City (the Cities).  The District has broad 
powers to finance, construct, operate sewage collection and disposal and reclaimed 
water systems, and maintain storm drainage infrastructure within District jurisdiction. 
The District’s governing board consists entirely of members from the City Councils of 
both cities. 

A. Wastewater 

The District operates a single sewage treatment plant, which was completed in 
1976. It also owns and operates 71 miles of trunk sewers over 10” in diameter and 
14 wastewater pump stations. The day-to-day operations and maintenance of the 
treatment plant and collection systems are performed by District staff. All 
construction management of capital expansion and most major maintenance 
projects are also performed by District staff. 

B. Drainage Maintenance 

Pursuant to an agreement entered into on March 1988 with the Cities, the District 
collects drainage fees to be used as supplemental funding to maintain the regional 
and local drainage facilities within the District’s jurisdiction, including those 
constructed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers as part of the Fairfield Vicinity 
Streams Project. 

Drainage fees, as established by the governing board, are collected on the Solano 
County tax roll pursuant to an agreement with Solano County. Total fees collected 
in fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 were $1.6 million. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The Financial Reporting Entity—The District’s reporting entity includes only financial 
accounts of the District. In accordance with GASB No. 14, The Financial Reporting 
Entity, the District considered all potential component units in determining what 
organizations should be included in the financial statements.  Based on these criteria, 
there are no component units to include in the District’s financial statements. 

Basis of Accounting—The District is accounted for as a single enterprise fund. An 
enterprise fund is a proprietary fund type used to account for operations that are 
financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises. The 
District’s intent is that the costs of providing services to customers on a continuing 
basis be financed or recovered primarily through Sewer Service Charges. 
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The District's financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP). The Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
is responsible for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its 
pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations).   

The District uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under this basis of accounting, 
revenues are recognized when they are earned, and expenses are recognized when 
incurred. Operating revenues and expenses result from the ongoing principal 
operation of the District. Operating revenues consist primarily of charges for services. 
Non-operating revenues and expenses are related to financing and investing type 
activities and result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary services. Unbilled 
utility service receivables are recorded at year-end. As required for enterprise funds, 
the District uses a flow of economic resources measurement focus. 

When an expense is incurred for purposes in which both restricted and unrestricted 
net positions are available, it is the District’s policy to first apply unrestricted resources. 

Budget—Although not legally required of enterprise funds, District management takes 
pride in the preparation and Board adoption of an annual Budget and Long-Term 
Financial Plan which includes a ten-year forecast. The information in the Long-Term 
Financial Plan is based on with the District’s Master Plan and the Cities’ growth 
projections. This process has been instrumental in the District’s ability to build 
reserves for future needs and has allowed the District to fund most major expansion 
projects from reserves, and consequently keep debt low.  

Budgetary control is maintained at the department level for administrative and 
operating expenses and at the project level for capital improvements. Significant 
construction projects are individually reviewed by the Board as part of the Budget and 
Long-Term Financial Plan adoption. 

Cash Management—The Director of Administrative Services serves as District 
Treasurer. The Treasurer may issue and administer detailed investment instructions 
that conform to the provisions of the Investment Policy, as reviewed, and adopted 
annually by the Board of Directors. The District’s Investment Policy conforms to the 
California Government Code Section 53601. As of June 30, 2025, all surplus cash 
was invested in the following: 

 State of California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) is a voluntary program 
created by statute; began in 1977 as an investment alternative for California's 
local governments and special districts. 
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 California Asset Management Program (CAMP) is a California Joint Powers 
Authority ("JPA") established in 1989 to provide California public agencies with 
professional investment services. Investments offered through the Cash 
Reserve Portfolio (the “Pool” or the “CAMP Pool”) and CAMP Term are 
permitted for all local agencies under California Government Code Section 
53601(p). CAMP Pool consists of a short-term money market fund rated AAA 
and separately managed portfolios of specific authorized securities (as 
specified in this policy). Camp TERM consists of fixed-rate, fixed-term 
investment options, rated AAA, with maturities ranging from 60 days to one 
year. 

 Savings accounts, checking and money market investment securities.  

In order of priority, the primary objectives of the District’s investment activities are 
safety of principal, liquidity, and return on investment. 

Cash and Investments—Funds are invested in accordance with Section 53601 of 
the Government Code of the State of California and the District’s established 
investment policy. All monies not required for immediate expenses are invested to 
earn maximum yield consistent with safety and liquidity. All investments are kept in the 
custody of the District or a qualified safekeeping institution. A quarterly report is made 
to the Board of Directors showing a description of the investments, maturity date, 
par value, carrying value, fair value, current yield, and estimated annual income. 
Investments are adjusted to fair value when material as required by GASB No. 31, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External 
Investment Pools. 

Under the provisions of the District’s investment policy and in accordance with the 
Government Code of the State of California, the District may invest in the following 
types of investments and may contract for the use of investment services, subject to 
all other provisions of the Investment Policy.: 

 Obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 Federal agency or U.S. government-sponsored enterprise obligations, 

participations, or other instruments. 
 Warrants, treasury notes, or bonds issued by the State of California, or local 

agencies within the State. 
 Bankers acceptances with maturities not to exceed 180 days. 
 Commercial paper of prime quality issued by U.S. corporations. 
 Negotiable certificates of deposit issued by federally or state-chartered banks, 

savings associations, or credit unions. 
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 Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements collateralized by securities 
authorized under California Government Code Section 53601, in accordance 
with the requirements of that section. 

 Medium-term notes issued by U.S. corporations or depository institutions. 
 Mortgage pass-through and asset-backed securities meeting the requirements 

of California Government Code Section 53601 and rated AA or higher. 
 Shares of beneficial interest in diversified management companies (mutual 

funds) investing in securities authorized by California Government Code 
Section 53601. 

 Shares of beneficial interest in money market mutual funds registered under 
the Investment Company Act of 1940. 

 Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) operated by the Treasurer’s Office of the 
State of California. 

 Any other investment security authorized under the provisions of California 
Government Code Section 53601. 

 
Statement of Cash Flows—For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the District 
considers all cash and investments and all cash with fiscal agents with an original 
maturity of three months or less as cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position—The Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position is the operating statement for 
proprietary funds. This statement distinguishes between operating and non-operating 
revenues and expenses and presents a separate subtotal for operating revenues, 
operating expenses, and operating income. Operating revenues and expenses 
generally result from providing services in connection with the District’s principal 
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the District are the charges 
to customers for services. Operating expenses include the cost of providing and 
delivering services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating 
revenues and expenses. 

Statement of Net Position—The Statement of Net Position is designed to display the 
financial position of the District. The District’s net position is classified into three 
categories as follows:  

 Net Investment in Capital Assets – This component of net position consists of 
capital assets, including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or 
other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
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improvement of those assets or related debt are also included in this 
component of net position, as applicable.  

 Restricted – This component of net position consists of constraints placed on 
an asset use through external constraints imposed by creditors (such as 
through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of 
other governments, and reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 
related to those assets. It also pertains to constraints imposed by law or 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  

 Unrestricted – This component of net position consists of the net amount of the 
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of 
resources that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital 
assets or the restricted component of net position.  

Leases—The District is involved in lease-related transactions as both a lessee and 
lessor. 

 Lessee – As a lessee, at the commencement of a lease term, the District 
recognizes a lease liability and a corresponding lease asset for all non-short-
term leases that do not transfer ownership of the underlying asset. The lease 
liability represents the present value of payments expected to be made during 
the lease term, reduced by any lease incentives. The lease asset equals the 
initial lease liability adjusted for payments made to the lessor at or before 
commencement and certain direct costs. 

 Lessor – As a lessor, the District recognizes a lease receivable and a 
corresponding deferred inflow of resources at the commencement of the lease 
term, except for short-term leases, leases that transfer ownership of the 
underlying asset, leases held as investments, and certain regulated leases. 
The underlying leased asset is not derecognized. The lease receivable 
represents the present value of lease payments expected to be received, and 
the deferred inflow of resources includes value of the lease receivable plus any 
lease payments received at or before the commencement of the lease term that 
apply to future periods. 

Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs) —The 
District is involved in SBITA-related transactions as the end user of various software 
systems. At the commencement of the subscription term, when the subscription asset 
is placed into service, the District recognizes a subscription liability and a 
corresponding subscription asset. 

The subscription liability is measured at the present value of payments expected to be 
made during the subscription term, discounted using the interest rate charged by the 
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SBITA vendor or, if not readily determinable, the District’s incremental borrowing rate. 
The subscription asset equals the initial liability amount adjusted for payments made 
to the SBITA vendor before commencement, and capitalizable implementation costs 
less any incentives received by the SBITA vendor at or before the commencement of 
the subscription term. 

The subscription liability is reduced as payments are made and increased for 
amortization of the discount (interest expense). The subscription asset is amortized 
as an outflow of resources over the subscription term. 

Capital Assets—Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. The District capitalizes all assets with a historical cost of at least $10,000 
and a useful life of at least 5 years. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated 
acquisition value at the date of acquisition. The cost of normal maintenance and 
repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend asset lives are 
expensed as incurred. The cost of assets retired or sold, together with the related 
accumulated depreciation, is removed from the accounts and any gain or loss from 
disposition, is credited or charged to revenues.  

Depreciation is recorded on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
assets as follows:  

Category: Years: 
Trunk lines 20 – 40 
Pump stations 20 – 40 
Treatment plant and facilities 20 – 40 
Buildings and improvements 20 – 40 
Vehicles, furnishings and equipment   5 – 10 

 
Depreciation is calculated based on a half-year convention. Regardless of the actual 
acquisition or disposal date, half a year of depreciation will be expensed the year an 
asset is placed in service and half a year of depreciation will be expensed the year the 
asset is disposed of, if not already fully depreciated at disposition. 
 
The District records the value of intangible right-to-use assets based on the underlying 
leased asset in accordance with GASB No. 87, Leases. The District also records the 
value of intangible right-to-use assets based on the underlying SBITA asset in 
accordance with GASB No. 96, SBITAs. The right-to-use intangible asset for both 
leases and SBITA arrangements is amortized on a straight-line basis for each year for 
the term of the contract. 
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Construction in Progress—The District constructs assets for its own use in plant 
operations. The costs associated with these projects are accumulated in a 
Construction-in-Progress account while the project is being developed. Once the 
project is complete or substantially complete, the entire cost of the constructed asset 
is transferred to a capital assets account and depreciated over the estimated life of 
the asset. 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources—The deferred outflows of resources are 
a separate financial position element that represent a consumption of net assets that 
applies to future periods. This fiscal year’s deferred outflows represent the pension 
and Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) expenses and changes to net pension 
and net OPEB liabilities. 

The deferred inflows of resources are a separate financial position element that 
represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods. This fiscal year’s 
deferred inflows of resources are related to changes in net pension and OPEB 
liabilities, as well as changes in leases. Information related to these changes is found 
in Note 12 for pension liabilities, Note 13 for OPEB liabilities, and Note 5 for leases. 

Pension—For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred 
outflows/inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information 
about the fiduciary net position of the District’s pension plan and additions 
to/deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
basis as they are reported by California Public Employees Retirement System 
(CalPERS). For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when due and payable 
in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

Generally accepted accounting principles require that the reported results must 
pertain to liability and asset information within certain defined timeframes. For the 
report the following timeframes are used: 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 

Valuation date: June 30, 2023 

Measurement date:  June 30, 2024 

Measurement period:  July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024 

Gains and losses related to changes in total pension liability and fiduciary net position 
are recognized in pension expense systematically over time. The first amortized 
amounts are recognized in pension expense for the year the gain or loss occurs. The 
remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 
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resources related to pensions and are to be recognized in the future pension expense. 
The amortization period differs depending on the source of the gain or loss.  

 Difference between projected and actual earnings: Five-year straight-line 
amortization 

 All other amounts: Straight-line amortization over the expected average 
remaining service lifetime of all members provided with pensions (active, 
inactive, and retired), as of the beginning of the measurement period. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)—For purposes of measuring the net 
OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of 
the District's plan (OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan's 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis. For this purpose, 
benefit payments are recognized when currently due and payable in accordance with 
the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

Generally accepted accounting principles require that the reported results must 
pertain to liability and asset information within certain defined timeframes. For the 
report the following timeframes are used: 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 

Valuation date:  June 30, 2024 

Measurement date:  June 30, 2024 

Measurement period:  July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024 

Gains and losses related to changes in total OPEB liability are recognized in OPEB 
expense systematically over time. The first amortized amounts are recognized in 
OPEB expense for the year the gain or loss occurs. The remaining amounts are 
categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
and are to be recognized in future OPEB expense. The amortization period differs 
depending on the source of the gain or loss.  

 Difference between projected and actual earnings: Five-year straight-line 
amortization 

 All other amounts: Straight-line amortization over the expected average 
remaining service lifetime of all members provided with benefits (active, 
inactive, and retired), as of the beginning of the measurement period. 
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Bond Discounts and Issuance Costs— Long-term debt and other long-term 
obligations are reported as liabilities in the statement of net position. Bonds payable 
are reported net of any applicable bond premiums or discounts, which are amortized 
over the term of the related debt using a method that approximates the effective 
interest method. Bond issuance costs, such as underwriter’s fees, legal, and financial 
advisory costs, are recognized as expenses in the period incurred, in accordance with 
GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. Prepaid 
bond insurance, when applicable, is reported as a noncurrent asset and amortized 
over the life of the related debt. 

Compensated Absences— District employees earn vacation, floating holiday, 
personal leave, and sick leave in accordance with District policy and employee 
classification. Vacation, floating holiday, and personal leave may be accrued up to 
established limits and are eligible for payment upon separation. Sick leave may be 
accumulated without limit but is not generally payable at separation except under 
specific conditions, such as retirement, when eligible balances may be converted to 
CalPERS service credit or partially cashed up to a maximum of 60 percent out as 
provided by policy.  

The District accrues a liability for compensated absences which is recognized when 
(a) the benefits are attributable to services already rendered; (b) the benefits 
accumulate; and (c) it is more likely than not that the benefits will be used for time off 
or otherwise paid or settled. The liability is based off of the pay rate at the end of the 
fiscal year and includes salary-related payments that are associated with the leave 
such as the employer’s share of Social Security, Medicare and deferred compensation 
contributions. 

The liability is classified as current and long-term based on estimates of future usage 
and settlement. The District revised its estimate of the proportion of compensated 
absences expected to be used within one year due to the implementation of GASB 
No. 101, Compensated Absences for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025.  

Sewer Capacity Charges—Sewer Capacity Charges are one-time fees charged to 
new or expanded connections to the District’s sewer system designed to help recover 
the costs of infrastructure and assets benefiting new development. Sewer Capacity 
Charges collected through June 30, 2025 are restricted for growth-related or repair 
and rehabilitation projects. 
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Use of Estimates—Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing 
financial statements. Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities, and the 
reported revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Subsequent Events—Management has reviewed subsequent events and 
transactions that occurred after the date of the financial statements through the date 
the financial statements were issued. The financial statements include all events or 
transactions, including estimates, required to be recognized in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles.  

3. Cash and Investments  

A.  Policies 

California Law requires banks and savings and loan institutions to pledge 
government securities with a fair value of 110% of the District’s cash on deposit, 
or first trust deed mortgage notes with a fair value of 150% of the deposit, as 
collateral for these deposits.  Under California Law this collateral is held in a 
separate investment pool by another institution in the District’s name and places 
the District ahead of general creditors of the institution. 

The District invests in individual investments and in investment pools. Individual 
investments are evidenced by specific identifiable securities instruments, or by an 
electronic entry registering the owner in the records of the institution issuing the 
security, called the book entry system. In order to increase security, the District 
employs the Trust Department of a bank as the custodian of certain District-
managed investments, regardless of their form. 

Investments are reported at fair value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External 
Investment Pools, as amended by GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value 
Measurement and Application. The District adjusts the carrying value of its 
investments to reflect fair value at fiscal year-end, and the net increase or decrease 
in fair value is included in income for the fiscal year. 
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B.  Classification 

Cash and investments are classified in the financial statements based on whether 
their use is restricted under the terms of District debt instruments, as shown below: 
 

 

C.  Authorized Investments 

Investments authorized by the California Government Code and the District’s 
Investment Policy for all District investments including debt service reserve are 
seen on the following table: 

  

The District does not enter into range notes, inverse floaters, or mortgage-derived 
interest-only strips. As of June 30, 2025, the District’s investments were in 
compliance with the above provisions. 

 

Cash and investments
Cash and equivalents 22,108,945$ 
Investments 39,659,097    
Petty cash 1,000              

Restricted investments
Held by district 1,070,057      

Total cash and investments 62,839,099$ 

Authorized Investment Type
Maximum 
Maturity

Minimum 
Credit 
Quality

Maximum of 
Percentage 

Portfolio

Maximum 
Investment In 

One Issuer
U.S. Treasury Instruments 5 years N/A None N/A
Federal Agency Issues 5 years N/A None N/A
State of California Obligations 5 years N/A None N/A
Bankers Acceptances 180 days N/A 40% 30%
Commercial Paper 270 days A 25% N/A
Medium Term Corporate Notes 5 years A 30% N/A
Mortgage Pass-Through & Asset-Backed Securities 5 years AA 20% N/A
Repurchase Agreements 1 year N/A 20% N/A
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 92 days N/A 20% N/A
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years A 30% N/A
California Local Agency Investment Fund Upon Demand N/A None N/A

Mutual Funds N/A

Top Ranking 
of 2 NRSRO 

(A) 20% 10%

Money Market Mutual Funds N/A

Top Ranking 
of 2 NRSRO 

(A) 20% N/A

(A) Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization
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D.  Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely 
affect the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an 
investment, the greater its sensitivity to such changes. The District manages 
exposure to interest rate risk in accordance with its Investment Policy and the 
California Government Code, which limit investment maturities to five years or 
less, unless a longer term is specifically authorized by the District’s Board of 
Directors for a designated purpose. 

The District measures and categorizes the fair value of its investments within the 
fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The 
hierarchy is based on the inputs used to measure fair value: 

 Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 
 Level 2 - Significant other observable inputs. 
 Level 3 - Significant unobservable inputs. 

 

Information regarding the sensitivity of the fair values of the District’s investments 
(including those held by trustees) to market interest rate fluctuations is presented 
in the table below. 

 

U.S. Treasury Notes classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued 
using quoted prices in active markets.  Federal Agency Issues, Federal Agency 
Mortgage-Backed Securities, Supranationals, Negotiable Certificates of Deposit, 
Medium-Term Corporate Notes, Asset-Backed Securities, and Municipal 
Obligations classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, are valued using pricing 
techniques of matrix pricing or market corroborated pricing, with inputs such as 

June 30, 2025
Remaining Maturity Distribution

Investment Type Fair Value 0-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years % of Portfolio

U.S. Treasury Instruments $21,646,089 -$                6,703,943$    14,942,146$  36.07%
Federal Agency Issues 382,335        -                  -                  382,335          0.64%
Federal Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities 4,256,614     -                  934,645         3,321,969       7.09%
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 482,261        -                  482,261         -                   0.80%
Medium-Term Corporate Notes 7,571,118     -                  2,262,670      5,308,448       12.61%
Asset-Backed Securities 4,617,364     -                  74,398            4,542,966       7.69%
Municipal Obligations 117,779        59,303            58,476            -                   0.20%
Bank Note 508,360        -                  253,167         255,193          0.85%
CAMP-Money Market 77,177           77,177            -                  -                   0.13%
CAMP Pool 19,984,428   19,984,428    -                  -                   33.30%
Local Agency Investment Funds 375,715        375,715         -                  -                   0.62%

Total Investments $60,019,240 20,496,623$  10,769,560$  28,753,057$  100.00%
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yield curves or indices. These prices are obtained from various pricing sources by 
the custodian bank. The District does not have any Level 3 investments. 

Investment in California Asset Management Program 

The District is a voluntary participant in the California Asset Management Program 
(CAMP), which is a California, Joint Powers Authority established in 1989 to 
provide California public agencies with professional investment services.  The 
CAMP Pool is a permitted investment for all local agencies under California 
Government Code Section 53601(p) and is overseen by a seven-member Board 
of Trustees. 

Investments are stated at fair value. The fair value of the District’s position in the 
pool is the same as the value of the pool shares. The District maintains a separate 
balance and investment income is allocated on a pro rata basis. Because the 
District’s deposits are maintained in a recognized pooled investment fund under 
the care of a third party and the District’s share of the pool does not consist of 
specific, identifiable investment securities owned by the District, no disclosure of 
the individual income, gains, and losses net of administration fees, are allocated 
based upon the participant’s average daily balance. Participants share 
proportionally in any realized gains or losses on investments.  Deposits in CAMP 
are not insured or otherwise guaranteed by the State of California.  The fair value 
of the CAMP investment pools are approximately equal to the value of the pooled 
shares. The income, gains, and losses net of administration fees, are allocated 
based upon the participant’s average daily balance.  

Investment in Local Agency Investment Fund  

The District is a participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF). LAIF is 
regulated by California Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of 
the Treasurer of the State of California. The District reports its investment in LAIF 
at the fair value amount provided by LAIF, which is the same as the value of the 
pool share. Included in LAIF’s investment portfolio are collateralized mortgage 
obligations, mortgage-backed securities, other asset-backed securities, loans to 
certain state funds, and floating rate securities issued by federal agencies, 
government-sponsored enterprises, United States Treasury Notes and Bills, and 
corporations.  

E.  Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the 
holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a 
nationally recognized statistical rating organization. It is the District’s policy to limit its 
investments in these investment types to the top rating issued by the nationally 
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recognized statistical rating organization. The table below shows the District’s 
investments and their related credit rating.  

 

F.  Concentration of Credit Risk 

Concentration of credit risk can arise in the wake of a failure to adequately diversify 
investments. GASB No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures, requires 
disclosure of concentrations of investments greater than 5 percent in any one 
issuer (other than U.S. Treasury securities, mutual funds, and external investment 
pool). The District investments requiring disclosure for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2025 are as follows:  

Issuer Investment Type Fair Value Percent 

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp Note $3,970,067 7%  
 

4. Restricted Net Position 

Restricted net position at June 30, 2025 consists of the following: 
 

 
 
The restriction for capital projects is the unspent portion of Sewer Capacity Charges. 
Sewer Capacity Charges collected through June 30, 2025 are restricted for growth-
related or repair and rehabilitation projects. 

The debt service restriction is the maximum annual debt service on the State 
Revolving Fund loans, as required by the bond indenture.  

Rating as of June 30, 2025
Investment Type  Fair Value AAA AA A BBB1

AAAm Not Rated

U.S. Treasury Instruments $21,646,089 -$                $21,646,089 -$                -$               -$                 -$               
Federal Agency Issues 382,335        -                  382,335         -                   -                 -                   -                 
Federal Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities 4,256,614     -                  4,256,614      -                   -                 -                   -                 
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 482,261        -                  -                  482,261          -                 -                   -                 
Medium-Term Corporate Notes 7,571,118     55,923            1,438,488      5,627,202       449,505        -                   -                 
Asset-Backed Securities 4,617,364     3,523,375      -                  -                   -                 -                   1,093,989     
Municipal Obligations 117,779        -                  59,303            -                   -                 -                   58,476          
Bank Note 508,360        -                  -                  508,360          -                 -                   -                 
CAMP-Money Market 77,177           -                  -                  -                   -                 77,177            -                 
CAMP Pool 19,984,428   -                  -                  -                   -                 19,984,428     -                 
Local Agency Investment Funds 375,715        -                  -                  -                   -                 -                   375,715        

Total Investments $60,019,240 3,579,298$    $27,782,829 6,617,823$    449,505$      20,061,605$  1,528,180$   

1 Ratings by S&P. American Express, Citigroup Inc., and Goldman Sachs Group Inc. are rated BBB+ by S&P and are A-rated or better by Moody's and/or Fitch.

Restricted for capital projects 19,882,203$ 

Restricted for debt service 1,070,057     

Restricted for major maintenance 22,849,764   

Restricted for City Collection System Reserves 2,591,346     

46,393,370$ 
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As a condition of the original grant to finance the construction of the sewage treatment 
plant, the Environmental Protection Agency requires that wastewater funds be set 
aside for major maintenance. Target levels for District reserves and restricted assets 
are governed by the District’s Financial Reserve policy adopted by the Board of 
Directors on May 23, 2022. 

The restriction for City collection system reserves are funds reserved in accordance 
with the Seventh Amendment to the 1965 Agreement with the Cities of Fairfield and 
Suisun City and represent funds available to the cities for collection system repair and 
rehabilitation. 

5.  Leases 

The District has several leasing arrangements, summarized below: 

Lessee 

The District entered an agreement to lease printer and copier machines for 60 months 
beginning April 2021. The lease terminates April 2026. Under the terms of the lease 
the District pays $911 per month over the life of the agreement. At June 30, 2025, the 
District recognized a right to use asset of $7,564, net of accumulated amortization, 
and a lease liability of $8,089. During the fiscal year, the District recorded $10,078 in 
amortization expense and $448 in interest expense for the right- to-use the copiers. 

 

Remaining obligations associated with these leases are as follows: 

 
 

Lessor 

The District is a lessor for a cell tower lease which is adjusted annually by a flat 
percentage.  

During the fiscal year, the District recognized $10,568 in lease revenue and $47,294 
in interest income related to this lease agreement. At June 30, 2025, the District 
recorded $1.4 million in lease receivables and deferred inflows related to leases of 
$1.2 million. 

Lessee activities
Balance at 

June 30, 2024 Additions Reductions
Balance at 

June 30, 2025
Due Within 
One Year

Lease liability - copiers 18,573$        -$                     (10,484)$                           8,089$           8,089$           

Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30 Principal Interest

2026 8,089$      110$         
8,089$      110$         
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Remaining amounts to be received associated with these leases are as follows: 

 

6.  SBITA Arrangements 

In March 2023, the District entered into a SBITA arrangement for subscriptions related 
to the District’s firewalls, including Threat prevention, URL filtering, WildFire, and 
Global Protect VPN. The arrangement included 3-year (36 month) subscriptions, 
which were paid in advance. 

In April 2024, the District entered into a SBITA arrangement for subscriptions related 
to the District’s SCADA system, including server virtualization software and licenses. 
The arrangement included 3-year (36 month) subscriptions, which were paid in 
advance, resulting in additions to right-of-use assets totaling $13,421, net of 
accumulated amortization. 

At June 30, 2025, the District has recognized a right-to-use asset of $16,885, net of 
accumulated amortization. Because both SBITA arrangement(s) were paid in full in 
advance, no interest expense was incurred for the right to use this software and there 
is no outstanding SBITA liability. 

 

 

 

Leases receivable
Balance at 

June 30, 2024 Additions Reductions
Balance at 

June 30, 2025
Due Within 
One Year

Land leases 1,459,939$   -$                     (10,568)$                           1,449,371$    12,972$         

Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30 Principal Interest

2026 12,972$                             46,915$         
2027 15,527                               46,456           
2028 18,241                               45,911           
2029 21,122                               45,276           
2030 24,178                               44,544           

2031-2035 173,459                             207,955         
2036-2040 281,462                             171,538         
2041-2045 423,028                             114,995         
2046-2050 479,382                             33,922           

1,449,371$                        757,512$       
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7.  Capital Assets 

Changes in capital assets consisted of the following:  

 

 

  

Asset Category
Balance at 

June 30, 2024 Additions

Adjustments/  
Disposals/ 
Reductions Transfers

Balance at 
June 30, 2025

Non-depreciable assets:
Construction in progress 12,314,856$   5,891,266$    -$                   (205,121)$      18,001,001$   
Land and improvements 2,792,903       -                     -                     -                     2,792,903       

Total non-depreciable assets 15,107,759     5,891,266      -                     (205,121)        20,793,904     

Depreciable assets:
Buildings and improvements 14,272,888     -                     -                     -                     14,272,888     
Vehicles and equipment 3,539,808       179,246         (97,140)          205,121         3,827,035       
Trunk lines/ pump station 59,771,852     -                     -                     -                     59,771,852     
Treatment plant 115,125,562   21,015           -                     -                     115,146,577   
Right-of-use assets - leases 50,389            -                     -                     -                     50,389            
Right-of-use assets - SBITA 52,507            -                     -                     -                     52,507            

Total depreciable assets 192,813,006   200,261         (97,140)          205,121         193,121,248   

Less:  Accumulated depreciation
Buildings and improvements (11,096,453)    (205,778)        -                     -                     (11,302,231)    
Vehicles and equipment (2,400,355)      (207,269)        97,140           -                     (2,510,484)      
Trunk lines/pump station (46,997,207)    (1,066,408)     -                     -                     (48,063,615)    
Treatment plant (57,994,475)    (2,863,173)     -                     -                     (60,857,648)    
Right-of-use assets - leases (32,747)           (10,078)          -                     -                     (42,825)           
Right-of-use assets - SBITA (18,120)           (17,502)          -                     -                     (35,622)           

Total accumulated depreciation (118,539,357)  (4,370,208)     97,140           -                     (122,812,425)  

Net capital assets 74,273,649     (4,169,947)     -                     205,121         70,308,823     

Total capital assets 89,381,408$   1,721,319$    -$                   -$                   91,102,727$   
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8.  Long-Term Liabilities 

The following table summarizes changes in long-term liabilities during the year: 

 
 
A. State Revolving Fund Loan 

Ultraviolet Disinfection Project 

On January 20, 2010, the District entered into a loan agreement with the California 
State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) under the Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for the financing of the Ultraviolet 
Disinfection Project. The District was approved for a loan amount of up to 
$11,100,000, with an interest rate at 2.9%, payable over 20 years. Principal and 
interest payments are due semi-annually on May 1 and November 1. Payment on 
this loan started on May 2012. 

Future debt service payments on the SRF loan related to the Ultraviolet 
Disinfection Project as of June 30, 2025 are as follows:                                                                                                                             

 

Blower Replacement Project 

On February 12, 2018, the District entered into a loan agreement with the 
California State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) under the Clean Water 
State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for the financing of the Blower 
Replacement Project. The District was approved for the total project cost of 
$11,608,547; however, only utilized $9,541,456. Out of the total loan amount, 
$4,000,000 was declared a grant under the Environmental Protection Agency’s 

Description June 30, 2024 Additions
Maturities/ 
Reduction June 30, 2025 Current Portion

Long-Term 
Portion

State Revolving Fund Loans (SRF)
     Ultraviolet Project 4,639,045$     -$                    606,873$        4,032,172$     624,601$        3,407,571$     
     Blower Project 4,594,093       -                      250,325          4,343,768       254,831          4,088,937       
Total SRF Loans 9,233,138       -                      857,198          8,375,940       879,432          7,496,508       
Compensated Absences (as restated) 1,574,729       2,919,969       1,367,386       3,127,312       1,250,924       1,876,388       

Total Long-term liabilities 10,807,867$   2,919,969$     2,224,584$     11,503,252$   2,130,356$     9,372,896$     

Year Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total 

2026 624,601$        112,437$ 737,038$    

2027 642,846          94,192     737,038      

2028 661,623          75,415     737,038      

2029 680,949          56,089     737,038      

2030 700,840          36,198     737,038      

2031 721,312          15,726     737,038      

4,032,171$     390,057$ 4,422,228$ 



Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 

 

36 | P a g e  
 

program and was eligible for loan forgiveness. The principal amount due for 
repayment to the SWRCB under this agreement is $4,594,094, with an interest 
rate of 1.8 percent payable over 20 years. Payment on this loan started October 
2020. 

Future debt service payments on the SRF loan related to the Blower Project as of 
June 30, 2025 are as follows: 

 

Both SRF loans are secured by all District operating revenues. As a requirement 
of the SRF loan, a restricted amount equivalent to one year of loan payments is 
held in a restricted account held by the District.  The SRF restricted amount is 
currently $1,070,057.  

9.  Related Party Transactions 

The District had existing financial transactions with the cities of Fairfield and Suisun 
City during FY 2024-25. Sewer line maintenance includes funds passed through the 
District to the Cities of Fairfield and Suisun City for operation and maintenance of 
sewer lines smaller than 12” in diameter (local sewer) as well as collection system 
repair and rehabilitation. Sewer Service Charges and Sewer Capacity Charges are 
collected by the Cities and are remitted to the District, net of billing and collection fees. 
Outstanding receivables include Sewer Capacity Charges collected by the Cities not 
yet remitted to the District and Sewer Service Charges billed by the Cities on the 
District’s behalf as of June 30, 2025. These transactions are shown below: 

     FY 2024-25 
City sewer line maintenance $     8,892,386 
Billing and collection           801,342  
Outstanding accounts receivable        6,128,640  
  

 

Year Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total 

2026 254,831$       78,188$    333,019$    

2027 259,418         73,601      333,019      

2028 264,087         68,932      333,019      

2029 268,841         64,178      333,019      

2030 273,680         59,339      333,019      

2031 - 35 1,444,090      221,002    1,665,092   

2036 - 40 1,578,821      86,271      1,665,092   
4,343,768$    651,511$  4,995,279$ 
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10.  Insurance 

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft, damage, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural 
disasters.  To mitigate these risks the District joined, together with other entities to 
form the California Sanitation Risk Management Authority (CSRMA), a public-entity 
risk pool currently operating as a common risk management and insurance program 
for member entities. The purpose of CSRMA is to spread the adverse effects of losses 
among the member entities and to purchase excess insurance as a group, thereby 
reducing its cost.  The District pays an annual premium to CSRMA for its legal liability, 
property damage, workers compensation insurance, and automobile coverage. 

CSRMA is governed by a Board composed of one representative from each member 
agency. The Board also controls the operations of CSRMA, including the selection of 
management and approval of operating budgets. Each member shares surpluses and 
deficiencies proportionate to its participation in CSRMA. The District has not incurred 
a claim that exceeded its insurance coverage limits in any of the last three years. 

Audited condensed financial information for CSRMA is presented below for the year 
ended June 30, 2024, the most recent information available.  

 

Total assets  $         39,433,497 
Total liabilities  $         27,415,066  
Net Position  $         12,018,431 
Total revenues  $         24,879,936 
Total expenses  $         22,895,588  

 

A copy of CSRMA’s annual financial report may be obtained from their website at 
http://www.csrma.org/docs/CSRMA-Annual-Report.pdf. 

 
  



Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 

 

38 | P a g e  
 

11.  Deferred Compensation 

The District offers its employees two deferred compensation plans created in 
accordance with the Internal Revenue Code Section 457 and 401(a). These plans 
permit a pre-tax deferral of a portion of salary until future years. The deferred 
compensation is generally not available to employees until separation, retirement, 
death, or an unforeseeable emergency. The District contributes a specified amount to 
the 401(a) plan for non-exempt employees, and a specified percentage to the 401(a) 
plan for exempt employees. The District’s contributions to the deferred compensation 
plan was $520,883 for fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. 

The assets and related income of the plans are assets of a trust to which the District 
has no obligation other than to make payments on behalf of its employees.   

12.  Pension Plan 

A. General Information about the Pension Plan 

Plan Description 
All qualified full-time and part-time District employees are eligible to participate in a 
pension plan offered by California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) 
a cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan. CalPERS provides 
retirement, disability, and death benefits to eligible plan members and beneficiaries.  
Benefit provisions under the Plan are established by State statute and District 
resolution.  CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full description of 
the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and membership 
information that can be found on the CalPERS website. 

Benefits Provided  
CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living 
adjustments and death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and 
beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one full year 
of full-time employment. Members with 5 years of service credit are eligible to retire at 
age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for the non-duty 
disability benefits after 10 years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: 
The Basic Death Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W 
Death Benefit. The annual cost of living adjustment is applied as specified by the 
Public Employees Retirement Law.  

The Plan’s provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2025 are summarized on the 
following page: 
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On September 12, 2012, the California Governor signed the California Public 
Employees' Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA) into law. PEPRA took effect on 
January 1, 2013. 

Key components of the legislation are as follows: 

 Establishes PEPRA which will apply to all public employers and public pension 
plans on and after January 1, 2013 (Except specific exemptions); 

 Establishes new retirement tiers/benefits for new public employees; 

 Prohibits certain cash payments from being counted as compensation; and 

 Increases retirement age for all new public employees. 
 

Employees hired on or after January 1, 2013, without prior CalPERS credited service 
will fall under the PEPRA as noted in the above table.  

CalPERS determines contribution requirements using a modification of the Entry Age 
Normal Method. Under this method, the District’s total normal benefit cost for each 
employee from date of hire to date of retirement is expressed as a level percentage 
of the related total payroll cost.  Normal benefit cost under this method is the level 
amount the employer must pay annually to fund an employee’s projected retirement 
benefit. This level percentage of payroll method is used to amortize any unfunded 
actuarial liabilities. The actuarial assumptions used to compute contribution 
requirements are also used to compute the actuarial accrued liability.  

Employees Covered 
As of the June 30, 2024 measurement date, the following employees were covered 
by the benefit terms for each Plan as shown on the following page: 

Miscellaneous
Hired prior to 

January 1, 2013 
Classic 

Hired on or after 
January 1, 2013 

PEPRA
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service 5 years of service

Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life

Retirement age 60 62

Monthly benefits, as a % of annual salary 3% 2%

Required employee contribution rates 8.000% 8.000%

Required employer contribution rates 17.550% 7.750%
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Contributions 
Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (PERL) requires 
that the employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an 
annual basis by the actuary and shall be effective on July 1 following notice of a 
change in the rate. Funding contributions for the Plan is determined annually on an 
actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. The actuarially determined rate is the 
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees 
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
The District is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined 
rate and the contribution rate of employees. The contributions were as follows: 

Miscellaneous 
Fiscal Year 

2024-25 

Employer Contributions $1,659,236 

   
 

B. Pension Assets, Liabilities, Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 

The District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability is $3,178,399 for fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2025. 

The District’s net pension liability (asset) is measured as the total pension liability, less 
the pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The net pension liability (asset) of the Plan 
is measured as of June 30, 2024, using an annual actuarial valuation as of June 30, 
2023, with update procedures used to roll forward the total pension liability to June 30, 
2024. 

The District’s proportion of the net pension liability (asset) was based on a projection 
of the District’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. The 
District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the plan as of June 30, 
2024 and 2023 measurement dates is shown on the following page: 

 

Measurement date as of June 30, 2024
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 47
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 0
Active employees 63

Total 110
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Plan’s Proportionate Share of the Risk Pool Collective Net Pension Liability 
 

 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows Balances  
The District recognized pension expense of $2,028,832 for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2025. 

At June 30, 2025, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources, as shown below:  

 

Fiscal Year 6/30/2024 6/30/2023

Measurement Date 6/30/2024 6/30/2023

Percentage of Plan (PERF C) NPL 0.02621% 0.04045% -0.01424%

Change: 
Increase/ 

(Decrease)

Percentage Share of 
Risk Pool

Plan Total 
Pension Liability

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position

Plan Net Pension 
Liability/(Asset)

(a) (b) (c) = (a) - (b)
Balance at 6/30/23 (MD) 53,134,121$         48,087,520$         5,046,601$          
Balance at 6/30/24 (MD) 57,481,133$         54,302,734$         3,178,399$          
Net changes 4,347,012$          6,215,214$          (1,868,202)$         

Increases (Decreases)

Deferred Outflows/Inflows Balances at June 30, 2025 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources
Changes of assumptions 81,692$                  -$                   
Differences between the expected and actual experience 274,802                  (10,723)         
Net differences between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments 182,977                  -                      
Differences between the employer's contributions and the

employer's proportionate share of contributions 635,471                  (341,559)       

Change in employer proportion 402,951                  (247,886)       
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 1,659,236               -                      
Total 3,237,129$            (600,168)$     
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The District reported $1,659,236 as deferred outflows of resources related to 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date that will be recognized as a 
reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2026.  

Recognition of Deferrals in Future Pension Expense 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows: 

  

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
The total pension liability (asset) for the June 30, 2024 measurement period was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023, with update procedures 
used to roll forward the total pension liability (asset) to June 30, 2024. The collective 
total pension liability (asset) was based on the assumptions listed as shown on the 
following page: 

 

All other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2024 valuation use the results of the 2021 CalPERS 
Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions, including updates to salary increases, mortality, and 
retirement rates, as a basis. 

Long-term Expected Rate of Return  
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account long-
term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. 
Projected returns for all asset classes are estimated and, combined with risk 

Measurement 
Period Ending 

June 30:

Fiscal Year 
Ending               
June 30:

Net Total Deferred 
Outflows/(Inflows) 

of Resources
2025 2026 563,088                   
2026 2027 413,748                   
2027 2028 63,593                     
2028 2029 (62,704)                    
2029 2030 -                              

Thereafter Thereafter -                              

Miscellaneous

Valuation Date: June 30, 2024
Actuarial Cost Method Entry age normal
Discount Rate 6.90%
Inflation 2.30%
Salary Increases Varies by entry age and service

Mortality Rate Table

Derived using CalPERS' Membership Data for all Funds. 
The post-retirement mortality rates include 15 years of 
projected on-going mortality improvement using 80 percent 
of Scale MP published by the Society of Actuaries
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estimates, are used to project compound (geometric) returns over the long term. The 
discount rate used to discount liabilities was informed by the long-term projected 
portfolio return. 
 

  

Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for PERF C was 6.90%. 
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that 
contributions from plan members will be made at the current member contribution 
rates and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily required rates, 
actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position 
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments 
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension 
liability. 

Amortization of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Under GASB No. 68, gains and losses related to changes in total pension liability 
(asset) and fiduciary net position are recognized in pension expense systematically 
over time. The first amortized amounts are recognized in pension expense for the year 
the gain or loss occurs. The remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows 
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and are to be recognized in 
future pension expense. The amortization period differs depending on the source of 
the gain or loss:   
 

 Difference between projected and actual earnings: Five-year straight-line 
amortization 

Global equity - cap-weighted 30.00% 4.54%
Global equity - non-cap-weighted 12.00% 3.84%
Private Equity 13.00% 7.28%
Treasury 5.00% 0.27%
Mortgage-backed Securities 5.00% 0.50%
Investment Grade Corporates 10.00% 1.56%
High Yield 5.00% 2.27%
Emerging Market Debt 5.00% 2.48%
Private Debt 5.00% 3.57%
Real Assets 15.00% 3.21%
Leverage -5.00% -0.59%

Total 100.00%

(2)  Figures are based on the 2021-22 Asset Liability Management study.

(1)  An expected inflation of 2.30% used for this period.

Assumed 
Asset 

Allocation

Real Return 
Years 1 - 10 

(1,2)
Asset Class
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 All other amounts: Straight-line amortization over the expected average 
remaining service lifetime of all members provided with pensions (active, 
inactive, and retired), as of the beginning of the measurement period. 

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to 
Changes in the Discount Rate 
The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset), calculated using the discount rate, as well as what the District’s proportionate 
share of the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the current 
rate: 

 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in 
the separately issued CalPERS financial reports. 

C. Payable to the Pension Plan 

The District has paid the plan required contributions for the FY 2024-25 and has no 
outstanding pension payable. 

13.  Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 

A. General Information about the OPEB Plan 

Plan Description 
The District provides postemployment healthcare benefit for all its retired employees 
and their covered dependents as approved by District Resolution No. 2003-36. The 
California Public Employee Retirement System (CalPERS) administers this benefit 
through an agent multiple-employer, defined benefit plan. All District retirees who 
attain age 50 with at least 5 years’ service are eligible for this benefit. Coverage 
discontinues either at the request of the retiree or at the death of those covered.  
CalPERS requires that retirees enroll in Medicare at age 65. Plan benefits were 
established in accordance with Board policy, and authority to amend this benefit rests 
with the District Board.   

 
 

5.90%
(1% Decrease)

6.90%
(Current Rate)

7.90%
(1% Increase)

Measurement Date
Fiscal Year End

Net Pension Liability (asset) 10,934,925$           3,178,399$             (3,206,365)$            
6/30/2025

Discount Rate

6/30/2024
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Benefits Provided 
Section 22892 - Unequal Method 
The District’s contribution for each retired employee plus dependent is equal to 100% 
of their selected plan premium, up to $2,213 per month for 2025. The District 
contribution will continue to increase by the lesser of 5% or $100 each year until it 
equals that of active employees’ premium.   

Eligibility: Employees must retire directly (within 120 days of separation from service) 
from the District with a service or disability annuity and must have been eligible for 
health benefits immediately before retirement. Benefits are provided to surviving 
spouses only if the retiree elected a pension annuity with a survivor benefit. Eligible 
retirees who previously waived PEMHCA benefits can elect coverage during open 
enrollment. 

Section 22893 – State 100/90 Vesting 
A second-tier retiree health benefit was established in November 2012, when District 
Board adopted Resolution No. 2012-19 electing to establish a health benefit vesting 
requirement for future employees pursuant to Government Code Section (GCS) 
22893 of the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act. The effective date of 
this participation is March 1, 2013, and the vesting requirement will be applied to 
employees hired on or after this date.  

Eligibility: To be eligible for the vesting health benefits, an employee must be at least 
50 years old; must complete a minimum of 5 years’ CalPERS-credited service or 
disability annuity with the District; must complete a total of 10 years’ CalPERS-credited 
service to be eligible for 50% benefits, increasing by 5% each year as follows: 

 

Years of CalPERS Service Percentage 
< 10 0% 

10 50% 
11 55% 
↓ ↓ 

≥ 20 or Disability Retirement 100% 

Employees hired prior to the election of GCS 22893 were given a one-time opportunity 
to individually elect to be covered under the provisions of GCS 22893. Twenty-seven 
employees opted in. 

Employees with 20 or more years of service with the District are classified as inactive 
and are entitled to future retiree benefits and can elect retiree health coverage from the 
District at or after retirement, even if they have intervening employment elsewhere. 
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Employees Covered 
At the June 30, 2024 measurement date, the following current and retirees were 
covered by the benefit terms under the District’s retiree health plan: 

  

Contributions 
 

The annual contribution is based on the actuarially determined contribution plus other 
discretionary funding contributions. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, District 
contributions totaled $953,710 compared to the actuarially determined contribution of 
$787,065. 

 

B. Net OPEB Liability 

The District’s net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total 
liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation date as of June 30, 2024.  

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2025 was measured as of June 30, 2024, 
based on June 30, 2024 actuarial valuation and was determined using the actuarial 
methods and assumptions listed on the following page: 

Covered Participants as of June 30, 2024
Active employees 62
Inactive employee or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 37
Inactive employees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 6

Total 105
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The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined 
using a building-block method in which expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of OPEB plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected 
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  

The following is the assumed asset and assumed rate of return for each based on 
CERBT - Strategy 1: 

 

Actuarial Assumptions June 30, 2024 Measurement Date

Actuarial Valuation Date: June 30, 2024
Contribution Policy District contributes full ADC

6.40% at June 30, 2024
6.25% at June 30, 2023
Expected District contributions projected to keep 
sufficient plan assets to pay all benefits from trust

General Inflation 2.30% annually
Mortality, Retirement, 
Disability, Termination

CalPERS 2000-2019 Experience Study 

Mortality Improvement Mortality projected fully generational with Scale MP-2020
Salary Increases Aggregate - 2.80% annually

2021 CalPERS Merit Salary Increases
Medical Trend Non-Medicare - 6.80% for 2024, decreasing to an 

ultimate rate of 4.04% over 51 years
Medicare (Kaiser) - 4.90% for 2024,
decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.04% over 51 years
Medicare (Non-Kaiser) - 4.90% for 2024, decreasing to
an ultimate rate of 4.04% over 51 years

Cap Increases 100/90 Formula Rates - Non-Medicare medical trend
Healthcare Participation 
for Future Retirees

90%

Family Coverage 30% of actives have family coverage to age 65

Discount Rate and Long-
Term Expected Rate of 
Return on Assets

Asset Class Component

Global Equity
Fixed Income
REITS
TIPS
Commodities

Expected Real
Rate of Return

49% 6.90%

Target 
Allocation

4.10%
20% 6.30%
5% 3.90%

23%

4.60%
Assumed Long-Term Rate of Inflation 2.30%
Expected Long-Term Net Rate of Return, Rounded 6.40%

3%
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Discount Rate 

The discount rate to measure the total OPEB liability was 6.40%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that District contributions will 
be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on 
those assumptions, the OPEB plans fiduciary net position was projected to be 
sufficient to fully fund the obligation over a period not to exceed 18 years. Therefore, 
the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB liability. 

Changes in Net OPEB Liability 

The changes in the net OPEB liability for fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 are listed 
below: 

 

Total OPEB 
Liability 

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position

Net OPEB 
Liability

Balance at June 30, 2024                 
(MD 6/30/24)

10,746,374$   8,968,357$      1,778,017$      

Service cost 477,654           -                    477,654           
Interest 683,050           -                    683,050           
Changes of benefit terms -                    -                    -                    
Actual vs. expected experience 2,608,303        -                    2,608,303        
Changes of Assumptions (332,733)          -                    (332,733)          
Employer - District's contributions -                    1,191,486        (1,191,486)       
Employee contributions -                    -                    -                    
Employer - Implicit Subsidy 95,000             (95,000)            
Net Investment Income -                    987,310           (987,310)          
Benefit payments (495,411)          (495,411)          -                    
Implicit Subsidy (95,000)            (95,000)            -                    
Administrative Expenses -                    (4,632)              4,632                
Other Miscellaneous Income/(Expense)
Net changes 2,845,863        1,678,753        1,167,110        
Balance at June 30, 2025
(MD 6/30/24) 13,592,237$   10,647,110$   2,945,127$      
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Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the District’s net OPEB liability if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than 
the current rate, for measurement period ended June 30, 2025: 

 

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend 
Rates 
The following presents the District’s net OPEB liability if it were calculated using a 
health care cost trend rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point 
higher than the current rate, for measurement period ended June 30, 2025: 

 

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Detailed information about the net OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is available in 
the separately issued CalPERS financial reports at: www.calpers.ca.gov. 

Recognition of Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
Gains and losses related to changes in total OPEB liability and fiduciary net position 
are recognized in OPEB expense systematically over time. 

Amounts are first recognized in OPEB expense for the year gain or loss occurs. The 
remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB and are to be recognized in future OPEB expense.  

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, the District recognized OPEB expense of 
$995,501.  

At June 30, 2025, the District reported deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 
resources from the following sources as listed below:  

5.40% 6.40% 7.40%

(1% Decrease ) Current Rate (1% Increase )

Net OPEB Liability 4,675,186$        2,945,127$      1,515,137$      

Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Trend 1% Increase
Net OPEB Liability 1,537,405$        2,945,127$      4,516,677$      

Healthcare Trend Rate
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Recognition of Deferrals in Future OPEB Expense 
The $953,710 reported as deferred outflow of resources related to contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
OPEB liability in the year ended in June 30, 2026. 

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB will be recognized as OPEB expense as listed on the 
following page: 

 
 

No separate postemployment benefit plan report is available. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience  $2,269,562  $    (890,139)
Changes of Assumptions       971,016        (548,488)
Net Difference Between Projected and Actual Earnings 

on Plan Investments          60,872                       - 
Change in employer's proportion                       - 

Contributions Subsequent to the Measurement Date       953,710                       - 
Total  $4,255,160  $(1,438,627)

Fiscal Year Ending 
June 30

Deferred 
Outflows/(Inflows) of 

Resources

2026 376,809$ 
2027 484,208 
2028 33,290 
2029 205,491 

2030 260,623 

Thereafter 502,402 
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14.  Commitments and Contingencies 

As of June 30, 2025, the District has construction commitments from contractual 
agreements as listed below: 

 
 

15.  Restatement 

Related to the implementation of GASB No. 101, Compensated Absences, the 
District restated beginning net position by $1,123,979 as shown below: 

 

 

Contract Remaining
Project Name Agreements Commitment

Bioenergy Generation $12,131,556 $3,304,515 
Electrical Replacement Project Phase II 1,671,603     527,958       
Suisun Force Main Reliability 2,178,400     623,522       
SCADA System Upgrade 319,032        140,304       
A/B Train Aeration Basin Anoxic Zones 14,033,640   13,075,686 
Lopes Lift Station/Force Main Capacity Improvements 297,700        283,563       
Travis/Pennsylvania Sewer Replacement 207,153        49,046         
Roof Rehabilitation 1,050,900     1,083,672    
Kellogg Resiliency Project 4,628,552     3,467,402    
Total of Construction in Progress: $36,518,536 $22,555,668 

Net position - beginning, as previously reported 141,407,297$ 
Less: Restatement for GASB No. 101, Compensated Absences (1,123,979)       
Net position - beginning, as restated 140,283,318$ 
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Required Supplementary InformaƟon 
Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios for the 
Measurement Period Ended June 30, Last Ten Fiscal Years* 

 
 
*GASB No. 75 was implemented in fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Additional years will be added up to 
10 years when information becomes available.  

 
  

For June 30, 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Changes in Total OPEB Liability (MD 6/30/24) (MD 6/30/23) (MD 6/30/22) (MD 6/30/21) (MD 6/30/20) (MD 6/30/19) (MD 6/30/18) (MD 6/30/17)

Service cost 477,654$       464,870$     419,266$     388,905$     516,052$     504,802$     246,354$      239,761$      
Interest in TOL 683,050         648,351       655,018       621,020       677,952       624,067       431,326        392,225        
Actual vs. expected experience 2,608,303      -                (898,809)      (807,314)      -                (205,681)       -                 
Assumption changes (332,733)        -                592,416       290,376       (705,468)      -                2,618,593     -                 
Benefit payments (495,411)        (551,220)      (482,922)      (424,584)      (370,411)      (313,249)      (217,557)       (188,779)       
Implicit Subsidy (95,000)          

Net change in total OPEB liability 2,845,863      562,001       284,969       875,717       (689,189)      815,620       2,873,035     443,207        
Total OPEB liability - beginning 10,746,374    10,184,373 9,899,404    9,023,687    9,712,876    8,897,256    6,024,221     5,581,014     
Total OPEB liability - ending 13,592,237    10,746,374 10,184,373 9,899,404    9,023,687    9,712,876    8,897,256     6,024,221     

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions 1,286,486$    1,729,668$ 684,560$     1,261,261$ 371,240$     586,189$     367,557$      338,779$      
Benefit payments (495,411)        (551,220)      (482,922)      (424,584)      (370,411)      (313,249)      (217,557)       (188,779)       
Implicit Subsidy Credit (95,000)          
Net investment income 987,310         501,079       (1,106,408)  1,655,257    195,043       322,833       351,673        413,243        
Administrative expenses (4,632)            (3,719)          (3,113)          (3,187)          (3,526)          (1,735)          (8,232)           (2,091)           

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 1,678,753      1,675,808    (907,883)      2,488,747    192,346       594,038       493,441        561,152        
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 8,968,357      7,292,549    8,200,432    5,711,685    5,519,339    4,925,301    4,431,860     3,870,708     
Plan fiduciary net position - ending 10,647,110    8,968,357    7,292,549    8,200,432    5,711,685    5,519,339    4,925,301     4,431,860     

Net OPEB Liability/(Asset) - ending 2,945,127$    1,778,017$ 2,891,824$ 1,698,972$ 3,312,002$ 4,193,537$ 3,971,955$  1,592,361$  

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
OPEB liability 78.33% 83.45% 71.61% 82.84% 63.30% 56.82% 55.36% 73.57%
Covered payroll 9,790,573$    8,776,395$ 7,806,893$ 9,237,126$ 6,855,796$ 6,525,667$ 6,092,493$  6,092,493$  
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 30.08% 20.26% 37.04% 18.39% 48.31% 64.26% 65.19% 26.14%
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Schedule of Employer OPEB Contributions 
Schedule of Employer OPEB Contributions 

OPEB Schedule of Contributions, Last Ten Fiscal Years* 

 
*GASB No. 75 was implemented in fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Additional years will be added up to 
10 years when information becomes available. 
 
Methods and Assumptions for Actuarially Determined Contributions 

 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Actuarially determined contribution (ADC) 787,065$      766,384$      690,620$      673,233$      656,504$      855,033$      833,721$     225,228$     
Actual contribution in relation to ADC 953,710        1,286,486     1,729,668     684,560        1,261,261     371,240        586,189       367,557       
Contribution deficiency (Excess) (166,645)$     (520,102)$     (1,039,048)$  (11,327)$       (604,757)$     483,793$      247,532$     (142,329)$   

Covered payroll 9,790,573$   9,523,904$   8,776,395$   7,806,893$   9,237,126$   6,855,796$   6,525,667$ 6,092,493$ 
Contribution as a percentage of payroll 9.74% 13.51% 19.71% 8.77% 13.65% 5.41% 8.98% 6.03%

Miscellaneous

Valuation Date: June 30, 2024
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry-Age Normal, Level % of pay
Amortization Method: Level % of pay
Amortization Period: 15-year fixed period for 2023/24
Asset Valuation Method: Market value of assets
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 6.40%
General Inflation 2.30%

       Medical Trend

Mortality CalPERS 2000-2019 experience study 

Mortality Improvement Mortality projected fully generational with Scale MP-2021

Non-Medicare - 6.80% for 2024, decreasing to an
ultimate rate of 4.04% in 2075

Medicare (Kaiser) - 4.90% for 2024, decreasing to
an ultimate rate of 4.04% in 2075

Medicare (Non-Kaiser) - 4.90% for 2024,
decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.04% in 2075
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Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 
Last Ten Fiscal Years  

 
Notes:  

1. For the year ending on the measurement date. 
 

 

6/30/2025 6/30/2024 6/30/2023 6/30/2022 6/30/2021 6/30/2020 6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017 6/30/2016

Measurement Date 6/30/2024 6/30/2023 6/30/2022 6/30/2021 6/30/2020 6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2015
District's proportion of the net pension liability 0.02621% 0.04045% 0.03480% -0.02882% 0.05656% 0.07198% 0.06821% 0.06835% 0.06556% 0.06157%
District's proportionate share of the net pension liability 3,178,399$ 5,046,601$ 4,019,592$  (1,558,572)$ 6,153,622$  7,376,274$  6,572,464$  6,778,010$  5,673,350$  4,225,956$  
District's covered payroll 1 9,057,484$ 8,400,651$ 7,514,120$  6,392,656$  6,436,028$  6,123,141$  6,051,649$  6,038,180$  5,170,000$  5,638,769$  
District's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 35.09% 60.07% 53.49% -24.38% 95.61% 120.47% 108.61% 112.25% 109.74% 74.94%
Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
plan's total pension liability 94.47% 90.50% 91.86% 103.52% 85.13% 80.40% 80.87% 78.21% 79.33% 82.91%

Fiscal Year End

Miscellaneous

Valuation Date:
The actuarial methods and assumptions used to set the actuarially determined 
contributions for Fiscal Year 2024-25 were from the June 30, 2022 public 
agency valuations.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 

Actuarial cost method Entry age actuarial cost method
Amortization method/period Level percentage of payroll 
Asset valuation method Fair value of assets
Inflation 2.30%
Salary Increases Varies by entry age and service
Payroll growth 2.80%

Investment rate of return
6.80% net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses; includes 
inflation.

Retirement age
The probabilities of retirement are based on the 2021 CalPERS Experience 
Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions.

Mortality

The probabilities of mortality are based on the 2021 CalPERS Experience 
Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions. Mortality rates incorporate full 
generational mortality improvement using 80% of Scale MP-2020 published by 
the Society of Actuaries.
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Schedule of Proportionate Share of Employer Pension Contributions 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Employer Pension Contributions 
Last Ten Fiscal Years   

 
Notes: 
1. For the fiscal year ending on the date shown.  
 

Contributions for the fiscal year ending: 6/30/2025 6/30/2024 6/30/2023 6/30/2022 6/30/2021 6/30/2020 6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017 6/30/2016

Actuarially determined contribution 1,400,616$  1,191,722$  1,278,013$  1,299,678$  1,288,185$  1,253,996$  1,099,426$  1,004,247$  958,408$     822,449$     
Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
determined contribution

(1,659,236)   (2,691,722)   (1,278,013)   (3,299,678)   (3,288,185)   (3,253,996)   (1,099,426)   (1,004,247)   (958,408)      (822,449)      

Contribution deficiency (Excess) (258,620)$    (1,500,000)$ -$              (2,000,000)$ (2,000,000)$ (2,000,000)$ -$              -$              -$             -$             

District's covered payroll ¹ 9,513,344$  9,057,484$  8,400,651$  7,514,120$  6,392,656$  6,436,028$  6,123,141$  6,051,649$  6,038,180$ 5,170,000$ 
Contributions as a percentage of covered 
payroll

17.44% 29.72% 15.21% 43.91% 51.44% 50.56% 17.96% 16.59% 15.87% 15.91%

Miscellaneous

Valuation Date:
The actuarial methods and assumptions used to set the actuarially determined 
contributions for Fiscal Year 2024-25 were from the June 30, 2022 public 
agency valuations.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 

Actuarial cost method Entry age actuarial cost method
Amortization method/period Level percentage of payroll 
Asset valuation method Fair value of assets
Inflation 2.30%
Salary Increases Varies by entry age and service
Payroll growth 2.80%

Investment rate of return
6.80% net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses; includes 
inflation.

Retirement age
The probabilities of retirement are based on the 2021 CalPERS Experience 
Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions.

Mortality

The probabilities of mortality are based on the 2021 CalPERS Experience 
Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions. Mortality rates incorporate full 
generational mortality improvement using 80% of Scale MP-2020 published by 
the Society of Actuaries.
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StaƟsƟcal SecƟon 
Schedule 1 – Condensed Statements of Net Position 

Schedule 1 
Condensed Statements of Net Position 

Last Ten Fiscal Years ($000)  

 
(1) GASB No. 68 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions Implemented June 30, 2015 
(2) GASB No. 75 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) Implemented June 30, 2018 
(3) GASB No. 87 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Leases Implemented June 30, 2022 

Source: District Audited Financial Statements

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Current and other assets 72,802$    71,234$    70,761$    73,059$    66,817$    64,879$    55,214$    44,222$    34,947$    27,964$    

Capital assets 91,103      89,381      81,532      77,002      74,754      71,612      73,713      68,860      72,638      76,831      

Total assets 163,905    160,615    152,293    150,061    141,571    136,491    128,927    113,082    107,585    104,795    

Deferred outlfow - Pension ¹ 3,237         5,547         5,028         6,609         5,260         4,653         2,671         3,288         3,134         1,946         

Deferred outflow - OPEB ² 4,255         3,170         4,180         2,324         3,091         2,374         2,897         367            -                 -                 

Total deferred outflows of resources 7,492         8,717         9,208         8,933         8,351         7,027         5,568         3,655         3,134         1,946         

Long-term liabilities 15,496      15,524      16,449      12,035      20,587      23,439      25,185      16,620      13,786      14,040      

Other liabilities 8,256         8,923         6,829         6,148         4,317         6,454         3,760         2,692         2,494         2,252         

Total liabilities 23,752      24,447      23,278      18,183      24,904      29,893      28,945      19,312      16,280      16,292      

Deferred inflow - Pension 600            719            713            1,452         1,175         432            340            324            438            886            

Deferred inflow - OPEB 1,439         1,479         1,808         2,131         1,454         168            214            -                 -                 -                 

Deferred inflow - Leases ³ 1,229         1,280         1,375         781            -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Total deferred inflows of resources 3,268         3,478         3,896         4,364         2,629         600            554            324            438            886            

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets        82,085        79,357        71,435        66,119        63,077        58,331        59,386        60,275        64,207        66,632 
Restricted

Restricted for capital projects 19,882      18,144      14,571      15,076      12,431      8,568         5,374         5,250         3,876         785            

Restricted for debt service 1,070         1,070         1,070         1,069         1,069         1,069         737            737            737            737            

Restricted for major maintenance 22,850      21,591      31,288      36,945      40,577      40,567      33,755      14,951      15,390      9,730         

Restricted for City collection system reserves 2,591         4,623         2,446         -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Unrestricted 15,899      16,622      13,517      17,238      5,235         4,490         5,744         15,888      9,791         11,679      

Total net position 144,377$  141,407$  134,327$  136,447$  122,389$  113,025$  104,996$  97,101$    94,001$    89,563$    
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Schedule 2 – Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Schedule 2 
Condensed Stmts of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Last Ten Fiscal Years ($000) 

 

(1) Includes net increase (decrease) in fair value of investments. 
(2) In FY 2022-23, operating expense categories were updated to pull reports directly from the financial system. Operating expense categories were changed 

to provide a direct comparison. Prior year categories in previously audited financial statements (total) will tie to the total operating expense amount. 
(3) Personnel expenses include actuarially determined pension and other post employment benefit expenses in accordance with GASB No. 68 and No. 75. 
Source:  District Audited Financial Statements 

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Revenues:

Service charges 37,170$       33,873$       33,386$       30,965$       29,227$       29,028$       27,549$       26,046$       25,904$       23,351$       
Drainage fees 1,640            1,631            1,662            1,684            1,647            1,706            1,619            1,598            1,580            1,552            
Interest income 2,647            1,914            1,195            451               576               1,164            923               519               260               96                 
Other¹ 2,486            2,699            544               (683)              78                 1,240            956               194               222               212               
Sewer capacity charges 2,442            4,818            2,723            4,011            5,497            2,023            3,000            2,079            2,478            2,835            
Capital related grants 1,281            748               -                    -                    -                    4,000            -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total revenues 47,666         45,683         39,510         36,428         37,025         39,161         34,047         30,436         30,444         28,046         
Expenses: ²

Personnel3 16,888         17,269         20,042         5,525            12,289         14,885         10,354         10,188         9,119            7,482            
Utilities and chemicals 3,940            4,382            4,045            2,933            2,524            1,969            1,785            1,705            1,836            1,606            
Services, operations and maintenance 8,473            6,711            8,100            6,271            5,505            6,757            6,637            6,163            7,307            4,744            
Sewer line maintenance 8,892            4,625            4,077            2,506            2,367            2,256            2,190            2,216            2,142            2,072            
Billing & collection 801               775               741               700               667               647               621               594               572               549               
Interest expense 208               230               252               272               335               260               224               238               311               404               
Depreciation and amortization 4,370            4,611            4,371            4,168            3,974            4,358            4,341            4,449            4,719            4,911            

Total expenses 43,572         38,603         41,628         22,375         27,661         31,132         26,152         25,553         26,006         21,768         

Change in net position 4,094            7,080            (2,118)          14,053         9,364            8,029            7,895            4,883            4,438            6,278            

Net position, beginning of period (as restated) 141,407       134,327       136,447       122,389       113,025       104,996       97,101         94,001         89,563         83,801         

Prior period restatement, GASB 68 (Pension) -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    (516)              

Prior period restatement, GASB 75 (OPEB) -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    (1,783)          -                    -                    

Prior period restatement, GASB 87 (Leases) -                    -                    -                    5                   -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Prior period restatement, AP Variance -                    -                    (2)                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Prior period restatement, GASB 101 (Comp. Abs) (1,124)          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Net position, as restated 140,283       134,327       136,445       122,394       113,025       104,996       97,101         92,218         89,563         83,285         

Net position, end of period 144,377$     141,407$     134,327$     136,447$     122,389$     113,025$     104,996$     97,101$       94,001$       89,563$       

Statement of Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 82,085$       79,357$       71,435$       66,119$       63,077$       58,331$       59,386$       60,275$       64,207$       66,632$       
Restricted

Restricted for capital projects 19,882         18,144         14,571         15,076         12,431         8,568            5,374            5,250            3,876            785               
Restricted for debt service 1,070            1,070            1,070            1,069            1,069            1,069            737               737               737               737               
Restricted for major maintenance 22,850         21,591         31,288         36,945         40,577         40,567         33,755         14,951         15,390         9,730            
Restricted for City collection system reserves 2,591            4,623            2,446            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Unrestricted 15,899         16,622         13,517         17,238         5,235            4,490            5,744            15,888         9,791            11,679         

Total net position 144,377$     141,407$     134,327$     136,447$     122,389$     113,025$     104,996$     97,101$       94,001$       89,563$       

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
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Schedule 3 – Changes in Net Position 

Schedule 3 
Changes in Net Position 

Last Ten Fiscal Years ($000) 
 

 
 

 
(1) Includes net increase (decrease) in fair value of investments  
(2) In FY 2022-23, operating expense categories were updated to pull reports directly from the financial system. Operating expense categories were changed 

to provide a direct comparison. Prior year categories in previously audited financial statements (total) will tie to the total operating expense amount 
(3) Personnel expenses include actuarially determined pension and other post employment benefit expenses in accordance with GASB No. 68 and No. 75. 
Source:  District Audited Financial Statements 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Revenues:
Service charges 37,170$ 33,873$ 33,386$ 30,965$ 29,227$ 29,028$  27,549$ 26,046$ 25,904$ 23,351$ 
Drainage fees 1,640      1,631      1,662     1,684     1,647     1,706      1,619     1,598     1,580     1,552     
Interest income 2,647      1,914      1,195     451        576        1,164      923        519        260        96           
Other¹ 2,486      2,699      544        (683)       78           1,240      956        194        222        212        
Sewer capacity charges 2,442      4,818      2,723     4,011     5,497     2,023      3,000     2,079     2,478     2,835     
Capital related grants 1,281      748         -         -         -         4,000      -         -         -         -         

Total revenues 47,666   45,683   39,510   36,428   37,025   39,161    34,047   30,436   30,444   28,046   

Expenses: ²
Personnel ³ 16,888   17,269   20,042   5,525     12,289   14,885    10,354   10,188   9,119     7,482     
Utilities and chemicals 3,940      4,382      4,045     2,933     2,524     1,969      1,785     1,705     1,836     1,606     
Services, operations and maintenance 8,473      6,711      8,100     6,271     5,505     6,757      6,637     6,163     7,307     4,744     
Sewer line maintenance 8,892      4,625      4,077     2,506     2,367     2,256      2,190     2,216     2,142     2,072     
Billing and collection 801         775         741        700        667        647         621        594        572        549        
Interest expense 208         230         252        272        335        260         224        238        311        404        
Depreciation and amortization 4,370      4,611      4,371     4,168     3,974     4,358      4,341     4,449     4,719     4,911     

Total expenses 43,572   38,603   41,628   22,375   27,661   31,132    26,152   25,553   26,006   21,768   

Change in net position 4,094$   7,080$   (2,118)$  14,053$ 9,364$   8,029$    7,895$   4,883$   4,438$   6,278$   
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Schedule 4 – Net Position by Component 

Schedule 4 
Net Position by Component 

Last Ten Fiscal Years ($000) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Source:  District Audited Financial Statements 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets  $   82,085  $   79,357  $   71,435  $   66,119  $   63,077  $   58,331  $   59,386  $   60,275  $   64,207  $   66,632 

Restricted 46,393      45,428      49,375     53,090     54,077     50,204     39,866     20,938     20,003     11,252      

Unrestricted 15,899      16,622      13,517     17,238     5,235        4,490        5,744        15,888     9,791        11,679      

144,377$ 141,407$ 134,327$ 136,447$ 122,389$ 113,025$ 104,996$ 97,101$   94,001$   89,563$   
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Schedule 5 – Expenses by Classification 

Schedule 5 
Expenses by Classification 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Excludes capital expenditures) 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) In FY 2022-23, operating expense categories were updated to pull reports directly from the financial system. Operating expense categories 
were changed to provide a direct comparison. Prior year categories in previously audited financial statements (total) will tie to the total 
operating expense amount. 

(2) Personnel expenses include actuarially determined pension and other post employment benefit expenses in accordance with GASB No. 68 
and No. 75. 

Source:  District Audited Financial Statements 

Nonoperating 
Expenses

Year Ended Utilities and Services, Operations Sewer Line Billing & Depreciation & Interest 

June 30, Total Personnel 2 Chemicals and Maintenance Maintenance Collection Amortization Expense
2016 17,023,952$ 7,481,985$ 1,606,001$ $4,744,024 2,072,264$ 548,613$ 4,911,240$    403,849$       
2017 26,004,419    9,118,711   1,835,900   7,307,210 2,141,449   572,075   4,718,543      310,531         
2018 25,553,526    10,187,892 1,704,896   6,162,336 2,216,177   594,247   4,449,438      238,540         
2019 26,152,009    10,353,677 1,785,119   6,637,297 2,190,335   620,929   4,340,674      223,978         
2020 31,133,094    14,885,540 1,969,026   6,756,749 2,256,155   647,226   4,357,994      260,404         
2021 27,660,682    12,288,911 2,524,238   5,504,137 2,367,118   667,098   3,974,168      335,012         
2022 22,374,757    5,525,051   2,932,508   6,271,122 2,505,748   700,164   4,168,237      271,927         
2023 41,627,636    20,041,562 4,044,923   8,100,137 4,077,244   741,063   4,371,177      251,530         
2024 38,602,639    17,268,408 4,381,502   6,711,088 4,625,349   775,155   4,610,890      230,247         
2025 43,572,867    16,888,271 3,939,923   8,472,599 8,892,386   801,342   4,370,208      208,138         

Operating Expenses ¹
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Schedule 6 – Revenues by Sources 

Schedule 6 
Revenues by Sources 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Including interest) 

(1) Includes net increase (decrease) in fair value of investments.
(2) Federal loan forgiveness related to the Blower Project
Source:  District Audited Financial Statements

Year Ended Sewer Service Drainage Interest Sewer Capacity
June 30, Total Charges Fees Other Income Other (1) Charges

2016 28,028,751  23,351,121  1,551,786  3,654  95,688  191,437  2,835,065  -  
2017 30,442,600  25,904,084  1,580,378  28,981  259,750  191,084  2,478,323  -  
2018 30,618,728  26,046,503  1,598,012  1,775  519,249  374,541  2,078,648  -  
2019 34,046,479  27,548,719  1,618,819  284,679  922,968  671,302  2,999,992  -  
2020 35,162,093  29,028,821  1,706,076  286,695  1,164,907  952,984  2,022,610  4,000,000 (2)
2021 37,025,452  29,227,168  1,646,905  392,040  575,666  (313,795)  5,497,468  -       
2022 36,426,937  30,964,630  1,684,123  712,728  450,517  (1,395,896)  4,010,835  -       
2023 39,510,237  33,386,414  1,662,135  567,169  1,194,804  (23,691)  2,723,406  -       
2024 45,682,451  33,873,175  1,630,683  656,257  1,913,617  2,042,487  4,817,832  748,400       
2025 47,666,395  37,169,808  1,639,636  869,694  2,647,391  1,616,280  2,442,283  1,281,303      

Capital 
Related 
Grants

Contributed CapitalOperating Revenues Nonoperating Revenues
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Schedule 7 – Monthly Sewer Service Changes 

Schedule 7 
Monthly Sewer Service Charges 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
(a) Residential customers are billed a flat rate per month, per dwelling unit. 
(b) Commercial customers are billed based on water usage, per hundred cubic feet. 
The District completes a Cost of Service and Rate Study and adopts rates every five years. The most recent rates were adopted on March 28, 
2022 and are effective through FY 2026-27. 
Source:  District rate resolution 
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Schedule 8 – Service Area of Principle Customers and Percentages of Total Sewer Service Charges 

Schedule 8 
Service Area of Top 10 Principal Customers and % of Total Sewer Service Charges 

 

 

Source:  City of Fairfield and District billing records, District rate study

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Total sewer service charges
$000 37,170$  33,873$  33,386$  30,965$  29,227$  29,028$  27,549$  26,047$  25,904$  23,351$  
         User Type
Travis Air Force Base Military Base 3.95% 4.77% 4.83% 3.51% 3.03% 3.31% 4.49% 3.87% 4.76% 3.73%
Anheuser-Busch Brewery 3.01% 3.16% 5.08% 4.40% 4.21% 3.93% 4.00% 3.65% 5.86% 4.21%
Producers Dairy Foods Dairy 1.88% 2.03% 3.02% 2.08% 1.39% 1.82% 1.00% 0.77% 0.95% 1.06%
Paradise Valley Estates Housing 0.56% 0.55% 0.53% 0.55% 0.56% 0.54% 0.55% 0.56% 0.46% 0.58%
Pointe Fairfield Venture, LLC Housing 0.46% 0.49% 0.48% 0.49% 0.50% 0.49% 0.50% 0.49% 0.49% 0.52%
Ball Metal Corporation Manufacturing 0.32% 0.32% 0.24% 0.28% 0.50% 0.35% 0.29% 0.42% 0.66% 0.79%
United Mobile Homeowners Housing 0.35% 0.35% 0.34% 0.35% 0.36% 0.34% 0.36% 0.33% 0.35% 0.37%
Amcor Pet Packing Manufacturing 0.78% 0.52% 0.57% 0.59% 0.60% 0.54% 0.56% 0.31% 0.74% 0.70%
Ardagh Manufacturing 0.50% 0.54% 0.40% 0.45% 0.49% 0.42% 0.29% 0.29% 0.25% 0.23%
CSCDA Community Improvement Auth. Housing 0.26% 0.63% 0.61% -           -           -           -           -           -           -           

12.07% 13.36% 16.30% 12.91% 11.64% 11.85% 12.23% 10.73% 13.87% 11.40%
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Schedule 9 – Pledged-Revenue Coverage 

Schedule 9 
Pledged-Revenue Coverage 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) Includes Sewer Capacity Charges. 
(2) Does not include depreciation and amortization. 
(3) Highest annual debt service payment due on the remaining life of the bonds.  
(4) Bond covenant requires that net revenue be at least 115% of debt service requirement. 
 
Source: District's Audited Financial Statements and Accounting RecordsSchedule 10 – Summary of Debt Service Payments 

Year Ended Gross Operating Available Debt Service Coverage
June 30, Revenues Expenses for Debt Service Requirements %

(1) (2) (3) (4)
2016 28,028,751$ 11,708,863$ 16,319,888$  2,080,299$ 784%
2017 30,442,600    20,975,345   9,467,255       737,038       1285%
2018 30,618,728    20,865,548   9,753,180       737,038       1323%
2019 34,046,479    21,587,357   12,459,122    737,038       1690%
2020 35,162,093    26,514,696   8,647,397       1,068,895    809%
2021 37,025,452    23,351,502   13,673,950    1,068,895    1279%
2022 36,426,937    17,934,593   18,492,344    1,068,895    1730%
2023 39,510,237    37,004,929   2,505,308       1,070,057    234%
2024 45,682,451    33,761,502   11,920,949    1,070,057    1114%
2025 47,666,395    38,994,521   8,671,874       1,070,057    810%
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Schedule 10 
Summary of Debt Service Payments 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Debt Capacity:  The District may issue or incur new debt on a parity basis if the sum of audited net sewer enterprise revenues for the prior fiscal 
year, plus 75% of estimated increases in net revenues due to rate increases in effect before the District issues or incurs the new parity obligations 
(but not in effect during the prior fiscal year), equals at least 115% of the combined maximum annual payment. 
 
Source: District's Audited Financial Statements and Accounting RecordsSchedule 11 – RaƟos of Outstanding Debt by Type 

Year Ended 
June 30,

City of Fairfield 
Reimbursement 

Agreement
State Revolving 

Fund Loan

2010 Sewer 
Refunding 

Bonds
Total Debt 

Service
2016 81,651$              737,038$        2,424,078$    3,242,767$       
2017 1,343,261           737,038           -                       2,080,299         
2018 -                           737,038           -                       737,038            
2019 -                           737,038           -                       737,038            
2020 -                           737,038           -                       737,038            
2021 -                           1,070,057       -                       1,070,057         
2022 -                           1,070,057       -                       1,070,057         
2023 -                           1,070,057       -                       1,070,057         
2024 -                           1,070,057       -                       1,070,057         
2025 -                           1,070,057       -                       1,070,057         
Total 1,424,912$        9,035,475$     2,424,078$    12,884,465$     
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Schedule 11 
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) Refunded in fiscal year 2009/10 
(2) Refer to Schedule 14  
(3) Paid in full in July 2017 
(4) The District implemented GASB No.87 Leases during Fiscal Year Ended June 20, 2022 

Source:  District’s Audited Financial Statements and Accounting Records

Year 
Ended 

June 30,

City of Fairfield 
Reimbursement 

Agreement

State 
Revolving 
Fund Loan

2010 Sewer 
Refunding 

Bonds Leases

Total 
Outstanding 

Debt
Population 

Served
Debt per 
Capita

(3) (1) (4) (2)
2016 1,285,417$      8,913,340$    -$                - 10,198,757$ 141,728$ 72       
2017 -                     8,431,319      -                  - 8,431,319      143,452   59       
2018 -                     8,585,219      -                  - 8,585,219      145,348   59       
2019 -                     14,976,452    -                  - 14,976,452    146,596   102     
2020 -                     12,440,576    -                  - 12,440,576    146,100   85       
2021 -                     11,677,087    -                  - 11,677,087    146,887   79       
2022 -                     10,883,153    -                  36,121 10,919,274    148,793   73       
2023 -                     10,068,687    -                  28,722 10,097,409    147,997   68       
2024 -                     9,233,138      -                  18,573 9,251,711      149,179   62       
2025 -                     8,375,940      -                  8,089   8,384,029      149,756   56       
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Schedule 12 – Average Annual Influent Flow 

Schedule 12 
Average Annual Influent Flow 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
*Million gallons per day 

Source:  District’s Regulatory Department 
Data for calendar year 2025 is not available as of fiscal year-end date. 

Year Flow
(Calendar) (MGD)*

2015 12.0
2016 12.9
2017 15.4
2018 12.3
2019 14.6
2020 12.3
2021 13.3
2022 12.9
2023 14.4
2024 15.0 0.0
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Schedule 13 – Biosolids Disposal 

Schedule 13 
Biosolids Disposal 

 

 

 
Annual biosolids disposal is derived by totaling the tons of biosolids removed from the treatment plant each year. Inter-annual variability results 
when on-plant storage is used to a greater or lesser extent year to year. 

Source:  District’s Regulatory Department 

Data for calendar year 2025 is not available as of fiscal year-end date.

Biosolids (Sludge) Hauled/Produced
Year

(Calendar) Dry Metric Tons
2015 1,939
2016 2,284
2017 2,777
2018 2,691
2019 2,802
2020 3,296
2021 3,221
2022 2,996
2023 3,241
2024 2,757

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

D
ry

 T
o

n
s 

Calendar Year

Biosolids 



FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
Economic and Demographic Information 

 

71 | P a g e  
 

Schedule 14 – Population Served 

Schedule 14 
Population Served 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source:  State of California Department of Finance

City of City of Total %
Year Fairfield Suisun City Served Change
2016 112,637 29,091 141,728 2.3%
2017 114,157 29,295 143,452 1.2%
2018 116,156 29,192 145,348 1.3%
2019 117,149 29,447 146,596 0.9%
2020 116,981 29,119 146,100 -0.3%
2021 118,005 28,882 146,887 0.5%
2022 119,897 28,896 148,793 1.3%
2023 119,526 28,471 147,997 -0.5%
2024 120,339 28,840 149,179 0.8%
2025 120,720 29,036 149,756 0.4%
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Schedule 15 – Major Employers 

Schedule 15 
Major Employers 

(Previous year compared to nine years ago) 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Note: City of Fairfield Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2025 not yet available. Data presented is from the prior 
year. 

Source: City of Fairfield Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and California Employment Development Department 

% of Total % of Total
Employees Ranking City of Fairfield Employees Ranking City of Fairfield

Firm Name Type of Business 2024 Employment 2015 Employment
Travis Air Force Base Military Base 13,414      1 24% 13,414   1 27%
County of Solano Government 2,633        2 5% 2,707     2 6%
Fairfield-Suisun Unified School District Education 2,213        3 4% 2,518     3 5%
NorthBay Medical Center Hospital 1,969        4 4% 1,982     4 4%
Solano Community College Education 750           5 1% 867        5 2%
Partnership HealthPlan Insurance 561           6 1% 435        9 1%
City of Fairfield Government 553           7 1% 527        6 1%
Jelly Belly Candy Co. Candy & Confections 489           8 1% 461        8 1%
Sutter Regional Medical Foundation Medical 475           9 1% 475        7 1%
Westamerica Bank Corporate Headquarters 418           10 1% 418        10 1%



FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
Economic and Demographic Information 

 

73 | P a g e  
 

Schedule 16 – Full-Time District Employees by Program 

Schedule 16 
Full-Time District Employees by Department 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) Includes the General Manager, Finance, Human Resources, and Information Technology. 
(2) Includes Laboratory, Safety, and Regulatory Programs. 

 
 

Source: Fairfield-Suisun Sewer Districtchedule 17 – Other InformaƟon 

Department 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

     Administrative Services1 9 9 8 8 8 6 6 6 6 7.5
     Engineering 10 11 11 10 8.5 6 6 6 6 6

     Environmental Services2 8 7 6 6 5 5 5 5 5.5 5.5
     Operations & Maintenance 44 44 41 42 40 40 40 40 40 39

71.0   71.0    66.0     66.0     61.5     57.0     57.0     57.0     57.5     58.0     

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
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Schedule 17 

Other Information 

 

 
Source:  Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District

General
Service area City of Fairfield

City of Suisun City
Governing body Council members of both cities
Chief executive officer General Manager
Date of formation May 5, 1951
Type of service Sewage collection, treatment and 

disposal and drainage maintenance

Number of full-time employees 71.0                                                             
District population 149,756

Wastewater Facilities
Area served (square miles) 45
Number of treatment plant(s) 1
Number of pump stations 14
Permitted dry weather capacity 23.70 MGD
Average dry weather flow (lowest 3 consecutive months 2025) 11.384
Miles of sewer (12-inch and larger) 86

Stormwater Facilities
Area served (square miles) 45
Number of pump stations 7
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Other Independent Auditor’s Report 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Controls 
 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 

 
Board of Directors 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
Fairfield, California 

 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

We have audited, in accordance with the audiƟng standards generally accepted in the United  States of  
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government AudiƟng Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Fairfield-Suisun Sewer 
District, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collecƟvely comprise the basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
November 25, 2025. 

 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial ReporƟng 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Fairfield-Suisun Sewer 
District internal control over financial reporƟng (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effecƟveness of Fairfield-Suisun Sewer 
District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effecƟveness of Fairfield-Suisun 
Sewer District’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operaƟon of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned funcƟons, to prevent, or detect and 
correct, misstatements on a Ɵmely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combinaƟon of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
the enƟty’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a Ɵmely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combinaƟon of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit aƩenƟon by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideraƟon of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
secƟon and was not designed to idenƟfy all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitaƟons, during our audit we did not idenƟfy any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been idenƟfied. 
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Report on Compliance and Other MaƩers 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulaƟons, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objecƟve of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other maƩers that are required to be 
reported under Government AudiƟng Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our tesƟng of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that tesƟng, and not to provide an opinion on the effecƟveness of the enƟty’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government AudiƟng Standards in considering the enƟty’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communicaƟon is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Irvine, California 
November 25, 2025 



FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT
E S T .  1 9 5 1

POPULAR ANNUAL
FINANCIAL REPORT

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
1010 Chadbourne Road 
Fairfield, CA 94534
www.fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov

For the Year Ended June 30, 2025

Attachment 2



Table of ContentsTable of Contents

About the PAFR 3

A Word from our General Manager 4

Mission, Vision, and Values 5

Board of Directors 6

System and Services 7

FY 2024-25 By the Numbers 8

Capital Improvement Projects 9

Financial Information 10



The financial data in this PAFR is drawn from the District’s
FY 2024-25 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
(ACFR). The District’s ACFR provides detailed and audited
financial statements using Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles, and includes all of the District’s financial
information, providing a complete picture of operations
rather than limiting the scope to just general government
activities. The PAFR highlights the most relevant financial
information in a format that's accessible to all. This report
reflects the District’s commitment to accountability as it
continues to protect public health and the environment
through effective wastewater treatment.

An online version of the District’s FY 2024-25 ACFR is
available at https://www.fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov/
financial-information/.

Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report (ACFR)

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 03

About
the PAFR
About
the PAFR
The Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR) is a
simplified, easy-to-understand summary of the
District’s financial information. It’s designed to
give the public a clear view of how the District
manages funds, deliver services, and maintains
transparency in operations.

The Government Finance Officers Association awarded a Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the District for its ACFR for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2024. This was the District’s 27th consecutive year receiving the prestigious national award. In
order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily
readable and efficiently organized ACFR. This report must satisfy both Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles and applicable legal requirements.



A Word From Our
General Manager
A Word From Our
General Manager
I am pleased to share the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer
District’s Popular Annual Financial Report for
Fiscal Year 2024–25. This report highlights key
financial information and major projects we
advanced to ensure reliable, safe, and
environmentally responsible service for the
communities of Fairfield and Suisun City. This
year, we made significant progress on several
long-term infrastructure investments, including
the Suisun Force Main Reliability Project,
Nitrogen Removal Phase 1 Improvements, the
Kellogg Resiliency Project, and major upgrades
to our electrical and energy systems. These
efforts strengthen the District's system
reliability, support regional growth, and
enhance our ability to protect local waterways.
We also initiated a Collection System Master
Plan that allows us to track the planned growth
of our communities and prepare for new
facilities, rehabilitation, and replacement in a
thoughtful and well-planned manner, keeping
costs controlled and minimizing community
disruption. 

General Manager
JORDAN DAMEREL

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District

The District's financial position remains strong due to disciplined long-range planning,
stable revenue sources, and prudent reserve policies. We are proud to once again receive
national recognition from multiple agencies for operational excellence, environmental
stewardship, and transparent financial reporting. Thank you for your trust in the District
and for taking the time to learn more about our work. We look forward to continuing to
serve our community with integrity, reliability, and a commitment to long-term
sustainability. We invite you to follow our progress in 2026 by visiting
www.fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov.
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Our vision is to be a recognized leader in our
industry and community.

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District protects public health
and the environment for the communities we serve
in an effective, responsible, and sustainable manner.

Mission, Vision, and ValuesMission, Vision, and Values

Our Mission and Vision

Our Core Values
SUSTAINBILITY
We commit to environmental, social, and fiscal responsibility,
managing our resources with a focus on long-term
sustainability and balancing costs with outcomes.

EXCELLENCE
We strive for the highest quality in our work, embracing
creativity and global thinking to achieve outstanding results
and set standards in our industry, while ensuring a safe
workplace and infrastructure. 

TRANSPARENCY
We uphold the highest standards of integrity and ethical
behavior in all our actions, fostering a culture of honesty and
trust within our workplace and our community.

SOLUTION DRIVEN 
We are driven by innovation and dedicated to solving problems
by finding and implementing effective solutions.

POSITIVE WORKING RELATIONSHIPS
We foster strong, respectful relationships while emphasizing
responsibility, proactivity, and ownership in our collaborations
both within our team and with our external partners,
promoting a cooperative and supportive work environment.
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Board of DirectorsBoard of Directors
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District

The District’s Board of Directors is composed of the City Council members of Fairfield and
Suisun City. The Board President is elected by the Board from among its members. The
District’s General Manager, who directly oversees the District’s operations, reports to the
Board of Directors.

PresidentPresidentPresident
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System and ServicesSystem and Services

WASTEWATERWASTEWATER
TREATMENTTREATMENT
WASTEWATER
TREATMENT

SEWERSEWER
MAINTENANCEMAINTENANCE
SEWER
MAINTENANCE

STORMWATERSTORMWATERSTORMWATER

The District owns and operates the
wastewater treatment plant that
serves Fairfield, Suisun City and
Travis Air Force Base. Wastewater
that drains from inside local homes
and businesses flows to the
wastewater treatment plant, where
it is cleansed through various
biological and chemical steps.  The
District treats an average of 16
million gallons of water per day!

SERVICE AREA



00
PERMIT EXCURSIONS OR

SEWER SYSTEM
OVERFLOWS

AVERAGE MONTHLY PLANT
INFLUENT FLOW (MGD)*

1515
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STORMWATER PUMP
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1414
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FY 2024-25 BY THE NUMBERSFY 2024-25 BY THE NUMBERS

8,7068,706
AVERAGE FEET OF SEWER
INSPECTED PER MONTH

*MILLION GALLONS PER DAY

4545
SQUARE MILES OF

SERVICE AREA

318318
AVERAGE MONTHLY DRY
TONS OF SOLID WASTE

CONVERTED TO BIOGAS OR
FERTILIZER

8686
MILES OF SEWER

PIPES

149,756149,756
TOTAL POPULATION

SERVED
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CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
PROJECTS
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
PROJECTS

SUISUN FORCE MAIN
RELIABILITY PROJECT
The Suisun Force Main (SFM) is an
approximately three-mile-long
pipeline built in 1974 that transports
raw sewage from Suisun Pump Station
to the District’s wastewater treatment
plant. The force main is approaching
the end of its design life, and in 2017,
a condition assessment of the pipe
revealed that it is potentially at risk of
internal corrosion, which could result
in critical system failures.

In 2023, the District analyzed potential alternatives to improve the
reliability of the SFM. Based on the analysis, it was determined that
the preferred solution is to construct a new dual force main between
the Suisun Pump Station and Central Pump Station. This construction
path minimizes disruption in our cities while providing cost effective,
sustainable operation and maintainability for decades to come.

KELLOGG RESILIENCY PROJECT
The Kellogg stormwater basin and pump
station are located next to the Suisun
Slough and are vulnerable to fires and
flooding related to sea level rise. This
project rehabilitates or replaces
mechanical equipment at Kellogg pump
station, installs green stormwater
infrastructure at locations throughout
the Project site, and constructs a fire
vehicle access road along the southern
side of the stormwater detention basin.
It also replaces damaged fencing along
the north side of the  basin and removes
invasive species while revegetating the
area with native, fire-resistant species. 



STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

STATEMENT OF NET POSITIONSTATEMENT OF NET POSITION

All figures in thousands of dollars

All figures in thousands of dollars
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,



Sewer Service Charges Drainage Fees Other Operating Revenues

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) Contributed Capital

FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25
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Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 11

EXPENSES BY CLASSIFICATIONEXPENSES BY CLASSIFICATION

Amounts in thousands of dollars
(1) Personnel expenses include actuarially determined pension and other post employment benefit expenses
in accordance with GASB No. 68 and No. 75, which can cause significant year-to-year variations.
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Treatment Plant (59.6%)

Trunk Lines/Pump Station (12.9%)

Buildings and Improvements (3.2%)

Vehicles and Equipment (1.4%) 

Other Assets (0.01%)

Construction in Progress (19.8%)

Land and Improvements (3.0%)

For FY 2024-25, the District's total capital assets increased by
$1.7 million, or 1.9 percent. This was primarily due to a $5.7
million increase in Construction in Progress from the Suisun
Force Main Reliability and Kellogg Resiliency projects. A $4.3
million increase in accumulated depreciation and amortization
offset this increase.

CAPITAL
ASSETS
CAPITAL
ASSETS

The District's property, plant and
equipment are stated at original cost, less
accumulated depreciation. The District
records all assets with a historical cost of at
least $10,000 and a useful life of at least 5
years. 
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OUTSTANDING DEBTOUTSTANDING DEBT

The District's total outstanding debt sources for
Fiscal Year 2024-25 comes from (1) lease payments
and (2) loan agreements with State Water Resources
Control Board (SWRCB) under the Clean Water State
Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program.

The District upgrades and improves its collection and
treatment systems to keep current with
environmental regulations and the needs of its
service area. To the extent possible, the District
funds capital projects through “pay-as-you-go”
financing but pursues low-interest loans or bonds as
needed for significant projects. Community growth
pays for itself so that, upon build out, major debt
service burdens will not be shifted to ratepayers. 

STATE REVOLVING FUND
LOANS

LEASES

$8.3 million$8.3 million

$8,089$8,089

Debt SourcesDebt Sources

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 13

FY 2020-2
1

FY 2021-2
2

FY 2022-2
3

FY 2023-24

FY 2024
-2

5
0

20

40

60

80
79

73
68

62

56

FY 2020-2
1

FY 2021-2
2

FY 2022-2
3

FY 2023-24

FY 2024
-2

5
5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

10000

11000

12000

Amounts in thousands of dollars
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“Debt per capita” is the District’s amount of debt divided by
the total population served by the District, shown in dollars. 
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MORE INFORMATION

Phone :
(707) 429-8930

Address :

Email :

1010 Chadbourne Rd., Fairfield, CA 94534

contactus@fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov 
Website :
www.fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov

mailto:contactus@fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
January 12, 2026 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO:   Executive Committee 

FROM: James Russell-Field, Director of Administrative Services 

SUBJECT:  Adopt Resolution No. 2026-XX, Re-Adopting Policy 2150, Financial 
Reserves 

Recommendation: Adopt Resolution No. 2026-XX, Re-Adopting Policy 2150, Financial 
Reserves.  

Background: The District is the Fiscal Agent for the Solano Stormwater Alliance. 
Participating agencies adopted Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement Providing for the 
Implementation of the Solano Stormwater Alliance (Agreement) in Fall 2025, which 
included setting a reserve for the Alliance. 

Discussion: The District maintains Policy 2150, Financial Reserves, which defines 
reserve requirements and sets targets for various District reserves. While the District is 
acting as the Fiscal Agent for the Solano Stormwater Alliance, staff recommend 
amending and re-adopting Policy 2150, Financial Reserves, so all District maintained 
reserves are addressed within a single policy for administrative ease. 

Staff proposes using the following language from the Agreement to amend Policy 2150, 
Financial Reserves: 

The Program will hold an Operating Reserve of 90 days (25%) of the Operating budget. 
Each July, the Fiscal Agent will review unspent funds from the prior budget year. Unless 
the PARTIES authorize the Program to carry reserve funds greater than the Operating 
Reserve, unspent proceeds above the Operating Reserve will be credited back to each 
PARTY’s current annual contribution based on their cost allocation in Exhibit A (of the 
Agreement). 

 Minor changes are proposed to Policy Section 3.2 to update language for “Sewer 
Capacity Charges” for consistency with other financial documents. No other changes 
are recommended. 

Fiscal Impact: There is no fiscal impact to amending and re-adopting the Reserve 
Policy. District-held reserves remain unchanged. 

Attachments:  1 – Resolution No. 2026-XX 
2 – Policy 2150, Financial Reserves (redline) 

Item No. 6.2 



FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-XX 

A RESOLUTION RE-ADOPTING POLICY 2150, FINANCIAL RESERVES 

WHEREAS, the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District has previously adopted Policy 2150, 
Financial Reserves, to capture reserve definitions, requirements, and targets in one policy; 
and, 

WHEREAS, the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District is the Fiscal Agent for the Solano 
Stormwater Alliance; and, 

WHEREAS, the parties of the Solano Stormwater Alliance recently approved 
Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement Providing for the Implementation of the Solano 
Stormwater Alliance, which included a reserve target; and, 

WHEREAS, the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District wishes to capture all requirements 
for District-held reserves in one policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT THAT: 

1. The District hereby re-adopts Policy 2150, Financial Reserves, as revised.

2. This Resolution supersedes and replaces Resolution No. 2022-12, A Resolution
Adopting A Financial Reserve Policy, in its entirety.

3. The General Manager is authorized and directed to take all steps necessary and
proper to implement this resolution.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 26th day of January 2026, by the following vote: 

AYES: Directors 

NOES: Directors 

ABSTAIN: Directors 

ABSENT: Directors 

President 

ATTEST: 

  District Clerk 

Attachment 1 – Policy 2150, Financial Reserves 

Attachment 1
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POLICY 

Policy Number 2150 Adopted: January 26, 2026 
       Res No. 2026-XX 

Type of Policy 2000 - Finance and Administration 

Policy Title Financial Reserves 

Policy Description Briefly describe the purpose or action of the policy. 

1. Purpose

The purpose of this Financial Reserves Policy (“Policy”) is to provide guidelines to the
officers of the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (“District”) charged with the responsibility
for maintaining and reviewing the District’s reserves.

2. General Policy

The purpose of this Financial Reserves Policy (“Policy”) is to provide guidelines to the
officers of the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (“District”) charged with the responsibility
for maintaining and reviewing the District’s reserves.

3. Types of Reserves

3.1 Operations Fund Reserves
• Operating Reserve

The Operating Reserve is maintained in order to meet the liquidity and cash flow
needs for the District’s day-to-day operations. This reserve ensures continuity of
service regardless of short-term changes in cash flow or sudden increases in
operating costs.

The District will maintain an operating reserve equal to 25 percent of the Operations
budget, which represents the minimum reserve level. The Operations budget is
defined as expenses not related to debt service, Major Maintenance or the Capital
Improvement Program.

Attachment 2
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• Major Maintenance and Capital Improvement Program Reserve

This Major Maintenance Reserve is intended to be used for both (a) catastrophic
failure of critical infrastructure and (b) managing the inherent volatility of capital
spending needs.

Because Major Maintenance and Capital Improvement Program spending is
inherently volatile, the District will maintain a target reserve level equal to 100
percent of the five-year average of annual Major Maintenance and Capital
Improvement Program spending (rolling average).

• Collection System Rehabilitation & Replacement (R&R) Reserve

The District will maintain two reserves for Collection System Rehabilitation and
Replacement (R&R) as defined in the 1965 Agreement, as amended. A Collection
System R&R reserve shall be maintained for the City of Fairfield, and the City of
Suisun City as calculated by the Collection System Asset Management Plan.

To the extent all Operations Fund reserve targets are met, the District will pre-fund
the Collection System R&R reserves for the cities at the beginning of the fiscal year.
Prior to every fiscal year, each City will budget their anticipated expenditures for
Collection System R&R for the upcoming fiscal year. This amount will be included in
the District’s budget and presented to the District’s Board of Directors for approval.

The budgeted amount will be transferred from each City’s Collection System R&R
Reserve Fund to each City’s collection system enterprise fund by August 1 of each
year. Overspent or underspend funds from one year will be “trued up” in the next
fiscal year.

Although the Collection System Rehabilitation & Replacements reserves are funded
from Sewer Service Charges in the Operations Fund, the reserves for the City of
Fairfield and City of Suisun City will be maintained in separate funds.

• Debt Service Reserve

The District will maintain a reserve equal to one year of debt service based on 
current loans covenants for existing State Revolving Fund (SRF) loans. Should the 
District issue any additional debt, the Debt Service Reserve will represent the 
requirements of all debt service. 

3.2 Sewer Capacity Charge Reserves 

• Sewer Capacity Charge Reserves
The District will maintain Sewer Capacity Charge reserves as follows:

• All revenue collected prior to July 1, 2022 will remain reserved for growth
related projects.



Policy 2150 – Finance and Administration – Financial Reserves 
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• Revenue collected after July 1, 2022 can be used for rehabilitation and repair
projects identified in the Major Maintenance and Capital Improvement Program
Budget, and is no longer restricted for only growth-related projects.

3.3 Drainage Maintenance Fund Reserves 

• Drainage Maintenance Reserves
Within the Drainage Maintenance Fund, the District shall maintain three separate
reserves:

• Operations Reserve – The District will maintain a minimum reserve of 10
percent of average annual Drainage Maintenance revenues. If the Operating
Reserve target is met, additional net revenues should be allocated to the
Drainage Maintenance and Capital Improvement Program Reserve unless
there are anticipated operating impacts that need to be mitigated above the
target Operating Reserve.

• Major Maintenance Reserve – The District will maintain a minimum reserve of
25 percent of average annual Drainage Maintenance revenues.

• Desilting Reserve – Annually the District will transfer $30,500 to a Desilting
Reserve for the ongoing maintenance dredging of the Suisun City Marina
Village Channel Improvements, payable upon the Suisun City’s request.

3.4 Solano Stormwater Alliance Reserve 

• Solano Stormwater Alliance Reserve

While acting as the Fiscal Agent for the Solano Stormwater Alliance, the District
shall maintain a reserve in accordance with the Agreement Providing for
Implementation of the Solano Stormwater Alliance (Agreement) and any
subsequent Amendments. In accordance with Amendment No. 1:

Recognizing that expenses do not always happen within the budget year, the
Program may end up with unspent funds by the end of the fiscal year. The
Program will hold an Operating Reserve of 90 days (25%) of the Operating
budget. Each July, the Fiscal Agent will review unspent funds from the prior
budget year. Unless the PARTIES authorize the Program to carry reserve
funds greater than the Operating Reserve, unspent proceeds above the
Operating Reserve will be credited back to each PARTY’s current annual
contribution based on their cost allocation in Exhibit A (of the Agreement).

4. Procedures
The General Manager, or their designee, is responsible for managing reserves in
accordance with this policy. The Board of Directors may authorize use of reserves in
accordance with applicable District policies and procedures.
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
January 12, 2026 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO: Executive Committee 

FROM: James Russell-Field, Director of Administrative Services 

SUBJECT: Receive Annual Report in Accordance with Policy 1055, Legislative and 
Regulatory Advocacy Policy 

Recommendation: Receive Annual Report in Accordance with Policy 1055, Legislative 
and Regulatory Advocacy Policy 

Background: The District Board of Directors adopted Policy 1055, Legislative and 
Regulatory Advocacy Policy on January 27, 2025. In accordance with Section 4.2, District 
staff will provide an annual report to the Board of Directors, detailing key legislative and 
regulatory issues that impact the District. The report will include the District’s position on 
each issue and the actions taken to advocate on its behalf. 

Discussion: The District maintains membership with several professional organizations 
that may request support from the District and actively take positions, draft comment 
letters, and diligently follow current legislative and regulatory proposals that may impact 
the District. 

The District has taken the following advocacy actions since January 27, 2025: 

Date Description of Issue Position/ 
Action Taken 

Outcome 

State Legislation 
3/21/2025 SB 682 (Allen): proposed bill 

to prohibit distribution or sale 
of cleaning products, dental 
floss, juvenile products, food 
packaging, ski wax, and 
cookware. 

Support / signed on 
to CASA support 
letter 

Vetoed by 
Governor 

5/14/2025 SB 496 (Hurtado): revises 
CARB’s Advanced Clean 
Fleets regulations to exempt 
local government vehicles 
that respond to and support 
critical operations related to 
emergencies and disasters. 

Support / signed on 
to CSDA support 
letter 

Not passed 

Item No. 6.3 
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Date  Description of Issue Position/ 
Action Taken 

Outcome 

1/05/2026 AB 643 (Wilson): Lystek-
sponsored bill to make 
organic products produced 
using an approved technology 
and licensed by the Dept. of 
Food and Agriculture as an 
agricultural fertilizer qualify as 
"procurement products" under 
SB 1383 requirements. 

Support / submitted 
support letter to Asm. 
Wilson 

Two-year bill – 
in progress 

Federal Regulations 
8/14/2025 U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency: Draft EPA 
Sewage Sludge Risk 
Assessment presented an 
extremely conservative 
representation of a farm 
family’s exposure to PFAS 
from biosolids-derived 
fertilizers. 

Oppose / submitted 
comment letter to 
USEPA 

Pending 

 
Looking ahead, the District is monitoring the following key legislative and regulatory issues 
in the upcoming year: 

• PFAS Limitations: The District will continue to evaluate proposed legislative and 
regulatory actions on PFAS. The District will seek to support bills and regulations 
that hold producers of PFAS chemicals liable for cleanup costs rather than local 
communities. The District will advocate for controlling PFAS at the source rather 
than at wastewater treatment plant discharges. 

• Passive Receiver Protection: The District will continue to support Federal efforts 
to protect local governments, including cities and special districts, and contractors 
that support those cities and special districts (collectively, “passive receivers” of 
PFAS), from liability for PFAS contamination under the Federal Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA).  As above, 
the District will support legislation that ensures that the chemical producers and 
users are held liable for cleanup costs rather than local governments who neither 
produce nor utilize such chemicals. 

• Biosolids Disposal Options and Renewable Reuse: The District is supporting AB 
643, authored by Asm. Lori Wilson and sponsored by Lystek International, to 
include biosolids-derived, certified fertilizer products as eligible “procurement 
products” under SB 1383. This means that cities can get credit for use of these 
fertilizer products and are not limited to only composting as a means of compliance. 
Similarly, the District will advocate for flexibility in biosolids disposal and treatment 
options. 



Receive Annual Report in Accordance with Policy 1055, Legislative and Regulatory 
Advocacy Policy  
January 12, 2026 
Page 3 of 3 
 

   
 

• Infrastructure Funding: With a significant capital improvement program on the 
horizon, the District will continue to advocate at the State and Federal level for 
investment in the Clean Water State Revolving Fund loan program, and in other 
grants and bonds aimed at improving aging wastewater infrastructure. 

 
Fiscal Impact: There is no fiscal impact related to the report out for Policy 1055, 
Legislative and Advocacy. 
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
 

Item No. 6.4 

January 12, 2026  
 
AGENDA REPORT 
 
TO:   Executive Committee/Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Melanie Wildeman, Accountant 
 
SUBJECT:  Designate “Responsible Person” for Form 1095-C Filings  
 
 
Recommendation: Approve Resolution 2026-XX Authorizing the Accountant or Senior 
Accountant to Oversee and Complete Form 1095-C Filings  
 
Background: Under the Affordable Care Act (ACA), and IRC Section 6056, Applicable 
Large Employers (ALEs), which is defined as those with 50 or more full-time employees, 
are required to file IRS Form 1095-C annually. This requirement is based on Internal 
Revenue Code §6056 and its implementing regulations, including Treasury Regulation 
§301.6056-1. Specifically, §301.6056-1(k)(1) outlines how a government agency must 
designate a “Responsible Person” to handle ACA reporting. To comply, the Board of 
Directors must pass a resolution appointing an employee to oversee the filing of Form 
1095-C filings. The designation of a person to file and furnish returns under IRC §6056 
does not relieve the District, as the Applicable Large Employer, of responsibility for 
compliance or liability for penalties. 
 
Discussion: The District’s Accountant or Senior Accountant has the expertise and 
familiarity with both IRS reporting requirements and payroll and benefits data necessary 
to ensure accurate and timely completion of Form 1095-C filings. By formally 
authorizing the Accountant or Senior Accountant to oversee and complete these filings, 
the Board ensures regulatory compliance with ACA and IRS requirements and accuracy 
in reporting employee health coverage information.  
 
Fiscal Impact: None. 
 
 
Attachment: 1 – Resolution No. 2026-XX 
 



FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-XX 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING ACCOUNTANT OR SENIOR ACCOUNTANT TO 
OVERSEE AND COMPLETE FORM 1095-C FILINGS 

WHEREAS, this Resolution is necessary to comply with IRC Section 6056, which 
sets forth the Affordable Care Act (ACA) health coverage reporting and employee 
disclosure rules for applicable large employers; and, 

WHEREAS, Treasury Regulation 301.6056-1(k)(1), mandates that large employers 
must report certain health insurance coverage information to the IRS and furnish related 
employee statements; and  

WHEREAS, Treasury Regulation 301.6056-1(k)(1), sets forth rules for how the 
Responsible Person at a Governmental Agency must be “appropriately designated” for ACA 
reporting requirements; and 

WHEREAS, the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District is required under IRC Section 6056, 
and Treasury Regulation 301.6056-1(k)(1) to prepare and file Form 1095-C in compliance 
with the Affordable Care Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT THAT: 

1. The District hereby authorizes the Accountant or Senior Accountant to oversee
and complete Form 1095-C filings for the tax year 2025 and subsequent years.

2. The District complies with the requirements of Treasury Regulation 301.6056-
1(k)(1), and IRC Section 6056 relating to preparing and filing Form 1095-C in
compliance with the Affordable Care Act.

3. The General Manager is authorized and directed to take all steps necessary and
proper to implement this resolution.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 26th day of January 2026, by the following vote: 

AYES: Directors 

NOES: Directors 

ABSTAIN: Directors 

ABSENT: Directors 

President 
ATTEST: 

  District Clerk 

Attachment 1



   
 

 

FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
 

January 12, 2026  
 
AGENDA REPORT 
 
TO:   Executive Committee 
 
FROM:  Karl Ono, Senior Engineer 
 
SUBJECT:  Authorize Execution of Agreement for the Solano County Downtown 

Fairfield Justice Campus Asset Protection – Offsite Sanitary Sewer 
Improvements Project 

 
 
Recommendation: Authorize General Manager to execute an Improvement Agreement 
between the District, Solano County (County), and City of Fairfield for the Solano 
County Downtown Fairfield Justice Campus Asset Protection – Offsite Sanitary Sewer 
Improvements Project (Project). 
 
Background: The District owns and maintains existing 18-inch and 24-inch trunk sewer 
mains that are situated within existing public sanitary sewer easements and public 
service easements within Solano County’s Hall of Justice Campus on Texas Street in 
Fairfield. The County is proposing a FEMA-funded project to construct flood wall, 
security, and parking improvements at the Hall of Justice Campus. However, the 
proposed improvements would adversely affect the District’s access for ongoing 
maintenance and repair of the existing 18-inch and 24-inch trunk sewers.  
 
The Project is designed to address conflicts between the proposed flood control and 
security improvements by installing approximately 800 feet of 15-inch diameter trunk 
sewer main and other related facilities to be owned and maintained by the District, as 
well as approximately 1,000 feet of 6-inch, 8-inch, and 10-inch sewer main and other 
related facilities to be owned and maintained by the City of Farfield.  The new sewers 
will route sanitary sewer flows from nearby areas within the City of Fairfield away from 
the County’s Hall of Justice campus, and upon completion of the proposed sewer 
improvements, the existing 18-inch 24-inch trunk sewers within the Hall of Justice 
campus will no longer serve as public sewer facilities. The District may then quitclaim its 
rights to the existing easements that the existing trunk sewer mains are situated within. 
Attachment 1 indicates the proposed post-project sewer routing and ownership.  
 
The County’s FEMA funding requirements and timelines require approval and initiation 
of the flood control, security, and parking improvements prior to completion of the sewer 
rerouting project. The District and City of Fairfield require the County to enter into an 
Improvement Agreement for the installation of the proposed public sewer facilities. 
 

Item No. 6.5 
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the Solano County Downtown Fairfield Justice Campus Asset Protection Project – 
Offsite Sanitary Sewer Improvements 
January 12, 2026 
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Discussion: The County expects to complete the offsite sewer design, award a 
construction contract, and complete the offsite sewer improvements in 2026. The 
attached Agreement is based on the City of Fairfield’s standard Improvement 
Agreement, with modifications to reflect that the agreement is between public agencies 
and to include the District as a party to the agreement. Staff recommend the Board 
authorize the General Manager to enter into the three-agency Improvement Agreement 
to support completion of the sanitary sewer improvements, to mitigate the impacts of 
and to indemnify the District against any liability during the County’s sewer construction 
project.  

Fiscal Impact: The District will assume ownership of the public sanitary sewer trunk 
facilities and will be responsible for maintenance and operation. Future operation and 
maintenance costs are expected to be offset by the costs for facilities that are proposed 
to be abandoned and/or privatized under the proposed project. 

Attachments: 1 – Figure of Sewer Routing Post-Project 
2 – Resolution No. 2026-XX 
3 –Improvement Agreement (TO BE INCLUDED IN BOARD AGENDA) 
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-XX 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE SOLANO COUNTY DOWNTOWN 

FAIRFIELD JUSTICE CAMPUS ASSET PROTECTION PROJECT – OFFSITE 
SANITARY SEWER IMPROVEMENTS 

WHEREAS, the Solano County Department of General Services has 
undertaken FEMA-funded flood barrier and security improvements at the County’s 
existing Hall of Justice campus; and 

WHEREAS, the District owns and operates existing trunk sewer mains that are 
situated within existing public sanitary sewer easements and public service easements 
within the Hall of Justice campus; and 

WHEREAS, the County’s proposed flood wall and security improvements would 
adversely affect the District’s access for ongoing maintenance and future rehabilitation 
or replacement of the existing sewer mains situated on the Hall of Justice campus; 
and  

WHEREAS, District, City of Fairfield, and County staff have partnered to 
propose a County sub-project to design and construct new sewer mains to reroute 
existing sewer flows around the Hall of Justice campus, eliminating adverse impacts, 
and allowing for the future privatization of onsite sewer mains and ability to quitclaim 
existing easements and related restrictions; and 

WHEREAS, the County’s FEMA funding requirements and timelines require 
approval and initiation of the flood control and related improvements prior to 
completion of the sewer rerouting sub-Project; and 

WHEREAS, the District, City and County staff have proposed an Improvement 
Agreement between all parties to ensure the offsite sewer work would be constructed. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
THE FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT: 

1. The foregoing Recitals are true and correct and made a part of this
Resolution.

2. The General Manager/District Engineer is hereby authorized to execute an
Improvement Agreement with Solano County and City of Fairfield for the
Solano County Downtown Fairfield Justice Campus Asset Projection
Project – Offsite Sanitary Sewer Improvements Project.

3. The General Manager/District Engineer is hereby authorized and directed
to do all things necessary and proper to implement this resolution.

Attachment 2
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PASSED AND ADOPTED this 26th day of January 2026, by the following vote: 

AYES:  Directors __________________________________________ 

NOES: Directors __________________________________________ 

ABSTAIN: Directors __________________________________________ 

ABSENT: Directors __________________________________________ 

__________________________________________ 
   President 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
District Clerk 
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January 12, 2026 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO:   Executive Committee 

FROM: Kyle Broughton, Senior Engineer 

SUBJECT:  Lopes Road Lift Station Improvements – Authorize General 
Manager/District Engineer to execute a Right of Entry Agreement with City 
of Fairfield 

Recommendation: Authorize General Manger/District Engineer to execute a Right of 
Entry Agreement with City of Fairfield for access, and contractor laydown yard for the 
construction of Lopes Road Lift Station Improvements. 

Background: The District is currently in the final design phase for improvements to 
Lopes Road Lift Station. The lift station parcel has limited space for construction of the 
improvements, which will require maintaining continuous operations during construction 
including during temporary sewer bypass operations.   

City of Fairfield owns the storm water detention basins parcel (APN No. 0180-432-020) 
directly to the south of the lift station parcel that also provides a secondary access to 
Lopes Road Lift Station.  Due to the space limitations on the pump station parcel it is 
desirable to utilize the City’s parcel for a contractor lay down and staging area to allow 
continuous access to work area and to minimize impacts to street parking on Andante 
Way in the Goldhill Village neighborhood. 

The City requires Right of Entry Agreements for encroachments of this type and 
duration for liability purposes that ultimately require City Council’s approval.  The City’s 
standard agreement was utilized, modified for the anticipated project duration of two 
years, and will apply to the District and its construction contractor. The agreement and a 
figure illustrating the proposed staging area are attached to this report. 

Discussion: The District expects to bid the project in early 2026 and recommend 
construction contract award in the Spring of 2026. Execution of the Right of Entry 
Agreement will secure the laydown and staging area for the project. 

Fiscal Impact: The District expects to bid the project in early 2026 and recommend 
construction contract award in the Spring of 2026. Execution of the Right of Entry 
Agreement will secure the laydown and staging area for the project. 

Item No. 6.6 

FAIRFIELD-SUISUN  SEWER DISTRICT
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Attachments: 1 – Resolution No. 2026-XX 
2 – Draft Right of Entry Agreement with City of Fairfield for Lopes Rd. Lift 
Station Improvements 



FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-XX 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO EXECUTE RIGHT 
OF ENTRY AGREEMENT FOR LOPES ROAD LIFT STATION IMPROVEMENTS 

WHEREAS, the District intends on proceeding with construction of the Lopes 
Road Lift Station Improvements Project (Project), and the District’s Board of Directors 
is the decision-making body for the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Lopes Road Lift Station Parcel has limited space for 
construction of the improvements; and 

WHEREAS, City of Fairfield owns the storm water detention basin parcel (APN 
No. 0180-432-020) directly to the south of the lift station parcel and it is desirable to 
utilize the City’s parcel for a staging and lay down area to minimize impacts to street 
parking in the neighborhood; and  

WHEREAS, City of Fairfield requires Right of Entry Agreements for 
encroachments of this type and the duration of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, District staff recommends that the Board of Directors authorize the 
General Manager/District Engineer to execute the Right of Entry Agreement with City 
of Fairfield. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
THE FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT: 

1. The foregoing Recitals are true and correct and made a part of this Resolution.

2. The General Manager/District Engineer is hereby authorized to execute a
Right of Entry Agreement with City of Fairfield for a contractor staging and
laydown area for construction of the Lopes Road Lift Station Improvements
Project.

3. The General Manager/District Engineer is hereby authorized and directed to
do all things necessary and proper to implement this resolution.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 26th day of January 2026, by the following vote: 

AYES:  Directors __________________________________________ 

NOES: Directors __________________________________________ 

ABSTAIN: Directors __________________________________________ 

ABSENT: Directors __________________________________________ 

__________________________________________ 
   President 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
District Clerk 

Attachment 1
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

Item No. 6.7 

January 12, 2026 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO: Executive Committee 

FROM: Karl Ono, Senior Engineer 
Irene O’Sullivan, Engineering Manager 

SUBJECT:  Authorize Execution of a Cost-Sharing Agreement with the City of Fairfield 
and the City of Suisun City for the Collection System Master Plan 

Recommendation: Authorize the Board President to sign a cost-sharing Agreement 
with the City of Fairfield and the City of Suisun City for the Collection System Master 
Plan (Project). 

Background: On July 28, 2025, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute 
a Consulting Services Contract with Woodard & Curran, Inc. (W&C) in an amount not to 
exceed $1,172,865 for master planning and engineering services for the Project. The 
Project includes certain scope elements that would allow the Cities collection system 
assets to be added to a combined hydraulic model and support development of 
coordinated collection system Capital Improvement Plans for the Cities and District. 

Discussion: Staff from both Cities and the District anticipate several benefits 
associated with completing a joint master plan effort; including cost and schedule 
efficiencies compared to conducting separate studies, development of coordinated 
Capital Improvement Plans between the three agencies, and an enhanced ability to 
partner on individual projects from planning through construction. For efficiency, the 
District is willing to administer the Cities’ portions of the Project in partnership with staff 
from both Cities. 

Fiscal Impact: The attached cost-sharing Agreement specifies the estimated consultant 
costs for master planning and engineering services that are proposed to be funded by 
each agency. Specifically, the agreement authorizes up to $254,976 of project costs to 
be reimbursed by City of Fairfield and $191,712 to be reimbursed by the City of Suisun 
City. Because the Capital Improvement Plans developed under the Project will support 
implementation of the Cities’ Collection System Rehabilitation and Replacement (R&R) 
programs, the agreement also authorizes funds from each City’s Collection System 
R&R Reserve Fund to cover reimbursement of Project Costs. 
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Attachments:  1 – Resolution No. 2026-XX – A Resolution Authorizing Execution of A 
Cost-Sharing Agreement Between Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District and the 
Cities of Fairfield and Suisun City Regarding Sewer Collection System 
Master Planning Services 
2 – Agreement Between Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District and the Cities of 
Fairfield and Suisun City Regarding Sewer Collection System Master 
Planning Services 



FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-XX 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A COST-SHARING AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT AND THE CITIES OF FAIRFIELD AND SUISUN 
CITY REGARDING SEWER COLLECTION SYSTEM MASTER PLANNING SERVICES 

WHEREAS, the District wishes to update its Collection System Master Plan (CSMP) 
to account for changes in growth assumptions associated with updated City General Plans 
and update its Collection System Asset Management Plan (CSAMP) to account for updated 
asset condition data obtained over the past five years (“Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Cities of Fairfield and Suisun City wish to join their sewer assets into 
the District’s CSMP and CSAMP models and plan as a single, coordinated collection 
system; and 

WHEREAS, the District is willing to administer the Cities’ portions of the Project 
Scope with the District’s portion of the Project Scope and to otherwise administer the overall 
“Project” on the District and Cities’ behalf; and 

WHEREAS, on July 28, 2025, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute 
a Consulting Services Contract with Woodard & Curran, Inc. (W&C) in an amount not to 
exceed $1,172,865 for master planning and engineering services for the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the District and Cities wish to enter into an Agreement Regarding Sewer 
Collection System Master Planning Services to establish Project roles, responsibilities, and 
terms for cost sharing and payment. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT: 

1. The foregoing Recitals are true and correct and made a part of this Resolution.

2. The Board authorizes finalizing and entering into a cost-sharing Agreement
Regarding Sewer Collection System Master Planning Services with the City of
Fairfield and the City of Suisun City.

3. The General Manager is hereby authorized and directed to do all things
necessary and proper to implement this resolution.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 26th day of January 2026, by the following vote: 

AYES:  Directors __________________________________________ 

NOES: Directors __________________________________________ 

ABSTAIN: Directors __________________________________________ 

ABSENT: Directors __________________________________________ 

__________________________________________ 
   President 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
District Clerk 

Attachment 1
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AGREEMENT BETWEEN FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT AND  
CITIES OF FAIRFIELD AND SUISUN CITY 

REGARDING SEWER COLLECTION SYSTEM MASTER PLANNING SERVICES 

This Agreement (“AGREEMENT”) is entered into and effective as of __________________, 
2025 by and between the FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT, a special district organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of California (“DISTRICT”) the CITY OF FAIRFIELD, a municipal 
corporation, and the CITY OF SUISUN CITY, a municipal corporation; herein individually called 
“CITY” or collectively called “CITIES.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, DISTRICT is updating its sewer Collection System Master Plan (CSMP, “Project”) 
to account for changes in growth assumptions based on updated City General Plans, update its Collection 
System Asset Management Plan (CSAMP) model with asset condition data obtained over the past five 
years, and integrate project recommendations from the CSMP and CSAMP into a combined CSMP 
document and planning tool; and   

WHEREAS, DISTRICT and CITIES wish to join their sewer assets into the District’s CSMP and 
CSAMP models to plan as a single, connected collection system, decrease total planning costs, and 
potentially identify opportunities for construction efficiency between DISTRICT and CITIES; and 

WHEREAS, DISTRICT is willing to administer the CITIES’ portions of the Project Scope and 
DISTRICT’s portion of the Project Scope together and to otherwise administer Project on CITIES’ behalf 
under the terms and conditions set forth herein; and 

WHEREAS, CITIES wish to contract with DISTRICT to have DISTRICT administer the 
CITIES’ Project Scope in conjunction with the DISTRICT Project Scope (collectively the “Combined 
Project”); and 

WHEREAS, on July 1, 2022, DISTRICT and CITIES entered into a Seventh Amendment to the 
1965 Agreement for collection of sanitary sewer charges, which established Collection System 
Rehabilitation/Replacement (R/R) Reserve Funds, to be funded by the DISTRICT and used for 
rehabilitation and/or replacement of collection system assets owned by CITIES;  

TERMS 

NOW, THEREFORE, DISTRICT and CITIES agree as follows: 

1. Project Definition and Scope of Services.
A. Combined Project Scope of Services.  DISTRICT, in consultation with the CITIES, has

developed the scope of work for the Combined Project.  Staff from both CITIES were
included in scope development meetings and invited to review and provide comments, which
have been incorporated into the Combined Project Scope.  The Combined Project scope of
services is included as “Exhibit A” to this AGREEMENT.

B. Itemized Breakdown of Tasks between District and Cities .  DISTRICT and CITIES
acknowledge that certain elements of the Combined Project Scope are directly attributable to

Attachment 2
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each particular agency, while others provide mutual benefit and cannot be practically broken 
down into individual tasks attributable to each party.  An itemized breakdown of tasks 
included within the Combined Project scope of services, and the proportional share of each 
task attributable to DISTRICT and each CITY is included as “Exhibit B” to this 
AGREEMENT.   

C. Project Modification.  The Combined Project Scope (“Exhibit A”) may be modified during
the course of work as necessary to address unforeseen conditions, increases or reductions in
scope, or otherwise. The modifications shall be in the form of contract amendments between
the DISTRICT and Combined Project consultant, and will be approved in accordance with
DISTRICT’s Purchasing Policy (Policy No. 2135). It is acknowledged that such contract
amendments may or may not increase or decrease the overall cost of the Combined Project.
The estimated costs of Project work attributable to each CITY, as described in Section 3
below, identify component costs including a contingency. DISTRICT and the CITIES agree
that all contract amendments will be discussed at regularly scheduled project meetings, and
that any contract amendments that alter either CITY’s Project work and costs shall require
written approval by the affected CITY’s Director of Public Works, with such approvals or
disapprovals made on a timely basis so as not to disrupt the project timeline or result in
additional project costs due to time delays.

2. Implementation of the Project.
A. Procurement.  DISTRICT will conduct and be responsible for the procurement of all

contracts associated with the implementation of the Combined Project, including selecting
and awarding a qualified consultant to perform the Combined Project scope of Services.
Procurements shall follow DISTRICT’s Purchasing Policy (Policy No. 2135). CITIES may
participate in the selection process by reviewing proposals and bids, and providing timely
comments to DISTRICT, but the final selection of contractors and consultants shall be made
by DISTRICT.

B. Project Management.  DISTRICT shall be responsible for project management and
administration of the Combined Project. DISTRICT will also be responsible for all
DISTRICT staff costs, and other direct costs related to oversight of elements of the Combined
Project scope attributable to DISTRICT.  CITIES will be responsible for all CITY staff costs
and other direct costs related to oversight of elements of the Combined Project scope
attributable to CITIES, including data collection and review and adoption of project
deliverables.

3. Project Cost, Payments, and Compensation.
A. Project Cost Paid by the CITIES.  CITIES agree to be responsible for and pay those costs

associated with the Project Scope per Sections 3(B) and 3(C) below.  If either CITY hires
third-party design consultants, inspectors, or others to aid in the implementation and/or
oversight of the CITY’s Project scope, the respective CITY is responsible for paying for these
costs directly.

B. Amount of Project Cost Paid by the CITY OF FAIRFIELD.  This AGREEMENT authorizes
the CITY OF FAIRFIELD to pay all actual Combined Project expenses attributable to the
CITY OF FAIRFIELD as defined above in accordance with the maximums and procedures in
this Section 3. The CITY OF FAIRFIELD’s Project Scope is estimated to cost that amount
set forth below (“Estimated Cost”):

$204,976 for Collection System Master Planning Services 
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further identified in “Exhibit B” 
$50,000 Contingency 

$ 254,976 Total 

Any amounts over the Estimated Cost shall require an amendment to this AGREEMENT 
prior to encumbrance of those costs. CITY OF FAIRFIELD agrees not to withhold its 
agreement for reasonable expenses related to implementation of the Project scope attributable 
to CITY OF FAIRFIELD.  All parties agree to proceed with the project acknowledging that if 
the Project scope attributable to CITY OF FAIRFIELD exceeds resources available to CITY 
OF FAIRFIELD, the Project scope attributable to CITY OF FAIRFIELD may not be 
completed. 

C. Amount of Project Cost Paid by the CITY OF SUISUN CITY.  This AGREEMENT authorizes
the CITY OF SUISUN CITY to pay all actual Combined Project expenses attributable to the
CITY OF SUISUN CITY as defined above in accordance with the maximums and procedures
in this Section 3. The CITY OF SUISUN CITY’s Project Scope is estimated to cost that
amount set forth below (“Estimated Cost”):

$151,712 for Collection System Master Planning Services 
further identified in “Exhibit B”  

$40,000 Contingency 

$191,712 Total 

Any amounts over the Estimated Cost shall require an amendment to this AGREEMENT 
prior to encumbrance of those costs. CITY OF SUISUN CITY agrees not to withhold its 
agreement for reasonable expenses related to implementation of the Project scope attributable 
to CITY OF SUISUN CITY.  All parties agree to proceed with the project acknowledging 
that if the Project scope attributable to CITY OF SUISUN CITY exceeds resources available 
to CITY OF SUISUN CITY, the Project scope attributable to CITY OF SUISUN CITY may 
not be completed. 

D. Project Cost Paid by DISTRICT.  DISTRICT agrees to be responsible for and pay all actual
Combined Project expenses attributable to the DISTRICT per Section 3(E) below.  If the
DISTRICT hires third-party design consultants, inspectors, or others to aid in the
implementation and/or oversight of the DISTRICT’s Project scope, the DISTRICT is
responsible for paying for these costs directly.

E. Amount of Project Cost Paid by DISTRICT.  Portions of the Combined Project scope
attributable to DISTRICT are estimated to cost as follows:

$675,687 Total 

F. Payment Upon Invoice.
(i) Invoices.  In accordance with Sections 3(B) and 3(C) CITIES shall

reimburse DISTRICT the costs incurred by DISTRICT to complete the portions of the
Combined Project scope attributable to each CITY. DISTRICT shall present invoices no
more frequent than monthly and include the selected consultant’s invoice(s) and any
approved amendments for work listed in Section 3(B) and 3(C) above. After review and



Page 4 of 8 

approval of invoices by each CITY’s Director of Public Works or designee, approval of 
which shall not take more than fifteen (15) calendar days from the DISTRICT’s issuance to 
the CITY, invoices shall be forwarded to the CITY’s Finance Department for payment to 
DISTRICT within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Finance Department. 

Alternatively, upon review and approval of invoices by each CITY’s Director of 
Public Works or designee, each CITY may direct District to draw a portion of the invoiced 
amount from the respective CITY’s Collection System R/R Reserve fund.  The maximum 
amount authorized to be drawn from each CITY’s Collection System R/R Reserve fund under 
this agreement is set forth below: 

$XX,XXX from City of Fairfield’s Collection System R/R Reserve Fund 
$XX,XXX from City of Suisun City’s Collection System R/R Reserve Fund 

(ii) Interest on Overdue Invoices.  CITIES agree that approved invoices that
are not paid within the time established in Section 3 (F)(i) above shall be assessed a one 
percent (1%) per month interest charge, and that CITIES agree to pay and shall be financially 
responsible for such interest charges to the DISTRICT.  Interest charges shall not accrue if a 
CITY reasonably disputes an invoice. 

(iii) Use of Reserve Funds for Delinquent Payments. CITIES agree that
invoices presented by the DISTRICT to each CITY as outlined in Section 3(F)(i), that are not 
paid within ninety (90) calendar days from the DISTRICT’s issuance to the CITY, shall be 
subject to direct reimbursement from the respective CITY’s Collection System R/R Reserve 
Fund. The DISTRICT will deduct and reduce from the respective CITY’s Collection System 
Reserve Fund, the outstanding invoice amount plus interest (Section 3 (F)(ii)) on the overdue 
invoice to supplement the payment due to the DISTRICT.  

4. Adoption and Actions Taken based on Project Results.
A. Adoption of the Project.  Prior to DISTRICT accepting the work of the selected consultant

and/or adopting any deliverables, DISTRICT shall issue draft copies to each CITY for review
and address any outstanding comments identified by either CITY related to the Project scope
attributable to that CITY and request CITY accept the response. Each CITY may choose to
adopt elements of deliverables produced under the Combined Project Scope at their
discretion.

B. Project Recommendations.  Upon Project completion, CITIES will assume full discretion and
responsibility for implementation of any or all recommendations identified by the Project
attributable to facilities owned and maintained by each respective CITY.  At DISTRICT’s
discretion, DISTRICT will assume responsibility for implementation of any
recommendations identified as a result of the Project attributable to facilities owned and
maintained by DISTRICT.

5. Access to Records / Document Retention.
DISTRICT will maintain Combined Project deliverables and other information regarding the
implementation of the Combined Project for at least seven (7) years following completion of the
project. Financial records associated with the Combined Project, including payables records,
receivable records and grants receivable records, shall be maintained at least seven (7) fiscal years
after the transactions are recorded.  CITIES, or the duly authorized representatives of the CITIES,
shall have access to any books, documents, papers and records of the DISTIRCT which are directly
pertinent to the subject matter of this AGREEMENT for the purpose of making audit, examination,
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excerpts and transcriptions.  Except where longer retention is required by any federal or state law, 
DISTRICT shall maintain all required records for at least seven (7) years after CITIES make final 
payment for any of the work authorized hereunder and all pending matters are closed, whichever is 
later. 

6. Term of the Agreement.
The term of this AGREEMENT shall commence on the date first above written and shall continue
through the DISTRICT’s payment of the final consultant invoice and DISTRICT’s written
confirmation of completion of the Combined Project; except that the obligations of the parties under
Paragraph 7 (Indemnification) shall continue in full force and effect after said expiration date or
early termination in relation to acts or omissions occurring prior to such dates during the term of the
AGREEMENT, and the obligations of DISTRICT to CITIES shall also continue after said expiration
date or early termination in relation to the obligations prescribed by Paragraph 5 (Access to
Records/Retention).

7. Indemnification.
A. By DISTRICT.  DISTRICT shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend, in any actions at law

or in equity, the Cities, their officers, employees, agents, and elective and appointive boards,
from all claims, losses, damage, including property damage, personal injury, including death,
and liability of every kind, nature and description, including attorneys’ fees, to the extent
arising from District’s operations, or from any persons directly or indirectly employed by, or
acting as agent for, District, excepting the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the Cities.

B. By CITIES.  CITIES shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend, in any actions at law or in
equity, the DISTRICT, its officers, employees, agents, and elective and appointive boards,
from all claims, losses, damage, including property damage, personal injury, including death,
and liability of every kind, nature and description, including attorneys’ fees, to the extent
arising from CITIES’ operations, or from any persons directly or indirectly employed by, or
acting as agent for, CITIES, excepting the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the
DISTRICT.

C. Each party shall notify the other party immediately in writing of any claim or damage related
to activities performed under this AGREEMENT.  The parties shall cooperate with each other
in the investigation and disposition of any claim arising out of the activities under this
AGREEMENT, providing that nothing shall require either party to disclose any documents,
records or communications that are protected under peer review privilege, attorney-client
privilege, or attorney work product privilege.

8. Ongoing Duties and Responsibilities. In addition to the parties' duties and responsibilities as
described in other sections of this AGREEMENT, the parties acknowledge and agree to perform the
following on an ongoing basis during the time that the Project is under implementation:

A. Regular Staff Meetings. The respective staffs of CITIES and DISTRICT, and their retained
consultants or contractors, will meet as needed to address matters contained in this
AGREEMENT.

B. Commitment of Staff and Resources. CITIES and DISTRICT agree to assign and provide
sufficient staff and/or resources to this process to efficiently meet the goals and tasks set forth
in this AGREEMENT.
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9. Warranty of Legal Authority. Each party warrants and covenants that it has the present legal
authority to enter into this AGREEMENT and to perform the acts required of it hereunder. If any
party is found to lack the authority to perform the acts required of it hereunder or is prevented from
performing the acts by a court of competent jurisdiction, this AGREEMENT shall be void.

10. Severability. If any provision of this AGREEMENT, or any portion thereof, is found by any court
of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable or invalid for any reason, such provision shall be
severable and shall not in any way impair the enforceability of any other provision of this
AGREEMENT.

11. Dispute Resolution. The parties agree to negotiate in good faith any disputes or disagreements
arising from this AGREEMENT.  In the event that the parties cannot come to agreement within a
reasonable period of time, the parties agree to the use of a third party, independent mediator to help
the parties come to mutual agreement.  The parties agree not to seek remedy or dispute resolution
through the courts without first attempting in good faith to resolve the dispute through negotiation or
mediation, but in no way does this requirement limit the rights of either party to seek redress through
legal action.

12. Attorneys' Fees. In the event that either party commences legal action of any kind or character to
enforce the provisions of this AGREEMENT or to obtain damages for breach thereof, the prevailing
party in such litigation shall be entitled to all costs and reasonable attorney's fees incurred in
connection with such action.

13. No Waiver. The waiver by either party of any breach or violation of any requirement of this
AGREEMENT shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any such breach in the future, or of the breach
of any other requirement of this AGREEMENT.

14. Notices. All notices required or authorized by this AGREEMENT shall be in writing and shall be
delivered in person or by deposit in the United States mail, by certified mail, postage prepaid, return
receipt requested.  Any mailed notice, demand, request, consent, approval or communication that
either party desires to give the other party shall be addressed to the other party at the address set
forth below. Any notice sent by mail in the manner prescribed by this paragraph shall be deemed to
have been received on the date noted on the return receipt or five days following the date of deposit,
whichever is earlier.

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District: 
General Manager 
1010 Chadbourne Rd. 
Fairfield, CA 94534 

City of Fairfield: 
Director of Public Works 
1000 Webster St. 
Fairfield, CA 94533 

City of Suisun City: 
Director of Public Works 
701 Civic Center Blvd. 
Suisun City, CA 94585 
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Changes may be made in addresses to where notices are to be delivered by giving notice pursuant to 
this provision. 

15. Entire Agreement. This AGREEMENT, including any documents expressly incorporated by
reference whether or not attached hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties
relating to the subject of this AGREEMENT and supersedes all previous agreements, promises,
representations, understandings and negotiations, whether written or oral, among the parties with
respect to the subject matter hereof.

16. Amendment / Modification. Except as specifically provided herein, this AGREEMENT may be
modified or amended only in writing and with the prior written consent of both parties.  In particular,
only each CITY acting through its Council in the form of an amendment of this AGREEMENT, may
authorize extra and/or changed work if beyond the scope of services prescribed in Sections 1 and 3
above.  Failure of DISTRICT to secure such authorization in writing in advance of performing any
of the extra or changed work shall constitute a waiver of any and all rights to adjustment in the costs
to be paid by the affected CITY and no compensation shall be paid for such extra work.

17. Recitals Adopted. The parties hereby agree to and adopt the AGREEMENT recitals as portions of
the AGREEMENT.

18. Termination.  This AGREEMENT may be terminated by any party for any reason prior to
DISTRICT authorizing the selected consultant to proceed with Combined Project by giving
written notice of such termination to all parties;  provided, however, that no such termination may
be effected unless an opportunity for consultation is provided prior to the effective date of the
termination. CITIES hereby authorize each of their City Managers to make all decisions and take
all actions required under this Paragraph to terminate this AGREEMENT on behalf of each CITY
for the convenience of the CITY.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this AGREEMENT was executed by the parties hereto as of the 
date first above written. 

CITY OF FAIRFIELD 

By:  
Mayor 

CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

By:  
Mayor 

FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

By:  
President, Board of Directors 
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APPROVED AS TO FORM 
City of Fairfield 

By: 
City Attorney 

ATTEST 
City of Fairfield 

By: 
City Clerk 

APPROVED BY THE CITY OF 
FARFIELD  

Date: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
City of Suisun City 

By: 
City Attorney 

ATTEST 
City of Suisun City 

By: 
City Clerk 

APPROVED BY THE CITY OF 
SUISUN CITY 

Date: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 

By: 
District Counsel 

ATTEST 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 

By: 
District Clerk 

APPROVED BY THE 
FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER 

DISTRICT  
Date: 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Exhibit A – Combined Project Scope of Services 

Exhibit B – Itemized Task and Cost Breakdown Between Agencies 
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Exhibit A 

Collection System Master Plan Update 

Scope of Services 
 

The scope of services presented below details Woodard & Curran’s proposed work plan to update 

the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (District/FSSD) Collection System Master Plan.  All deliverables, 

including meeting agenda, presentations, and minutes, Technical Memoranda (TMs), reports, and 

data will be submitted electronically.  All meetings and workshops will be conducted virtually via 

MS Teams unless indicated otherwise in this Scope of Services. 

Woodard & Curran, as the prime consultant, will provide overall project management and lead the 

tasks related to hydraulic modeling and capacity assessment, preparation of the Master Plan 

report, and development of the “model viewer” application.  Carollo, as subconsultant to Woodard 

& Curran, will lead the update of the InfoAsset Planner (IAP) model, development of rehabilitation 

and replacement (R&R) solutions, and update of the District’s funding model.  Woodard & Curran 

and Carollo will both be involved in developing the capital improvement plans.  Woodard & Curran 

and Carollo are referred to as the “project team” in this scope of services. 

Task 1 – Project Management 

This task includes meetings and coordination with the District, the Cities of Fairfield and Suisun 

City (Cities), and the project team, as well as contract and subcontract administration, budget and 

schedule tracking, progress reporting, and implementation of Woodard & Curran’s quality 

assurance/quality control (QA/QC) program.  

Subtask 1.1 – Project Administration 

Woodard & Curran will use the Integrated Schedule and Budget Management (ISBM) approach to 

monitor project budget and schedule throughout the project.  This subtask also includes 

subcontract administration, preparation of invoices, and preparation of monthly progress reports 

to document the work completed during the previous month, anticipated work for the coming 

month, and any project issues and decisions made. 

Subtask 1.2 – Progress Meetings and Communication 

The project team will participate in an in-person project kickoff meeting and monthly 

teleconference progress meetings during the project. The meetings will be attended by Woodard 

& Curran’s project manager and project team members as needed.  Additional, informal 

teleconference check-ins may be held if needed.  In addition to progress meetings, there will be 

project workshop meetings and training, which are included in their respective tasks below. 

Woodard & Curran will prepare agenda and minutes for the kick-off meeting and progress 

meetings; action items and decisions will be documented in meeting minutes.   
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Subtask 1.3 – Quality Assurance/Quality Control 

Woodard & Curran will hold an internal Senior Technical Approach Review (STAR) workshop at the 

start of the project.  The STAR Workshop brings together the project team, Woodard & Curran 

technical review leads, and other technical experts to review the project scope, schedule and 

technical challenges to ensure that all project objectives will be met. Deliverables review and 

checking are included under respective tasks. 

Task 1 Deliverables: 

• Monthly invoices and progress reports

• Project schedule updates

• Meeting agenda and minutes

Task 1 Assumptions: 

• 18-month project duration

Task 2 – Data Collection and Review 

This task includes the collection and review of information regarding the existing wastewater 

collection system.   

Subtask 2.1 – Existing Information 

Woodard & Curran will prepare a data request list of additional or updated data and information 

that may be relevant to the study effort. The information may include additional data, facility 

information and other required information including but not limited to: 

• Current geographic information system (GIS) base mapping, including parcels, streets, and

other relevant layers

• Digital mapping related to the Cities’ existing land uses, general plan or other specific

planning areas, as available

• Record drawings of any sewer facilities for which up-to-date data is not included in the

current GIS

• Pump station data, record drawings and operating information

• Cities’ planning documents, including General Plan, Housing Element, and information on

development projects currently in the planning/permitting process (“projects in the

pipeline”)

• Water consumption data by parcel (e.g., monthly water use for winter months for past 2 to

3 years), as available

• Current and historical permanent (and any available recent temporary) flow meter data

• Historical rainfall records

• Operations and maintenance records and information on known sewer “hot spots”

• CCTV inspection data

• Rehabilitation project plans

• Historical cost data/bid tabulations from District and city sewer projects

• District’s and Cities’ design and construction standards

• Current Sewer System Management Plans

• Current 5-year Capital Improvement Plans
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In addition, Woodard & Curran will incorporate interview information with District and Cities’ 

engineering and operations staff to supplement the information available in documents, maps, 

and files.  An optional task has been included to perform survey, if needed (See Subtask 14.2) 

Task 2 Deliverables: 

• Data request list

• Manhole survey data (if surveys are authorized under Subtask 14.2)

Task 2 Assumptions: 

• Majority of data for the collection system sewers and manholes are available through the GIS

and previous models

Task 3 – Flow Monitoring 

This task will involve conducting a system-wide temporary flow monitoring program to collect data 

to quantify dry and wet weather flows.  The data will also be used in Task 5 to calibrate the hydraulic 

model.   

Subtask 3.1 – Prepare Flow Monitoring Plan 

Woodard & Curran will prepare a flow monitoring plan to describe the strategy for the flow 

monitoring program and identify recommended sites for meter and rain gauge placement. In 

preparing the plan, Woodard & Curran will solicit District and City staff input into the proposed 

meter locations. Fifteen (15) meters were installed for the 2018 program, which effectively captured 

flow from the major sewer basins. This task assumes 15 meters for this Master Plan Update. The 

plan will be submitted to the District for review and approval. 

Subtask 3.2 – Conduct Flow Monitoring Program 

After District’s approval of the plan, Woodard & Curran’s flow monitoring subcontractor, V&A 

Engineers (V&A), will install, calibrate and maintain the flow meters for up to three months (12 

weeks) during the 2025/26 wet weather season (likely during the December/January/February 

timeframe, to be determined jointly by Woodard & Curran and District).  Woodard & Curran will 

review flow monitoring site reports to confirm final flow meter locations and will periodically review 

the flow monitoring data during the flow monitoring periods to check data quality and consistency. 

V&A will also obtain rainfall data for locations throughout the service area from up to five (5) 

Weather Underground personal weather stations. 

V&A will provide final electronic data files (15-minute data) at the conclusion of the monitoring. 

Analysis of the flow monitoring data to quantify infiltration/inflow (I/I) and develop design flows is 

an integral part of model calibration and system performance evaluation and will be conducted as 

part of Tasks 5 and 6. 

Task 3 Deliverables: 

• Flow Monitoring Plan showing proposed meter sites and alternate sites, if applicable

• Flow Monitoring Data
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Task 3 Assumptions: 

• 15 area-velocity flow meters installed for a period of up to three months during the 2025/26 

wet weather season.  

• Rainfall data will be obtained from Weather Underground personal weather stations 

available on-line. 

• Includes approximately $5K of V&A labor effort to obtain encroachment permits. 

• District or City staff will assist with traffic control for any sites where more than standard 

traffic control measures are needed (alternately, District can authorize additional budget for 

third-party traffic control services); clean any meter sites if necessary prior to meter 

installation; and provide secure locations and access for rain gauge installation. 

Task 4 – Hydraulic Model Network Update 

Subtask 4.1 – Update FSSD Model Network.  Woodard & Curran will update the existing FSSD 

hydraulic model based on any changes and additions to the trunk sewer system made since the 

last update, as reflected in current GIS files and/or record drawings provided by the District.   

Subtask 4.2 – Develop City of Fairfield Network.  Woodard & Curran will expand the District’s 

sewer model to incorporate City of Fairfield sewers. The initial sewer data will include information 

from the City’s Heart of Fairfield sewer study, as well as data from the City’s GIS database. Following 

initial construction, a QA/QC process called “model validation” will be used to verify the data before 

beginning any model runs. This process includes checking network connectivity and data 

completeness and reasonableness for apparent discrepancies (e.g., negative pipe slopes, outlet 

pipe invert elevations higher than inlet invert elevations, etc.). Missing or suspect data will be 

resolved to the extent possible through review of available record drawings, field verification by 

City staff, or surveying (if authorized under Subtask 14.2). Model network will generally include all 

sewers where elevation data is available; for areas of the City’s system where data is missing from 

the GIS, assumptions based on minimum slope or best engineering judgement will be used, or the 

pipes omitted from the model.  

Task 4.2 Assumptions 

• Woodard & Curran will provide up to approximately 40 hours of model validation effort 

(including record drawing review and incorporating field-collected data). City will be 

responsible for rectifying any missing, erroneous, or inconsistent data (e.g., pipe diameters, 

invert elevations, etc.) needed for the model that cannot be readily resolved by Woodard & 

Curran.   

 

Subtask 4.3 – Develop City of Suisun City’s Network.  Woodard & Curran will expand the 

District’s sewer model to incorporate City Suisun City’s sewer. The initial sewer data will be based 

on the City’s GIS database. Following initial construction, a QA/QC process called “model 

validation” will be used to verify the data before beginning any model runs. This process includes 

checking network connectivity and data completeness and reasonableness for apparent 

discrepancies (e.g., negative pipe slopes, outlet pipe invert elevations higher than inlet invert 

elevations, etc.). Missing or suspect data will be resolved to the extent possible through review of 
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available record drawings, field verification by City staff, or surveying (if authorized under Subtask 

14.2).  

Task 4.3 Assumptions 

• Woodard & Curran will provide up to approximately 12 hours of model validation effort

(including record drawing review and incorporating field-collected data). City will be

responsible for rectifying any missing, erroneous, or inconsistent data (e.g., pipe diameters,

invert elevations, etc.) needed for the model that cannot be readily resolved by Woodard &

Curran.

Task 4 Assumptions 

• Model will be developed in InfoWorks ICM hydraulic modeling software; Woodard & Curran

will use its own software licenses for the modeling work.

Task 4 Deliverables: 

• Hydraulic model files (to be provided at end of project).

• Documentation of model development will be included in the TM on Model Development,

Calibration, and Flow Projections prepared after completion of Task 5 (see Task 5

Deliverables).

Task 5 – Update Flows and Growth Projections 

Subtask 5.1 – Existing Base Wastewater Flows 

Woodard & Curran will review existing data collected under Task 2 to determine the best approach 

for using this data to develop existing base wastewater flows.  It is anticipated that water use or 

sewer billing records will be the primary source of data for developing existing model loads. 

Commercial, industrial, and/or institutional users which may contribute significantly greater flows 

than average or exhibit atypical use patterns will be identified individually based on water use data 

or information provided by District or City staff.  Existing parcel loads will be parcel based, or 

aggregated to the model subcatchments if necessary.   

Subtask 5.2 – Model Calibration 

Woodard & Curran will use the flow monitoring data collected as part of this study to calibrate the 

hydraulic model.  The model will first be calibrated for dry weather flows to confirm the base 

wastewater flow estimates developed under Subtask 5.1, as well as to refine diurnal wastewater 

profiles and non-rainfall groundwater infiltration (GWI) rates.  GWI is estimated based on the 

difference between model-simulated base wastewater flows and observed flows at the meter sites, 

and expressed as a unit areal flow (gpd/acre) distributed uniformly to the meter tributary area.  

Wet weather parameters will be determined for each flow meter tributary area based on calibration 

to monitored storm events.   

For portions of the sewer system where flow monitoring is not performed, wet weather and GWI 

parameters will not be changed from previous model values. Pump station flow data will be used 

for confirmation of overall system flows. 
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Subtask 5.3 – Future Base Wastewater Flows 

Through the data collection efforts under Task 2 and interviews with Planning staff, Woodard & 

Curran will identify the most useful source of information for developing land use projections and 

parcel-based future wastewater loads.  Specific planning issues and potential growth or 

redevelopment areas in the cities, the potential timing of future development, as well as the best 

approach for incorporating future construction of accessory dwelling units (ADUs) in the flow 

projections will be discussed with the Cities’ Planning staff.  Based on these discussions and the 

information collected future land use information will be tabulated at the parcel level, drawing 

upon the various available sources of information described above.  The parcel-based land uses 

and flows developed in this subtask will be compiled in a GIS database for use in developing model 

loads. 

Subtask 5.4 – Technical Memorandum 

Findings from this task will be documented in a draft Technical Memorandum. 

Task 5 Deliverables: 

• Draft TM on Model Development, Calibration, and Flow Projections. Comments on the draft

TM will be incorporated in the final Master Plan report.

Task 5 Assumptions: 

• Up to two phasing scenarios will be analyzed, as defined by City and District staff. Additional

phasing analyses to identify project or phase triggers may be performed as part of other tasks

(see Subtasks 7.3 and 12.3).

Task 6 – Develop Performance Criteria 

Woodard & Curran will work with the District and Cities to review and update the criteria used to 

assess the capacity of the system and size capacity improvements. Woodard & Curran will review 

the District’s and Cities’ current sewer design criteria and standards, including criteria used in the 

previous Master Plan. Based on this review and discussions and decisions made with the District 

and Cities, Woodard & Curran will provide recommendations for design standard updates, as well 

as work with the agencies to update or refine the design storm and hydraulic criteria to be used 

for assessing the capacity of existing sewer facilities and sizing new facilities for this Master Plan.  

In addition to the design storm, these criteria will include Manning’s “n” factors; maximum d/D 

values or acceptable level of surcharge (or minimum freeboard); minimum and maximum 

velocities, slopes, and depth of cover; and pump station design and reliability considerations (e.g., 

firm capacity). Note that while the Cities and District will likely benefit from using the same design 

storm, different capacity criteria are often applied to smaller diameter sewers. Woodard & Curran 

will work with the Cities and District staff to identify appropriate criteria for each agency.  

A brief technical memorandum will be prepared to provide background information and 

recommendations for the District and Cities to review and serve as basis for discussion at a 

workshop to review and reach agreement on the criteria.  
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For fee estimating purposes, this task effort has been distributed evenly between the three 

agencies.  

Subtask 6.1 – Review FSSD Capacity Deficiency Criteria 

This subtask includes reviewing and updating the existing capacity deficiency criteria for FSSD, as 

described above.  

Subtask 6.2 – Develop City of Fairfield Capacity Deficiency Criteria 

This subtask includes developing capacity deficiency criteria for City of Fairfield, as described 

above.  

Subtask 6.3 – Develop City of Suisun City Capacity Deficiency Criteria 

This subtask includes developing capacity deficiency criteria for City of Suisun City, as described 

above.  

Subtask 6.4 – Climate Change Sensitivity Analysis 

This subtask includes a sensitivity analysis and discussion of a proposed approach to design storm 

consideration of climate change. Detailed analyses of climate change models is not part of this 

scope.  It is anticipated that the sensitivity analysis will be based on running the model with an 

alternate design storm (as developed and published by others) or an assumed increase in rainfall 

for the Master Plan design storm. 

Findings from this subtask will be discussed at the Task 7 workshop and incorporated into the 

Master Plan report.  

Task 6 Deliverables: 

• TM summarizing Design Flow and Hydraulic Criteria considerations. Comments on the draft

TM will be incorporated in the final Master Plan report.

• Workshop and workshop materials

Task 7 – Capacity Analysis 

Subtask 7.1 – Evaluate Existing System Performance 

Using the hydraulic model and based on the criteria established in Task 6, Woodard & Curran will 

evaluate the performance of the existing sewers under existing and future dry and design wet 

weather flows. Thematic maps and hydraulic gradeline plots will be prepared to present the 

identified capacity problem areas.   Woodard & Curran will develop preliminary solutions to 

capacity deficiencies and test those solutions in the model.  Preliminary solutions may include 

upsizing deficient pipes, optimizing existing or potential new flow diversions, or potential 

reduction of I/I in targeted areas.  Findings from this subtask will be discussed at a workshop and 

incorporated into the Master Plan report. 

Subtask 7.2 – Perform RDI/I Analysis 
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Woodard & Curran will evaluate the I/I flow characteristics associated with the different areas of 

the system (based on model results and flow monitoring data) and their location with respect to 

identified capacity deficiencies, and identify areas that may be suitable for rehabilitation efforts to 

reduce I/I. The hydraulic model will be used to evaluate various scenarios of I/I reduction (i.e., 

assumed percent reductions in targeted areas) to identify the amount of reductions that would be 

necessary to eliminate needed capacity improvement projects. Up to five (5) I/I reduction scenarios 

will be modeled. 

Findings from this subtask will be discussed at the workshop and incorporated into the Master 

Plan report.  

Subtask 7.3 – Analysis of Potential Service Area Expansions 

Woodard & Curran will analyze up to five (5) service area expansion scenarios. Development 

assumptions for the scenarios will be provided by the District and Cities.  As part of the analysis, 

Woodard & Curran will identify potentially capacity deficient pipes, and the approximate number 

of units that would trigger capacity deficiencies. Findings from this subtask will be summarized in 

a brief TM.  

Task 7 Deliverables: 

• Workshop agenda and minutes

• Brief TM summarizing results of analyses of potential service area expansions. Comments on

the draft TM will be incorporated in the final Master Plan report.

Task 8 – Updates and Additions to Asset Management Model 

Subtask 8.1 – Update IAP Model and Develop Rehabilitation and Replacement Solutions for 

FSSD 

Carollo will implement a stepwise process for updating the InfoAsset Planner (IAP) model 

developed by Carollo in 2022 for the District and Cities’ collection systems. These steps include: 

1. Receive and review current GIS data of the District’s collection system assets (pipelines

and manholes), force mains, and other available features and appurtenances such as

lateral connections, blow-offs and air release valves.

2. Receive and review current closed-circuit television (CCTV) inspection results consisting

of National Association of Sewer Service Companies (NASSCO) Pipeline Assessment

Certification Program (PACP) scores.

3. Update the IAP model with the new GIS asset inventory (for gravity sewers), PACP scores,

edits to the inventory identified in the hydraulic model, and replacement

recommendations from the hydraulic analysis.

4. Facilitate a 2-hour risk model updated interactive workshop with the District’s and Cities’

staff to present the current risk parameters (consequence and likelihood of failure

scoring approach), unit costs (developed by Woodard & Curran in Task 10), and

management strategies and gain consensus for updates to be incorporated into the IAP

model.
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5. Update the IAP model by incorporating the changes established during the risk model

update workshop.

6. Prepare for and facilitate a 2-hour climate change interactive workshop with the District’s

and Cities’ staff to present options for incorporating the impact of climate change into

the risk prioritization and capital planning development processes. Level of effort for

developing the proposed climate change impact analysis strategy is based on the

following approach:

a. In collaboration with District and Cities staff, identify future scenarios for evaluation

considering hazards such as sea level rise, flooding, weather-related erosion,

wildfire, power disruptions, and if appropriate, earthquakes.

b. Using GIS, develop maps correlating hazard vulnerability to the collection system

assets.

c. Pair hazard vulnerability with the risk analysis for the R&R recommendation results.

d. Identify non-R&R related projects recommended to mitigate the risk of hazard

vulnerability, if appropriate.

7. Update the IAP model with recommendations from the climate change workshop, if

applicable. Run the IAP model to develop R&R recommendations. Present District’s IAP

model results in graphical format to the District.

8. Facilitate an  IAP model results review meeting with District’s and Cities’ staff to present

and gather feedback on the IAP model results. Update unit costs, where applicable, from

updates to costs developed as part of Subtask 10.1.

9. Apply feedback from the IAP model results review meeting, climate change workshop,

and force main risk assessment results (Subtask 8.4) into a draft Collection System Asset

Management and R&R Update Technical Memorandum (CS AM and R&R Update TM).

The TM will describe the processes followed for preparing the updates developed under

Task 8.

10. After submitting the draft CS AM and R&R Update TM, Carollo will facilitate a 1-hour

TM review meeting with District’s and Cities’ staff and document comments and

responses in a tracking log. After addressing review comments, the final CS AM and R&R

Update TM will be submitted.

Subtask 8.2 – Update IAP Model and Develop R&R Solutions for City of Fairfield 

Carollo will update the IAP model and develop R&R solutions for the City of Fairfield following the 

approach described in Subtask 8.1 with the following modifications: 

1. Receive and review current GIS data of the City’s collection system assets (pipelines and

manholes), and other available features such as lateral connections.  Update GIS data

configuration for import into the IAP model schema.

2. Receive and review current CCTV inspection results consisting of NASSCO PACP scores. The

level of effort for this step is based on the expectation that only minor adjustments/review

of the PACP scores may be needed and that most of the results will be linkable to the GIS

data.

3. No forcemain analysis is expected for the City’s sewer system.
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Subtask 8.3 – Update IAP Model and Develop R&R Solutions for City of Suisun City 

Carollo will update the IAP model and develop R&R solutions for Suisun City following the 

approach described in Subtask 8.1 with the following modifications: 

1. Receive and review current GIS data of the City’s collection system assets (pipelines and

manholes), and other available features such as lateral connections.  Update GIS data

configuration for import into the IAP model schema.

2. Receive and review current CCTV inspection results consisting of NASSCO PACP scores. The

level of effort for this step is based on the expectation that only minor adjustments/review

of the PACP scores may be needed and that most of the results will be linkable to the GIS

data.

3. No forcemain analysis is expected for the City’s sewer system.

Subtask 8.4 – Evaluate Force Main Risks and Identify Solutions 

Carollo will review the GIS data available for the District’s force mains and develop a risk model 

building on the preliminary analysis developed by Carollo in the 2022 Collection System Asset 

Management Plan report. Carollo will present the proposed risk model and preliminary results in 

a  review meeting with District staff. Carollo will apply feedback from the review meeting to update 

the IAP model and resulting R&R recommendations, including recommendations for condition 

assessment along with unit costs developed as part of Subtask 10.1. The results and 

recommendations will be incorporated into the draft FSSD CS AM and R&R Update TM. 

Task 8 Assumptions: 

• risk model update workshop

• climate change workshop

• IAP model results meeting

• Force Main IAP model and preliminary results meeting

• draft CS AM and R&R Update TM review meeting

• CCTV inspection results will consist of NASSCO PACP scores, readily importable into the IAP

model.

• The GIS data from the District is assumed to be in the same schematic format as was used

for the previous IAP model.  However, the GIS data to be received from the Cities is expected

to require adjustments (similar to what was required previously) to adapt to the schematic

format of the IAP model.

• A single IAP model will be configured containing the asset inventory from all three agencies.

Task 8 Deliverables: 

• Presentation materials and summaries for workshops and meetings

• Draft and final CS AM and R&R Update TM and comment/response log
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Task 9 – Develop Capacity Solutions 

Subtask 9.1– Develop/Evaluate FSSD Capacity Improvement Alternatives  

Based on the preliminary solutions and results of the I/I analysis for the FSSD system, Woodard & 

Curran will evaluate potential project alternatives in further detail, including review of projects sites 

on aerial mapping or in the field. The purpose of these evaluations is to confirm the suitability of 

pipeline alignments, and identify any design, constructability, permitting, or environmental issues 

that could potentially be “fatal flaws” or that should be considered in project development.  

Woodard & Curran will incorporate the final proposed solutions in the model to confirm that all 

capacity issues have been addressed.   

Subtask 9.2 – Develop/Evaluate Fairfield Capacity Improvement Alternatives  

Based on the preliminary solutions and results of the I/I analysis for the Fairfield system, Woodard 

& Curran will evaluate potential project alternatives in further detail, including review of projects 

sites on aerial mapping or in the field. The purpose of these evaluations is to confirm the suitability 

of pipeline alignments, and identify any design, constructability, permitting, or environmental 

issues that could potentially be “fatal flaws” or that should be considered in project development.  

Woodard & Curran will incorporate the final proposed solutions in the model to confirm that all 

capacity issues have been addressed.   

Subtask 9.3 – Develop/Evaluate Suisun City Capacity Improvement Alternatives  

Based on the preliminary solutions and results of the I/I analysis for the Suisun City system, 

Woodard & Curran will evaluate potential project alternatives in further detail, including review of 

projects sites on aerial mapping or in the field. The purpose of these evaluations is to confirm the 

suitability of pipeline alignments, and identify any design, constructability, permitting, or 

environmental issues that could potentially be “fatal flaws” or that should be considered in project 

development.  Woodard & Curran will incorporate the final proposed solutions in the model to 

confirm that all capacity issues have been addressed.   

Subtask 9.4 – Evaluate Flow Transfers Between Basins 

Woodard & Curran will review opportunities to transfer flow between the Central, Suisun, and Inlet 

pump stations when necessary. The District already has pipelines connecting the Central, Suisun, 

and CBC Pump Stations (CBC flows to Inlet PS); as part of this evaluation, Woodard & Curran will 

work with the District to define the scenarios that the flow transfers should address, and use the 

model to identify any additional facilities that would be needed to address those scenarios.  Up to 

five (5) scenarios will be evaluated. 

Findings from this subtask will be documented in a brief TM. 

This task includes preparing opinions of probable cost for the recommended sewer system 

improvement projects and developing a prioritized, phased Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for 

each agency for implementation of the improvements. 
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Subtask 10.1 – Develop Cost Criteria and Prepare Cost Estimates 

Based on data collected for District’s and Cities’ historical sewer projects, as well as data from 

similar agencies compiled by Woodard & Curran, Woodard & Curran will develop appropriate unit 

cost factors for sewer construction and allowances for contingencies, design, environmental 

review, permitting, right of way acquisition, and construction management. Some capacity projects 

identified in Task 9 may require more specific cost assumptions (e.g. pump station upgrades and 

siphons). The cost estimating assumptions are assumed to be developed to a planning level (AACE 

Class 5).  These cost factors will be applied to the project recommendations identified in Tasks 8 

and 9. 

Subtask 10.2 – Develop Project Prioritization Criteria and Rankings 

In collaboration with the District and Cities, the Project Team will develop a prioritization approach 

for the condition-based R&R needs, climate change adaptation strategies, and capacity related 

recommended projects. The prioritization approach is to consider project drivers, risk mitigation, 

and the District’s and Cities’ strategic objectives. The Project Team will present the prioritization 

approach and project cost summaries in a collaborative  in-person workshop with the District and 

Cities and facilitate their selection of the preferred prioritization approach to be used for 

prioritizing the recommended capital project needs. 

The Project Team will apply the prioritization approach to rank the projects recommended for the 

District and each City. The prioritized projects will be provided in graphical (i.e. GIS-based map) 

format and in tabular format along with associated project costs for the District’s projects and the 

projects for each City for review and feedback. 

The Project Team will facilitate a project prioritization results review meeting with the District and 

Cities and update the prioritization approach based on meeting feedback. The updated project 

prioritization results will be incorporated into the Capital Improvement Plans to be developed in 

the following subtasks. 
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Subtask 10.3 – Develop FSSD Capital Improvement Plan 

The Project Team will group the District’s projects, prioritized in Subtask 10.2, into logical project 

packages for construction based on factors such as proximity, project type and likely construction 

methods, timing, and hazard vulnerability.  Project packages will also consider project budget 

targets as provided by the District. Project-specific construction and capital cost estimates will be 

developed as part of Subtask 10.1.  

Based on the projects developed under Task 8 and Task 9, and the cost estimates and project 

rankings developed under Subtasks 10.1 and 10.2, the Project Team will compile the proposed 

District projects into project packages appropriate for pre-design.  The projects will be compiled 

in a separate stand-alone CIP document for the District, which will also include brief descriptions 

of the process used for prioritization and project packaging.  This information will be incorporated 

into the Task 13 Master Plan report, with the District’s CIP document included as an appendix. 

Subtask 10.4 – Develop City of Fairfield Capital Improvement Plan 

The Project Team will group the City’s projects, prioritized in Subtask 10.2, into logical project 

packages for construction based on factors such as proximity, project type and likely construction 

methods, timing, and hazard vulnerability. Project packages will also consider project budget 

targets as provided by the City. Project-specific construction and capital cost estimates will be 

developed as part of Subtask 10.1.  

Based on the projects developed under Task 8 and Task 9, and the cost estimates and project 

rankings developed under Subtasks 10.1 and 10.2, the Project Team will compile the proposed City 

projects into project packages appropriate for pre-design. The projects will be compiled in a 

separate stand-alone CIP document for the City of Fairfield, which will also include brief 

descriptions of the process used for prioritization and project packaging.  This information will be 

incorporated into the Task 13 Master Plan report, with the City’s CIP document included as an 

appendix.  

Subtask 10.5 – Develop Suisun City Capital Improvement Plan 

The Project Team will group the City’s projects, prioritized in Subtask 10.2, into logical project 

packages for construction based on factors such as proximity, project type and likely construction 

methods, timing, and hazard vulnerability. Project packages will also consider project budget 

targets as provided by the City. Project-specific construction and capital cost estimates will be 

developed as part of Subtask 10.1.  

Based on the projects developed under Task 8 and Task 9, and the cost estimates and project 

rankings developed under Subtasks 10.1 and 10.2, the Project Team will compile the proposed City 

projects into project packages appropriate for pre-design.  The projects will be compiled in a 

separate stand-alone CIP document for the City of Suisun City, which will also include brief 

descriptions of the process used for prioritization and project packaging.  This information will be 

incorporated into the Task 13 Master Plan report, with the City’s CIP document included as an 

appendix.  
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Task 10 Assumptions: 

• Project prioritization (in-person) workshop

Task 10 Deliverables: 

• Presentation materials and summaries for workshops and meetings

• Project cost estimates.

• FSSD CIP document, including prioritized and grouped FSSD CIP projects.

• City of Fairfield CIP document, including prioritized and grouped Fairfield CIP projects.

• City of Suisun City CIP document, including prioritized and grouped Suisun City CIP

projects.

Task 11 – Update Funding Model 

In this task, the District’s long-term (100-year) funding model initially developed as part of the 

2022 Collection System Asset Management Plan project will be updated to incorporate the 

updated IAP model results (Task 8) and the prioritized capital improvement projects (Task 10). The 

model update process involves steps (distributed across subtasks 11.1, 11.2 and 11.3) as described 

in the 2022 Collection System Asset Management Plan.  

Subtask 11.1 – Update Funding Model 

1) Carollo will import the results of the IAP model replacement timing and R&R and

operations and maintenance (O&M) projects into the funding model to update the 100-

year plan. Unit costs and resulting project cost totals developed in Task 10 will also be

imported.

2) Calculate the calendar year assignments for R&R projects using the hybrid approach

(timing is mid-way between the age-based and condition-based R&R year assignments).

Then, aggregate the resulting costs per year.

3) Generate costs tables for each of three scenarios: age-based, condition-based, and hybrid.

4) Calculate the updated rolling-average and cost-redistribution results.

5) Import the updated calculation results into PowerBI.

Subtask 11.2 – Review and Update Model Scenarios 

After updating the funding model, Carollo will facilitate a virtual review meeting with District’s and 

Cities’ staff for review and feedback. After addressing review comments and feedback, the funding 

model will be updated for transfer to the District and Cities. The level of effort for this task assumes 

review comments and feedback do not involve substantial revisions to underlying model 

calculations. If significant configuration changes are desired by the District and/or Cities that are 

expected to involve additional effort, upon request, Carollo will prepare a scope and cost for 

negotiation and approval prior to proceeding. 
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Subtask 11.3 – Funding Model Dashboards 

The funding model dashboards will be updated based on review comments and feedback from 

the District and Cities and the files prepared for transfer to the District and Cities. The level of effort 

for this task assumes review comments and feedback do not involve substantial revisions to the 

PowerBI layout and visualization. If significant configuration changes are desired by the District 

and/or Cities that are expected to involve additional effort, upon request, Carollo will prepare a 

scope and cost for negotiation and approval prior to proceeding. 

Task 11 Assumptions: 

• The previous MS Excel and PowerBI dashboard files will be updated with new replacement

timing and unit costs developed in the previous tasks.

• funding model review meeting

Task 11 Deliverables 

• Funding Model PowerBI file

• Prioritized and grouped Funding Model MS Excel file

Task 12 – Additional Studies 

Subtask 12.1 – Design Standards Review 

Under this task, the project team will review District and Cities’ design standards, focusing on the 

criteria used to design new sewers or replace existing sewers, including for sewering of new 

development areas. The goal of this task is to provide consistency with both the capacity criteria 

defined in Task 6, as well as between the Cities and District. 

The findings of this review will be discussed at the workshop in Task 6, and the recommendations 

will be incorporated into the TM prepared under Task 6. Note that this task is intended to focus 

on sizing standards (including flow factors for new development); more technical review of 

standard drawings and specifications is not included. 

Subtask 12.2 – I/I Reduction Program 

Based on the findings of Subtask 7.2, Woodard & Curran will work with the District and Cities to 

prepare an I/I reduction program. As part of this task, Woodard & Curran will identify areas where 

I/I reduction could be most cost-effective (because I/I triggers a capacity project and/or because 

the sewershed has relatively high rates of I/I). The I/I reduction program would include 

recommended I/I investigations, potential type and amount of sewer rehabilitation, and estimated 

planning level costs.  The recommended I/I reduction program will be described and incorporated 

into the Master Plan report under Task 13. 

Subtask 12.3 – Infill Development Policies 

Under this task, Woodard & Curran will work with the District and Cities to identify policy 

recommendations associated with infill. This task includes: 
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• Review of capacity triggers downstream of potential infill development sites. For sewers

with predicted deficiencies, the number of additional units before a project is needed will

be identified. Project triggers for up to 6 locations are assumed.

• Identify policy recommendations for developer options to address projected deficiencies.

Recommendations are expected to include:

o Self-construct potential improvements

o Implement I/I reduction activities upstream of projected deficiency.

o Contribute to a planned I/I reduction project

Proposed policies will be discussed in a brief TM 

Task 12 Deliverables 

• Brief TM on Infill development policies

Task 13 – Prepare Master Plan 

Subtask 13.1 – Draft Master Plan 

Woodard & Curran will incorporate the methodology, findings, and recommendations of the study 

into a comprehensive Master Plan Update report.  The report appendices will contain the final TMs 

from previous tasks, which will include supporting data including flow monitoring data plots, 

model calibration graphs, model data and results tables, detailed project cost estimates and maps, 

and other pertinent information.  The report will include an Executive Summary section that can 

be extracted as a stand-alone document and provided to District officials or other interested 

parties.  A workshop will be held to discuss and review the draft report and receive District 

comments. 

Subtask 13.2 – Final Master Plan 

Woodard & Curran will prepare a final Wastewater Collection System Master Plan Update report, 

incorporating the District’s comments on the Draft report. The final plan will serve as a basis for 

future master plan updates. 

Subtask 13.3 – Sewer Planning WebTool 

Woodard & Curran will developenhancements and/or replacement of the “Model Viewer” 

application originally developed for the District’s 2020 Collection System Master Plan.  The 

enhanced WebTool will include sewer condition, R&R, and CIP project data, as well as 

modeling/capacity information, as well as capabilities to track developments and CIP projects.  The 

intent is for the WebTool to be accessible to the Cities as well as the District. 

The following paragraphs describe the steps that Woodard & Curran will follow to develop the 

enhanced Model Viewer. 

A. Collect User Requirements and System Configuration

Woodard & Curran will work with FSSD to determine user requirements and database needs for 

storing, viewing, and validating data collected for the WebTool. Woodard & Curran will review 
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existing documentation and materials developed for the Model Viewer and will work with FSSD to 

identify requirements on general functionality such as user permissions, data visualization, and 

data collection and validation processes. Woodard & Curran will also present several system 

configuration options and work with FSSD to identify which approach best fits identified user 

requirements and database needs as well as IT requirements. 

Woodard & Curran will hold up to two meetings with FSSD to collect requirements for user 

interface and navigation, data and information collection, data validation, and data collection and 

validation processes. Woodard & Curran will then prioritize features in the system based on 

available budget. 

B. Configure System to Meet WebTool Needs

Woodard & Curran will develop the WebTool in the system identified through the two virtual 

meetings. Implementation of the system will include configuration and customization of existing 

features and functionality. The proposed system will be configured and customized according to 

the results of the two meetings discussed above.  

Woodard & Curran will install, configure, customize, and test the system in FSSD’s environment. 

The following features will be installed and customized as described below: 

• Geospatial Layers – Woodard & Curran will install additional geospatial layers into the

WebTool which includes reference data, hydraulic model outputs, AM model outputs, and

Capital Improvement Plan data. For each layer, specific variables will be made available on

the WebTool with specific editable fields for data tracking. Visualization of specific layers

will be set to adjust based on editable field updates.

• Data Entry Forms – Woodard & Curran will configure simple, user-friendly data entry

forms for editable fields used for data tracking. These forms will be associated with

tracking parcel development potential, unit development per parcel, project status,

method, cost, actual vs estimate costs, dates, and review notes.

• System Modules – Woodard & Curran will modify WebTool features and user interface to

best support external users and viewing and editing data along with any other

requirements identified.

• External User Sign-In – Woodard & Curran will work with FSSD IT to develop access to

selected external users to be able to view and edit the WebTool.

C. Test, Finalize, and Provide User Workshop

Woodard & Curran will demonstrate the WebTool to users identified by FSSD. Woodard & Curran 

will lead user testing of the WebTool on FSSD’s server with selected users to test the functionality 

and obtain user sign-off. Woodard & Curran will make revisions to the WebTool as necessary 

during user testing.  

Upon receiving user sign-off, Woodard & Curran will finalize the WebTool on FSSD’s server and 

perform final testing. At the end of deployment, Woodard & Curran will hold one 1-hour training 

workshop for the end users. Training will include instructions on how to edit data and demonstrate 

how to see data layers and updated features. 
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Subtask 13.3 Assumptions 

• FSSD IT staff will provide secured remote access to FSSD IT server during development and

testing.

• FSSD IT staff will provide all hardware associated with this task and will install and

configure any necessary software, databases, and SSL certificates needed to operate in

FSSD’s environment.

• FSSD IT staff will develop appropriate authentication and access for external users to gain

access to the WebTool

• Not all task needs are identified at this time. Level of effort limited to budgeted hours.

• FSSD will be responsible for maintaining internal APIs and databases, if applicable.

• FSSD IT staff will be responsible for setting up databases for the WebTool.

• FSSD IT staff will be responsible for developing secure connection to WebTool and backend

geospatial layers and database(s) for external users.

Task 13 Deliverables 

• Workshop presentation materials and summary

• Draft Master Plan Update report

• Final Master Plan Update report (MS Word and pdf files)

• Final hydraulic model files

• WebTool files

Task 14 – Optional Tasks 

Subtask 14.1 – Additional flow meters (10 meters) 

Under this task, up to ten (10) additional flow meters would be installed. It is assumed that the 

meters would be installed at the same time as the other meters. This task includes effort associated 

with calibration of the additional meters.  

Subtask 14.2 – Survey 

Where data is not readily available with regard to invert elevations of pipes or other structures at 

manhole locations, up to 25 manholes can be surveyed by Woodard & Curran’s surveying 

subcontractor, LCC Engineering. 



Agreement Between FSSD and Cities Regarding Collection System Master Planning Services

Exhibit B: Itemized Task and Cost Breakdown Between Agencies

Task
Total Task 
Budget ($)

FSSD  Fairfield Suisun City FSSD  Fairfield Suisun City

Task 1:  Project Management $69,831 65% 20% 15% $45,390 $13,966 $10,475

Task 2:  Data Collection and Review $15,365 65% 20% 15% $9,987 $3,073 $2,305

Task 3:  Flow Monitoring $198,735 50% 25% 25% $99,368 $49,684 $49,684

Task 4: Hydraulic Model Update $40,790 12% 58% 29% $5,000 $23,770 $12,020
4.1  Update FSSD Model Network $5,000 100% 0% 0% $5,000 $0 $0
4.2  Develop City of Fairfield Network $23,770 0% 100% 0% $0 $23,770 $0
4.3  Develop City of Suisun City Network $12,020 0% 0% 100% $0 $0 $12,020

Task 5: Update Flows and Growth Projections $113,270 100% 0% 0% $113,270 $0 $0
5.1 Develop Existing Base Wastewater Flows $23,990 100% 0% 0% $23,990 $0 $0
5.2 Model Calibration $34,490 100% 0% 0% $34,490 $0 $0
5.3 Develop Future Planning Scenarios $28,130 100% 0% 0% $28,130 $0 $0
5.4 Draft Technical Memorandum $26,660 100% 0% 0% $26,660 $0 $0

Task 6: Develop Performance Criteria $23,925 48% 26% 26% $11,415 $6,255 $6,255
6.1  Review FSSD Capacity Deficiency Criteria $6,255 100% 0% 0% $6,255 $0 $0
6.2 Develop Fairfield Capacity Deficiency Criteria $6,255 0% 100% 0% $0 $6,255 $0
6.3  Develop Suisun City Capacity Deficiency Criteria $6,255 0% 0% 100% $0 $0 $6,255
6.4  Climate Change Sensitivity Analysis $5,160 100% 0% 0% $5,160 $0 $0

Task 7: Capacity Analysis $54,780 65% 20% 15% $35,607 $10,956 $8,217
7.1  Evaluate Existing System Performance $20,420 65% 20% 15% $13,273 $4,084 $3,063
7.2 Perform RDI/I Analysis $18,030 65% 20% 15% $11,720 $3,606 $2,705
7.3  Analysis of Potential Service Area Expansions $16,330 65% 20% 15% $10,615 $3,266 $2,450

Task 8: Updates and Additions to Asset Management Model $124,443 100% 0% 0% $124,443 $0 $0
8.1  FSSD AM Model Updates $89,550 100% 0% 0% $89,550 $0 $0
8.2  Fairfield AM Model Updates $18,567 100% 0% 0% $18,567 $0 $0
8.3  Suisun City AM Model Updates $5,463 100% 0% 0% $5,463 $0 $0
8.4 Force main risk model and R&R results $10,863 100% 0% 0% $10,863 $0 $0

Task 9: Develop Capacity Solutions $47,330 38% 43% 19% $17,995 $20,185 $9,150
9.1 Develop/Evaluate FSSD Capacity Improvement Alternatives $10,255 100% 0% 0% $10,255 $0 $0
9.2 Develop/Evaluate Fairfield Capacity Improvement Alternatives $20,185 0% 100% 0% $0 $20,185 $0
9.3 Develop/Evaluate Suisun Capacity Improvement Alternatives $9,150 0% 0% 100% $0 $0 $9,150
9.4 Evaluate Flow Transfers Between Basins $7,740 100% 0% 0% $7,740 $0 $0

Task 10: Develop Capital Improvement Plan $122,607 53% 30% 17% $64,402 $37,040 $21,165
10.1  Develop Cost Criteria and Prepare Cost Estimates $11,650 100% 0% 0% $11,650 $0 $0
10.2  Develop Project Prioritization Criteria and Rankings $30,347 100% 0% 0% $30,347 $0 $0
10.3  Develop FSSD Capital Improvement Plan $22,405 100% 0% 0% $22,405 $0 $0
10.4  Develop Fairfield Capital Improvement Plan $37,040 0% 100% 0% $0 $37,040 $0
10.5  Develop Suisun City Capital Improvement Plan $21,165 0% 0% 100% $0 $0 $21,165

Task 11: Update Funding Model $23,428 100% 0% 0% $23,428 $0 $0
11.1  Update Funding Model $11,886 100% 0% 0% $11,886 $0 $0
11.2  Review and Update Model Scenarios $5,961 100% 0% 0% $5,961 $0 $0
11.3  Funding Model Dashboards $5,581 100% 0% 0% $5,581 $0 $0

Task 12:  Additional Studies $45,770 58% 21% 21% $26,517 $9,627 $9,627
12.1 Design Standards Review $9,970 33% 33% 33% $3,323 $3,323 $3,323
12.2 I/I Reduction Program $16,890 100% 0% 0% $16,890 $0 $0
12.3 Infill Development Policies $18,910 33% 33% 33% $6,303 $6,303 $6,303

Task 13:  Prepare Master Plan $152,101 65% 20% 15% $98,866 $30,420 $22,815
13.1 Draft Master Plan $52,774 65% 20% 15% $34,303 $10,555 $7,916
13.2 Final Master Plan $18,147 65% 20% 15% $11,796 $3,629 $2,722
13.3 Sewer Planning WebTool $81,180 65% 20% 15% $52,767 $16,236 $12,177

Total $1,032,375 -- -- -- $675,687 $204,976 $151,712

Percentage of Task Atributable to Agency Estimated Agency Task Budget
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

January 12, 2026 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO:   Executive Committee 

FROM: Jordan Damerel, General Manager 

SUBJECT:  Authorize General Manager to Execute Reimbursement Agreement with 
California Forever LLC to Review the Suisun Expansion Project 

Recommendation: Review the draft reimbursement agreement with California Forever 
LLC and authorize the General Manager to execute the agreement. 

Background: At the Board of Directors meeting on October 27, 2025, the Board 
adopted Resolution No. 2025-32, authorizing the General Manager to award 
professional services contracts to support review of the Suisun Expansion Project  
(“Project”) entitlement applications, submitted by California Forever LLC (“Applicant”) to 
the City of Suisun City (“City”).  The District executed two contracts and has submitted 
two comment letters to the City and Applicant: one on the entitlement application itself, 
and one on the City’s Notice of Preparation of an Environmental Impact Report for the 
Project.  

Over the next approximately six months, the District expects to receive additional 
technical responses to questions raised in its comment letters, and expects to receive a 
draft Environmental Impact Report which the District will need to review and comment 
on as a responsible agency. The review and analysis of these submissions will cost 
staff time and technical consultant expense, and the Board provided direction to seek 
reimbursement for the District’s costs to review these materials. 

Discussion: District staff have met with the Applicant and are finalizing negotiations on 
a Draft Reimbursement Agreement. Due to the January 2026 Executive Committee 
Meeting being scheduled early in the month to avoid a Federal holiday, the draft is not 
yet available for review. Staff expect to bring a draft to the full Board of Directors 
meeting on January 26, 2026. While final details are being worked out, key principles of 
the agreement include: 

• Parties will seek to agree on the basic scope of tasks before the District
encumbers costs.

• District will be reimbursed for personnel time; consultants, technical experts, and
legal counsel time; special studies or analyses required to understand the impacts
of the Project; and administrative costs.

Item No. 6.8 
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• District will seek to be reimbursed for costs expended to date, including the past 

review costs previously authorized by Resolution No. 2025-32. 
• District retains full discretion over personnel and consultants that are used to 

review Project materials. 
 
Fiscal Impact: The reimbursement agreement is intended to fully cover the cost of 
District review of the Project application materials and subsequent submissions. 
 
 
Attachments: 1 – Resolution 2026-XX, Authorizing General Manager to Execute 

Reimbursement Agreement with California Forever LLC  
 2 – Draft Reimbursement Agreement (TO BE INCLUDED IN BOARD 

AGENDA) 
 



FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
RESOLUTION NO. 2026-XX 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO EXECUTE A 
REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT WITH CALIFORNIA FOREVER LLC FOR THE REVIEW 

OF THE SUISUN EXPANSION PROJECT 

WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City is exploring annexation and has received an 
entitlement application package from California Forever, LLC, for the Suisun Expansion 
Project; and, 

WHEREAS, the Enabling Act of the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District requires all 
territory annexed into Fairfield or Suisun City to also become part of the District; and,  

WHEREAS, the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District is a Responsible Agency under the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) as it relates to the Suisun Expansion Project; 
and,  

WHEREAS, California Forever LLC has agreed to reimburse the District’s costs to 
review its entitlement application, technical reports, environmental documents, and other 
technical information that has been or may be submitted.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT THAT: 

1. The District hereby authorizes the General Manager to execute a reimbursement
agreement with California Forever LLC.

2. The General Manager is authorized and directed to take all steps necessary and
proper to implement this resolution.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 26th day of January 2026, by the following vote: 

AYES:  Directors __________________________________________ 

NOES: Directors __________________________________________ 

ABSTAIN: Directors __________________________________________ 

ABSENT: Directors __________________________________________ 

__________________________________________ 
President 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
    District Clerk 

Attachment 1
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

January 12, 2026 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO:   Executive Committee 

FROM:  Kimberly Kraft, HR Manager 

SUBJECT:  Presentation on FSSD Internship Program 

Recommendation: Receive the District’s report on the FSSD Internship Program, 
including progress, outcomes, and alignment with strategic objectives. 

Background: The District adopted a formal Internship Policy in 2022 and revised it in 
2023. Since then, the program has achieved notable successes, which will be 
presented to the Board. 

Discussion: Since launching the formal internship program in 2022, the District has 
hired 10 interns across Operations, Outreach, Engineering, and Administrative 
Services. Three interns have transitioned into full-time roles. Several interns have 
earned awards and scholarships and contributed to high-impact projects.  

Intern feedback is collected regularly to identify improvement opportunities, which will 
be reviewed during the presentation. 

The program supports three objectives in the 2026–2028 FSSD Strategic Plan: (1) 
Create externship opportunities for college and high school students; (2) Develop 
internship programs and partnerships for career paths in wastewater maintenance; and 
(3) Enhance and expand the Operator-in-Training program to support licensed operator
development. These initiatives aim to strengthen workforce pipelines in the wastewater
industry.

Fiscal Impact: There is no immediate fiscal impact associated with the goals of the 
program. However, implementation of these initiatives may require future budget 
allocations, which will be presented to the Board as part of the annual budget process. 

Item No. 6.9 
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 

Board of Directors 
Jenalee Dawson, 
President 
Catherine Moy, 
Vice President 
Doug Carr 
Alma Hernandez 
Amit Pal 
Doriss Panduro 
Parise Shepherd 
Scott Tonnesen 
Princess Washington 
K. Patrice Williams
Pam Bertani,
First Alternate
Manveer Sandhu,
Second Alternate

Board of Directors Meeting Agenda 
Monday, January 26, 2026 
6:00 PM 

Location:  FSSD Board Room, 1010 Chadbourne Road, Fairfield, CA 

1. CALL TO ORDER
2. ROLL CALL
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Members of the public wishing to comment on any item not on the
agenda, but within the Board’s jurisdiction, should notify the Board at this 
time. Those wishing to comment on any item on the agenda should do so 
at the time the item is considered. Comments may be limited to three (3) 
minutes, or at the discretion of the President. 

5. DIRECTOR REPORTS
6. GENERAL MANAGER REPORT
7. PRESENTATIONS AND AWARDS

7.1 Receive Report on District’s 75th Anniversary and Plans for an Open 
House on May 2, 2026 

8. CONSENT CALENDAR
8.1 Adopt Resolution No. 2026-XX, Re-Adopting Policy 2150, 

Financial Reserves .................................................................................. 2 
8.2 Adopt Resolution No. 2026-XX, Designating “Responsible Person” for 

Form 1095-C Filing ................................................................................. # 
8.3 Approve Improvement Agreement with City of Fairfield and Solano 

County for Sewer Improvements at the Solano County Hall of Justice 
Campus Asset Protection Project, and Authorize the General Manager 
to Execute the Agreement ....................................................................... # 

8.4 Approve Right of Entry Agreement with City of Fairfield for the Lopes 
Road Lift Station ...................................................................................... # 

8.5 Approve Agreement between District, City of Fairfield, and City of 
Suisun City Regarding Sewer Collection System Master Planning 
Services, and Authorize the General Manager to Execute the  
Agreement .............................................................................................. # 

Item No. 7.1 
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The Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District will provide reasonable disability-related modification or 
accommodation to a person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order 
to participate in the meeting of the Board of Directors. Please contact the District at (707) 429-8930 
at least 48 hours before the meeting if you require such modification or accommodation. 

Documents that are disclosable public records required to be made available under California 
Government Code Section 54957.5 (b)(1) and (2) are available to the public for inspection at no 
charge during business hours at our administrative offices located at the above address.  

9. NEW BUSINESS
9.1 Receive the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and Popular

Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 ......... # 
9.2 Receive Report on District’s Internship Program..................................... # 
9.3 Approve Reimbursement Agreement for the Suisun Expansion Project 

with California Forever LLC, and Authorize the General Manager to 
Execute the Agreement .......................................................................... # 

10. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS
10.1 Board Calendar ....................................................................................... # 

11. ADJOURN
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FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT 
January 12, 2026 

AGENDA REPORT 

TO: Executive Committee  

FROM: Ben Carver, Operations Manager 

SUBJECT: Operating Data Summary – December 2025 

December 2025 Data 

Average plant flow 15 
million gallons per day 

Equivalent to 23 Olympic 
sized pools! 

Solids removed from the 
water 

307 
dry tons 

26% turned into biogas 
74% turned into 
Lystek fertilizer  

Completed Work Orders 
1,200 

completed work orders 
this month 

Renewable energy 
produced 

29,840 
kilowatt-hours 

Renewable energy 
provided 4% of the 
plant’s power needs. 

This is equivalent to 42 
single-family homes 

Sewer lines inspected by 
CCTV 

3,641 feet City of Suisun City lines 

1,390 feet FSSD Lines 
Permit excursions & 
Sewer System Overflows 
(Cat 1-3) 

0 

Year to Date 2026 
Influent Flow Average 
15 MGD 

Permit Excursions 
 0 

93%
7%

Item No. 8.1 



$0

$250,000

$500,000

$750,000

$1,000,000

Ju
l

Au
g

Se
pt

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar Ap

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

Au
g

Se
pt

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar Ap

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

Au
g

Se
pt

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar Ap

r

M
ay Ju
n

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District
Sewer Capacity Charge Revenue

FY 2023-24 - FY 2025-26

 Fairfield  Suisun  Budget  Average
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Item No. 8.3 

Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
Date: Monday, November 24, 2025 
Meeting Place:  1010 Chadbourne Road, Fairfield, California 
Meeting Time:  6:00 pm 

1. The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by President Jenalee Dawson, who
presided over the meeting.

Roll Call – The following Board members were present: Directors Carr, Dawson,
Hernandez, Pal, Shepherd, Tonnesen, Washington and Williams. Directors Moy and
Panduro were absent. No Board Alternates were present.

2. Pledge of Allegiance was led by Director Doug Carr.

3. Public Comments: No comments.

4. Director Comments: Director Alma Hernandez thanked Meg Herston and staff on
presentation to the City County Coordinating Council regarding Solano Bayshore
Resiliency Project. It was well received by the Board of Supervisors and Mayors.

5. General Manager Report – General Manager Jordan Damerel reported that the
District submitted a Letter of Interest to the EPA Water Infrastructure Finance and
Innovation Act (WIFIA) Loan Program for the Suisun Force Main Project. California
Forever met with staff and Planning Department regarding Suisun Expansion Project,
wastewater infrastructure, and a potential reimbursement agreement. Comment letter
on Suisun Expansion Project application has been sent to Suisun City. CASA
Conferences are coming up in January 2026 (Winter Conference) and February 2026
(DC Policy Forum).

6. Consent Calendar:
(a) Adopt Resolution no. 2025-34, Establishing the 2026 Board of Directors Meeting

Schedule
(b) Approve Board Minutes of October 27, 2025

No comments.

Upon motion by Director Tonnessen, seconded by Director Hernandez, the Consent 
Calendar was passed by the following vote: 

AYES: Carr, Dawson, Hernandez, Pal, Shepherd, Tonnesen, Washington, 
Williams  

NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Moy, Panduro 

http://www.fairfieldsuisunsewer.ca.gov/


Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
Monday, November 24, 2025 
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7. Action Item:
(a) Discuss and Receive the Results of the 2025 Cost of Service and Rate Study,

Adopt Resolution No. 2025-35, Approving and Authorizing Mailing of Proposition
218 Notices, and Adopt Resolution No. 2025-36 Adopting Procedures to
Implement AB 2257

After introduction by General Manager Damerel, Mark Hildebrand of Hildebrand 
Consulting went over the results of the 2025 Cost of Service and Rate Study and 
Board recommendation, going over the general utility rate setting, financial plan, 
proposed rates and survey, AB 2257, capacity charges and project schedule.  

After discussion with the Board of Directors and upon motion by Director Tonnessen, 
seconded by Director Carr, item 7a was passed by the following vote: 

AYES: Carr, Dawson, Hernandez, Pal, Shepherd, Tonnesen, Williams 
NOES: Washington 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Moy, Panduro 

(b) Adopt Resolution No. 2025-37, Adopting the 2026-2028 Strategic Plan

General Manager Damerel and Human Resources Manager Kim Kraft presented the 
2026-2028 Strategic Plan to the Board discussing key components of the plan that 
include updated mission and vision statements, refreshed core values, benchmarks 
and goals to implement the Strategic Plan phased over two years, with annual 
updates provided to the Board. 

Upon motion by Director Pal, seconded by Director Hernandez, Action Item No. 7b 
was passed by the following vote: 

AYES: Carr, Dawson, Hernandez, Pal, Shepherd, Tonnesen, Washington, 
Williams  

NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Moy, Panduro 

8. Information Item:
(a) Board Calendar

No comments. 



Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
Monday, November 24, 2025 
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The meeting adjourned at 7:27 pm. 

Respectfully submitted, 

President 

ATTEST: 

  District Clerk 



Board of
Directors

1. Directors Report on CASA Winter Conference and DC Policy Forum Meeting
2.

3. Award Construction Services Contract for the Lopes Rd. Lift Station Improvements
 4. Award Construction Services Contract for the Electrical Replacement Phase 2
 1. Quarterly Investment Report

2. Report on Vacancies per AB 2561
3. Award Professional Services Contract for the Drainage Maintenance Master Plan
4. Award Professional Services (Constructability Review) Contract for the Suisun Force

Main Reliability Project 9011
5. General Manager Annual Performance Evaluation
1. Adopt Resolution Approving Budget
2. Adopt Resolution Approving Employee Salary Schedule
3. Review Updates and Approve Investment Policy
4. Review Board Compensation
1.
2.
1. Quarterly Investment Report

1. General Manager Performance Check-In (Executive Committee)
2. Award Construction Contract for the Suisun Force Main Reliability Project 9011
1. Quarterly Investment Report
2.
1. Adopt Board Calendar for 2026
2.

1. Quarterly Investment Report
2. Report on Financial Audit for FY 2025-2026

August
2026

Not 
Scheduled

Not 
Scheduled

November
2026 11/16/2026 11/23/2026

September 
2026 9/21/2026 9/28/2026

October 
2026 10/19/2026 10/26/2026

June 
2026 6/15/2026 6/22/2026

July
2026 7/17/2026 7/24/2026

April
2026 4/20/2026 4/27/2026

May
2026 5/11/2026 5/18/2026

December
2026

Not 
Scheduled

Not 
Scheduled

January
2027 1/11/2027 1/25/2027

February
2026

Not 
Scheduled

Not 
Scheduled

Advanced Authorization for General Manager to Award a Construction Services 
Contract for the Electrical Replacement Phase 2 Project 9006

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District
Contemplated Board of Directors Agenda Items

January 26, 2026

Month
Year

Contemplated Board of Directors Meeting Agenda Items Executive 
Committee

March
2026 3/16/2026 3/23/2026
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